
 

 
 

Joint Archives Board 
 
Date: Wednesday, 8 November 2023 
Time: 11.30 am 
Venue: Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, DT1 1RP 
 

Members (Quorum: 2)  
Cllrs Laura Beddow, Richard Biggs, Simon Christopher, Lesley Dedman and 
Marion Le Poidevin 
 
Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ  
 
For more information about this agenda please contact Democratic Services  
Meeting Contact  01305 224710 - joshua.kennedy@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, apart from any items listed in 
the exempt part of this agenda. 
 
For easy access to all the council’s committee agendas and minutes download the free 
public app called Modern.Gov for use on any iPad, Android, and Windows tablet.  Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council. 
 
 
 

Agenda 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   APOLOGIES 

 
 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To disclose any pecuniary, other registrable or non-registrable interest 
as set out in the adopted Code of Conduct. In making their disclosure 
councillors are asked to state the agenda item, the nature of the 
interest and any action they propose to take as part of their declaration. 
  
If required, further advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer 
in advance of the meeting. 
 

 

3.   MINUTES 
 

5 - 6 

 To confirm the minutes of the last meeting held on 16 January 2023.   

Public Document Pack



 

 
4.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

 
 

 Representatives of town or parish councils and members of the public 
who live, work, or represent an organisation within the Dorset Council 
area are welcome to submit either 1 question or 1 statement for each 
meeting.  You are welcome to attend the meeting in person or via MS 
Teams to read out your question and to receive the response.   If you 
submit a statement for the committee this will be circulated to all 
members of the committee in advance of the meeting as a supplement 
to the agenda and appended to the minutes for the formal record but 
will not be read out at the meeting. The first 8 questions and the first 
8 statements received from members of the public or 
organisations for each meeting will be accepted on a first come 
first served basis in accordance with the deadline set out below. 
 Further information read Public Participation - Dorset Council   

  
All submissions must be emailed in full 
to Joshua.kennedy@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by 8.30am on Friday 3 
November 2023.  

  
When submitting your question or statement please note that:   
 

• You can submit 1 question or 1 statement.  

• A question may include a short pre-amble to set the context.   

• It must be a single question and any sub-divided questions will 
not be permitted.  

• Each question will consist of no more than 450 words, and you 
will be given up to 3 minutes to present your question.   

• when submitting a question please indicate who the question is 
for (e.g., the name of the committee or Portfolio Holder)   

• Include your name, address, and contact details.  Only your 
name will be published but we may need your other details to 
contact you about your question or statement in advance of the 
meeting.   

• Questions and statements received in line with the council’s 
rules for public participation will be published as a supplement to 
the agenda.   

• All questions, statements and responses will be published in full 
within the minutes of the meeting.     

 

 

5.   QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS 
 

 

 To receive questions submitted by councillors. 
 
Councillors can submit up to two valid questions at each meeting and 
sub divided questions count towards this total.   Questions and 
statements received will be published as a supplement to the agenda 
and all questions, statements and responses will be published in full 
within the minutes of the meeting. 
 
The submissions must be emailed in full to 

 

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/mgGeneric.aspx?MD=mgPublicParticipation
mailto:Lindsey.watson@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


 

Joshua.kennedy@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk by 8.30am on Friday, 3 
November 2023. 
 
Constitution - Dorset Council – Procedure Rule 13 
 

6.   URGENT ITEMS 
 

 

 To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972. The reason for the urgency shall be 
recorded in the minutes. 
 

 

7.   JOINT ARCHIVES SERVICE: BUDGET MONITORING AND 
BUDGET 2024/25 REPORT 
 

7 - 12 

 To consider a report from the Service Manager for Archives and 
Records and the Service Manager (Finance). 
 

 

8.   CAPITAL PROJECT UPDATE 
 

13 - 22 

 To consider a report by the Service Manager for Archives and 
Records. 
 

 

9.   JOINT ARCHIVES SERVICE DEVELOPMENT PLAN (2021-26) 
MONITORING REPORT 
 

23 - 52 

 To consider a report from the Service Manager for Archives and 
Records. 
 

 

10.   JOINT ARCHIVES SERVICE: REVIEW OF FEES AND CHARGES 
 

53 - 60 

 To consider a report by the Service Manager for Archives and 
Records. 
 

 

11.   JOINT ARCHIVES SERVICE: REVIEW OF POLICIES 
 

61 - 126 

 To consider a report from the Service Manager for Archives and 
Records.  
 

 

12.   EXEMPT BUSINESS 
 

 

 To move the exclusion of the press and the public for the following item 
in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the 
meaning of paragraph x of schedule 12 A to the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended). The public and the press will be asked to leave 
the meeting whilst the item of business is considered. 
 
There are no exempt items scheduled for this meeting. 
 

 

 
 

mailto:Joshua.kennedy@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=433&Year=0&info=1&MD=constitution


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

JOINT ARCHIVES BOARD 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON MONDAY 16 JANUARY 2023 
 

Present: Cllrs Laura Beddow, Richard Biggs, Simon Christopher, Lesley Dedman 
and Marion Le Poidevin 
 
Apologies: Cllrs Beverley Dunlop 
 
Also present: Carola Campbell (Chairman Dorset Archives Trust)  

 
Officers present (for all or part of the meeting): 
Lisa Cotton (Corporate Director for Customer and Cultural Services), Matti 
Raudsepp (Corporate Director Customer and Business Delivery, BCP Council), 
George Dare (Senior Democratic Services Officer), Joshua Kennedy (Apprentice 
Democratic Services Officer) and Sam Johnston (Service Manager for Archives 
and Records) 

 
14.   Declarations of Interest 

 
There were no declarations of interest to report. 
 

15.   Minutes 
 
The minutes of the last meeting were confirmed. 
 

16.   Public Participation 
 
There was no public participation. 
 

17.   Questions from Councillors 
 
There were no questions from councillors. 
 

18.   Urgent Items 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

19.   Budget 2023/24 and Service Reserves 
 
The Service Manager for Archives and Records informed the committee that 
the meeting was being held to address the budget deficit and reserve funds 
that were discussed at the previous meeting. 
 
There were no substantial changes made to the report and it was largely the 
same as the report presented in Novembers meeting. The Service Manager 
explained that there was a £44,000 uplift required to the service’s budget, due 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2 

to inflationary pressures driven largely by the local government pay award and 
rising energy costs and recommended that the committee approve the uplift 
as per their preference stated at the previous meeting. 
 
The Service Manager also summarised the committee’s options regarding the 
service’s reserve funds. The report gave 4 options for the committee to 
choose from with varying levels of reserve funds retained, from £20,000 to the 
full amount of £143,000. Following advice received from senior officers within 
both councils he recommended that the committee choose option 2, to retain 
£50,000 of reserve funds and return the excess back to both councils 
proportionally. 
  
In response to questions from members, the Service Manager reassured the 
committee that, although having a larger amount of reserve funds was 
preferable, a reserve fund of £50,000 was sufficient to offer a reasonable 
buffer for future projects and help address the current budgetary constraints of 
both councils.  
 
It was explained to the committee that this reserve fund had largely been 
accumulated through vacancy savings, in addition to careful budget 
management of the service.  
 
Proposed by Cllr Biggs and seconded by Cllr Le Poidevin. 
 
Decision: 
 
That the suggested uplift of £44,000 for the 2023/24 JAS (Joint Archives 
Service) budget be approved.  
 
Proposed by Cllr Dedman and seconded by Cllr Christopher. 
 
Decision: 
 
That £50,000 of the current reserve be retained and the remainder given back 
to both councils.    
 

20.   Exempt Business 
 
There was no exempt business.  
 
 
 
 

Duration of meeting: 2.00  - 2.20 pm 
 
 
Chairman 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 6



Joint Archives Board 

8 November 2023 

Joint Archives Service: Budget Monitoring 
and Budget 2024/25 Report 
 

For Decision 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr L Beddow, Culture and Communities    
Cllr Andy Martin, Customer, Communications and Culture, 
BCP Council 

 
Local Councillor(s): All 

Executive Director: J Sellgren, Executive Director of Place  
     
Report Authors: Sam Johnston & Paul Ackrill 
Title: Service Manager for Archives and Records; Service Manager Finance 
Tel: 01305-228929; 01305-224121 
Email: sam.johnston@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk; paul.ackrill@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  
 
Report Status:  Public 

Brief Summary: 

The context for the budget setting process 2024/25 is extremely challenging with all 
councils facing significant financial pressures.  At the last business meeting of the Joint 
Archives Board (16 March 2023), a 7.7% increase was approved for the JAS’s budget 
for 2023/24.  This followed a period of 8 years in which 7 had required budget ‘standstill’ 
to fund the costs of pay, energy and business rates increase.  The JAS budget is 
£613,107.  It is funded by the BCP and Dorset Council pro rata to their respective 
populations. 
 
To support both Dorset and Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Councils financial 
position it is proposed that the Joint Archives Service makes savings in order to absorb 
its pay and overhead increases for 2024/25.  Therefore, the Joint Archives Service   will 
be required to make savings of £50,000.  This would result in: 
 

(i) The removal of the role of Office Manager upon the retirement of the current 
incumbent in May 2024. 

(ii) A range of reductions across other areas of the service meaning that 
controllable spending would be reduced to a bare minimum. 

(iii) The adoption of vacancy management where feasible. 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7

mailto:sam.johnston@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:paul.ackrill@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


Recommendation: 
 
The recommendation is that the Joint Archives Board approve proposed DRAFT budget 
for 2024/25 and savings proposals as detailed. 

 
Reason for Recommendation:      
 

Effective oversight of Joint Archives Service budget via the Joint Archives Board is 
required under the terms of the Inter-Authority Agreement on Archives, 2022.  The 
recommendation will be placed before the executives of both funding councils. 

 

1. Background 
 

1.1 At the last business meeting of the Joint Archives Board (16 March 2023), a 
7.7% increase was approved for the JAS’s budget for 2023/24.  This followed a 
period of eight years in which seven had been cash standstills.  The increase 
funded the local government pay increase and the increased cost of energy and 
business rates.  The current JAS budget is £613,107.  The budget 
apportionments for the two councils are as detailed below: 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and 
Poole Council 

£313,298 

Dorset Council £299,809 

Total £613,107 

 
1.2 The proposed budget for 2024/25 is a cash standstill.  This will mean that the 

Joint Archives Service will have had standstill budgets for eight of ten most 
recent financial years.  In real terms using RPI, this represents a reduction of 
budget of circa 26% since 2012 during that period (Goods and services costing 
£613,107 in 2013 would cost £821,435 today, a cost increase of £208,328).  A 
full audit of the service’s activities and costs undertaken in 2015 by South-West 
Audit Partnership acknowledged that the service had worked hard to examine 
and reduce every area of spend on the one hand and to increase income 
generation wherever possible on the other (e.g. room hire, car parking, leasing 
space, added value public services). 

 
2. Value for Money and Service Capacity   

2.1 It is difficult to say with precision where the Joint Archives Service currently 
stands in terms of value for money relative to other archive services.  Many 
variables operate in terms of above and below the line costs and a reliable set of 
comparable statistics does not exist.  However, in previous years, the service has 
consistently demonstrated value for money across the South-West and 
Hampshire in terms of net expenditure per 1000 population.   

2.2 The Joint Archives Service has worked hard to manage its costs and has 
managed through a combination of electricity generation via solar PV panels and 
a shift to passive strongroom management to reduce its overall energy costs by 

Page 8

https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/


around 65%.  Additional solar arrays have been fitted to the roof of DHC in 2022 
funded through government renewable energy grants. 

2.2       The staff establishment stands at 12.07 full time equivalent posts.  The National 
Archives described the 2011 structure proposal as “very close to the minimum for 
a viable service”.  The National Archives’ November 2021 accreditation feedback 
noted that “the Panel were also impressed by the considerable achievements of 
the service relative to budget and staffing capacity”. The JAS has been operating 
at a relatively low staffing capacity for some years but has been able to appoint 
staff to externally funded project posts as well as generate large quantities of 
volunteer capacity.  The service has demonstrated its ability to innovate, 
generate (external) income and maintain customer satisfaction and quality of 
service.  

2.3 In addition to its revenue contribution, Dorset Council has to date met all capital 
and improvement costs associated with the Dorset History Centre.  Since 2010 
this has amounted to more than £1 million.  In recent years, the service has 
received £200,000 investment to create a largely passive repository preservation 
environment.  Further capital investment will be required moving forwards to 
maintain a viable service.  The Joint Archives Service benefits from the leasing of 
space within the DHC building to two other services.  This contributes £42,000 
per annum to the archive service budget.  The depreciation cost on the value of 
the DHC building is in excess of £100,000 per year.   

 
2.4 The Joint Archives Service seeks to generate as much income as possible from 

providing ‘added value’ services to the public.  Pricing for these services has 
been raised in line with inflation and/or Dorset Council expectations (see 
accompanying report).  However, there is a limit to how much these services can 
yield. 

 
2.5 Since 2010, the Joint Archives Service has acquired nearly £820,000 in external 

grant aid to fund cataloguing and public engagement projects.  Other funding 
applications are under consideration. 

 
2.6 The saving requirement of £50,000 on the JAS’s 2024/25 budget will mean that 

all non-salary related spend will have been reduced to the lowest level possible 
in order to run the service.  Any future savings will necessarily result in a 
reduction in posts and therefore functions.  In addition, should a capital project be 
approved, any reduction in staffing capacity would render the service’s ability to 
engage with such a scheme much more challenging. 

 
3. Current year financial position 
 
3.1 The current forecast for 2023/24 is for the Joint Archives Service to have an 

overspend of circa £10k at year end.  Any overspend will be funded by the Joint 
Archives Service reserve (subject to sufficient funds being held).  The reasons for 
the overspend are detailed below. 

 
3.2  Pay budgets are forecast to underspend by circa £11.5k due to vacancies. 
 

Page 9



3.3  Premises budgets are particularly under pressure.  The hike in utility costs is 
well known, and the effect of that is estimated at circa £12k overspend in the 
current year. Separately, R&M spend at Dorset History Centre has incurred £25k 
at the time of writing against a budget of £13k (and £16k spend in previous year). 
It is anticipated that the balance of funds within the Repairs and Maintenance 
reserve will be used to partly offset this overspend. 

 
3.4 Any underspend or overspend at year will be added to, or deducted from, the 

reserve, as appropriate. 
 
4.  Budget Strategies of the Two Funding Councils 
 
4.1 Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council: a verbal update will be 

provided at the meeting. 
 
4.2 Dorset Council: financial position for current year and outlook  

At the end of Quarter 2, the Council is forecasting net budget pressures of 
£11.985m which represents 3.4% of the Council’s budget requirement 
(£347.6m).  Overall the quarter 2 position has worsened by £1.6m since quarter 
1 of 2023/24, despite improvements within a number of directorates and service, 
and receipt of new grant funding such as the Market Sustainability funding. 
2023/24 continues to be an extremely challenging time for local government, with 
inflationary and demand pressures impacting on income and expenditure. There 
remains a large degree of financial uncertainty and, having reviewed expenditure 
for the second quarter of the year, Dorset Council’s prudent financial forecast is a 
£11.985m budget pressure.  

The Council has set aside contingency funding to manage some of this risk, but 
continued and sustained service demand may mean the current contingencies 
are insufficient without significant improvements in the latter part of the financial 
year.  Without this, unearmarked reserves will be required to fund the 2023/24 
general fund.   

 
4.3 For that reason, the proposal presented here is a “standstill” budget which, given 

the pressure due to pay awards and general inflation, represents a required 
saving of £50k. 
  

5.  Budget 2024/25 and JAS Reserves 
 
5.1 At the time of writing, there is much uncertainty which prevents setting a budget 

with complete understanding of costs: 

• The 2023/24 pay award is not confirmed  

• For non-pay, general inflation is still very volatile 

• The picture for utility costs is adverse but generally improving. 
 
5.2 Nonetheless, the JAB will need to consider the 2024/25 budget proposal in light 

of the assumptions that we are using at the time of writing.  The effect is that the 
service needs to find savings of circa £50k in order to “stand still”.  

 
 The proposal to reduce expenditure by £50k is as follows: 

Page 10



 
(i) The removal of the role of Office Manager upon the retirement of the current 

incumbent in May 2024. 
(ii) A range of efficiencies across other areas of the service  
(iii) The adoption of vacancy management processes where feasible to do so.  

 
6. Reserves 
 
6.1 The attached Appendix shows recent movements in the reserve and the current 

balance. 
 
6.2 The general reserve stands at £67.7k.  Despite the return of funds to both partner 

councils as previously agreed, the reserve is higher than the £50k that both 
councils previously agreed on, due to transactions late in the 2022/23 closedown 
process. 

 
6.2  The reserve is held by DC but is jointly owned by both DC and BCP, with 

ownership being in accordance with the population percentages set out earlier.  
The JAB previously agreed to retain £50,000 within its reserve with any 
additional funds being apportioned and returned to the two funding councils.  
That opportunity arises again now, if the JAB wish to apportion funds held in the 
reserve over and above the £50k previously suggested. 

 
6.4 The repairs and maintenance budget stands at £7,397 and will be needed in full 

to offset the overspend in repairs and maintenance this year. 
 
6.5 The Donations reserve and Projects are ringfenced for specific purposes. 
 
7.  Conclusion 

7.1 The JAS works to provide excellent value for money, generates significant 
income and delivers high quality work and projects.  Along with all other council 
services, the JAS faces another period of retrenchment and cost savings which 
will mean that it is operating as cheaply as is possible without needing to 
implement a staffing restructure. 

7.2 A definitive decision on whether a capital project is to take place will determine 
the service’s direction of travel over the next few years.  There are clear 
opportunities to improve the JAS and DHC through external funding but these 
are contingent upon having a stable core of professional staff to manage and 
lead the service.  The JAS will continue to strive to provide excellent value for 
money combined with high quality service for the funding councils, the public and 
the collections it manages.  

John Sellgren 
Executive Director for Place 
 
Aidan Dunn  
Executive Director for Corporate Development 

 
  

Page 11



 

     Appendix 1 
JAS Reserves at 31 March 
2023      

      

 GENERAL 
REPAIRS & 

MTCE DONATIONS PROJECTS Total 

 £ £ £ £ £ 

B/fwd as at 31/3/2022      

Uncommitted 188,047    188,047 

Committed  10,802 43,280 22,090 76,172 

Movement in Year       

Revenue Surplus 2022/23      

Revenue Deficits 2022/23 -7,300 -3,404  -144  
BCP Share Returned  -47,547     

DC Share Returned  -45,500     

Donations Received    30   

Capital Projects  -45,000     

Capital Project Returned  25,000     

Reserve Balance  67,700 7,397 43,310 21,946 140,353 
Less Commitments       

Donations (ring-fenced)   -43,310   

Projects    -21,946  
Repairs & Maintenance   -7,397    

Capital Projects       

UNCOMMITTED RESERVES  67,700 0 0 0 67,700 

 

Page 12



Joint Archives Board 

8 November 2023 

Capital Project Update 
 

For Review and Consultation  

Portfolio Holder: Cllr L Beddow, Culture and Communities    
Cllr Andy Martin, Customer, Communications and Culture, BCP Council 

 
Local Councillor(s): All 

Executive Director: J Sellgren, Executive Director of Place  
     
Report Author:  Sam Johnston 
Title:    Service Manager for Archives and Records 
Tel:    01305-228929 
Email:     sam.johnston@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  
 
Report Status:  Public 

Brief Summary: 

Dorset History Centre has been considering its future archive storage requirements for over 
ten years as the repositories approach capacity. Built in 1991, there remains relatively little 
space left in which to house physical collections. 
 
This report updates the Joint Archive Board on the current process for assessing the ongoing 
and future requirements; completing a bid to Dorset Councils Capital Programme and, if 
supported, the process for progressing a final stage bid to National Lottery Heritage Fund.  
(NLHF)  
 
Recommendation: Joint Archives Board:  
 

1. Acknowledges this update and provides comments to be included in reports to each 
council’s executive as and when required in the decision-making process.   

2. Notes the options appraised and financial implications of each. 

3. Agrees to receive a further update following Dorset Council cabinet capital programme 
considerations in early 2024.  

 
Reason for Recommendation: 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8

mailto:sam.johnston@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/


To ensure that the Board is sighted upon the work undertaken to progress this project to 

date, including the latest options appraisal, and for Board to consider future solutions in 

order to be informed for supporting future decision-making processes. 

 

1. Background and Context 
  

1.1 The Joint Archive Service (JAS) has been anticipating the requirement to increase 
capacity for storage at the Dorset History Centre (DHC) for physical archives over the 
past 10 years.  

 
1.2 Whilst inevitable that storage requirements will reduce over time, due to the increase 

in digital transactions, there is likely to be a further lengthy period of collecting a mixed 
economy of paper and digital transactions for archiving.  By way of example, 
Hampshire Archives is anticipating significant ongoing accessions of physical archives 
until the end of the century. 

 

1.3 Dorset History Centre was built in 1991 with predicted storage for 25 years of accruals.  
The remaining capacity is now 2,800 vacant box spaces representing c.5% of total 
repository capacity.  Whilst it has therefore already exceeded its anticipated accrual 
space by over seven years, this cannot continue. 

 

1.4 Our monitoring and preparation began in 2012.  And in 2017, following an options 
appraisal and feasibility study, our first approach to the Heritage Lottery Fund was 
submitted unsuccessfully in 2017.  This project was revisited in 2022 following a full-
service review in 2021 and the signing of a refreshed inter-authority agreement in 2022. 

 

1.5 Our initial Expression of Interest to the NLHF in May 2022 received an encouraging 
response, prompting an explicit invitation to apply by May 2023.  This supported our 
project progressing to development stage.  

 

Project Development and Current Status  
 

1.6 Following agreement by Joint Archives Board to invest £25,000 reserve funding in 
engaging with a contract architectural and cost consultant and a lottery specialist bid 
writer.  Our project titled Parchment and Pixels – building resilience for Dorset’s 
archives was initiated with a focus and particular emphasis on digital preservation.   

 
1.7 The project is intended to deliver: 

 

• Provision of a two-storey repository block providing at least 30 years of 

accommodation for physical archives including photographs, film and large or 

‘outsize’ items. 

• Improvements to the public access areas of DHC to include re-designed, 

flexible spaces for a wide range of potential users and a new public entrance 

to make the building and its contents more intuitive and welcoming. 

Page 14



• A major programme of public engagement activity focussed upon collections 

and people – and bringing the two together.  Key drivers are likely to be: 

 

➢ Opening collections for cultural, academic and community benefit. 

➢ Telling more of the stories of under-represented communities 

➢ Ensuring archives are more visible, both physically and digitally 

➢ Raising the profile of digital assets and educating the wider public in how to 

safeguard digital materials. 

  
1.8 Applications to the NLHF require written commitment from the host authority, 

Dorset Council as owner of Dorset History Centre, with a pledge for match funding 
of c. 30% of the total project cost.   
  

1.9 To provide Dorset Council with the information required to make a financial and 
resource commitment, in support of the bid, a business case was developed and 
progressed through the capital programme decision making process.  This has 
included assets, property and financial colleagues supporting a refreshed options 
appraisal and presenting, via fully developed business case, to the officer 
governance boards for consideration.  

 

1.10 The next stage for the business case is to progress, alongside all capital projects, 
for consideration by Dorset Council cabinet in January 2024.  This project will be 
considered along with all service priorities requiring council funding and officer 
resources.  We anticipate the project being delivered between 2026 - 2027.  

 

1.11 The business case options analysed and presented included:  
 

➢ Capital project to extend history centre to deliver a two-storey repository block 

providing c. 30 years of accommodation for physical archives; improvements 

to public access and facilities with public engagement. [recommended] 

The business case concluded that the capital project to extend the history centre 

represented long-term value for money.  Whilst the initial financial requirement 

would be relatively high, this was investment into an asset and the project 

provided wider customer access and public engagement benefits.   

➢ Outsource future physical archives to a third-party provided off-site storage. 

The business case concluded that the off-site storage solution would represent 

lower costs initially but as more storage was required the annual compounded 

revenue costs would increase eventually exceeding the cost of the capital 

investment in the DHC building. 

1.12 The match funding requirement of Dorset Council is currently £2.18 million.  The 

project has joined a set of ‘un-funded’ schemes which sit outside the Council’s 

Page 15



current ‘funded’ capital programme.  The project will be considered by Dorset 

Council cabinet in January 2024 meeting and if approved will be incorporated into 

the capital programme.  If this occurs, a new Expression of Interest will need to be 

submitted to NLHF and subject to the response, the project reviewed in advance 

of a submission later in 2024. 

 

1.13 Competition for Lottery funding is intense and the project, should it proceed will 
need to clearly meet the Fund’s new ‘investment principles’ outlined in its 10-year 
strategy document Heritage 2033.  It is vital that the public engagement work that 
is programmed connects to new audiences and encourages different and 
sustainable approaches to engaging with archives. 
 

1.14 The approximate match fund contribution from local authorities is c. one-third of the 
total cost.  However, it would be possible to provide less although this would 
potentially lower the strength of the application as it would place greater risk upon 
the NLHF.   

 

2. Possible scenarios 
 
2.1 There are two possible outcomes resulting from the consideration by Dorset Council 

of the project proposal and the requirement for £2.18 million in match funding which 
represents approximately 30% of the total cost: 
 

2.1.1 Project is supported and match funding is approved:  The project team will 
reconvene as soon as possible.  NLHF will be approached with a new Expression 
of Interest and a bid submission schedule agreed.  The principal loan obligation 
under this option sits with Dorset Council and the interest accrued on that loan would 
be payable (pro rata) by both Councils (as per the 2022 Inter-Authority Agreement 
on Archives). 

 
2.1.2 Project is un-supported and match funding is not approved.  This will result in 

the need for the JAS to consider various options open to it for off-site storage.  This 
approach was identified as another possible solution within the options appraisal.  
The consequence of this is that in the future, some of the archive collections 
managed by the JAS will be held in off-site locations.  A small, but growing revenue 
budget will be required in order to fund this process.  Archives, when required will 
need to be transported back to Dorchester for consultation. 

 
3. Next steps 
 
3.1 The Joint Archives Service welcomes the views and comments from the Joint Archives 

Board as representatives of the two funding councils in relation to the capital project.  
If it proceeds, staff capacity will be heavily focussed upon the development of a bid to 
Lottery.  If it is decided not to proceed, then the service will instead need to turn its 
attention to other opportunities to bring investment to and raise the profile of Dorset’s 
archives. 

 

Page 16

https://www.heritagefund.org.uk/about/heritage-2033-our-10-year-strategy


4. Financial Implications 
 
A significant amount of analysis of relative costs and value for money has been 
undertaken in respect of this project.  A capital scheme will require a significant match 
funding contribution.  If an external storage provider is used, the small initial cost will 
grow substantially over time and a revenue budget will be required to fund it. 
 

5. Natural Environment, Climate & Ecology Implications 

There are no immediate environmental implications.  However, it should be noted that 
the structural elements of the project will be designed to be as energy efficient as is 
feasible and to use passive environmental management to the fullest extent possible.  
Provision has been made within the budget for a Passivhaus advisor to ensure that the 
most effective design is adopted. 
 

6. Well-being and Health Implications  

None  

7. Other Implications  

None  

8. Risk Assessment  

HAVING CONSIDERED: the risks associated with this decision; the level of risk has 

been identified as: 

Current Risk: Medium  

Residual Risk: Medium 

9. Equalities Impact Assessment 

 

The JAS has completed a full EQIA.  Areas for further consideration include working 

with younger people and with black and ethnic minority groups and religious minorities.  

Improved digital provision will also assist in providing greater access to collections for 

people living at some distance from Dorchester. 

  

10. Appendices  

1.Summary Options Appraisal, Dorset History Centre accommodation, June 2023 
 

11. Background Papers 

 

None  

Sam Johnston 
Service Manager for Archives and Records 

Page 17

https://dorsetcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/kate_critchel_dorsetcouncil_gov_uk/Documents/New%20folder%20(2)/There#Equalities


October 2023 
  

Page 18



Appendix 1 
 
Summary Options Appraisal, Dorset History Centre accommodation, June 2023 
 
Options appraised: 

1. External storage to meet future demand 

Description Retain Dorset History Centre as is and buy in external storage to 
meet projected increased demand over next 40 years 

Net revenue impact 
over 40yrs 

£5,275,067 

Options score (lower is 
better) 

89.2 

Risk score (lower is 
better) 

9 

 

2. Extension (plus refurbishment) to existing site to meet future demand, with Lottery bid for 60% of 

cost 

Description Refurbishment and extension to existing Dorset History Centre 
site, with bid to Heritage Lottery Fund for 60% of costs (requires 
engagement and activity plan). Project has been rescoped and 
value engineered following March 2023 business case.  

Net revenue impact 
over 40yrs 

£4,477,881 

(note that significant contingency has been built into these 
costings as required by National Lottery) 

Options score (lower is 
better) 

64.6 

Risk score (lower is 
better) 

0 

 

3. Sale of existing site and new build facility to meet existing and future demand 

Description Sale of existing Dorset History Centre, purchase of new site and 
new build facility to meet current and future requirements. No 
site currently identified 

Net revenue impact 
over 40yrs 

£19,630,128  
NB these costs are based on new build figures provided in 2019, 
since when costs will have significantly increased 
 

Options score (lower 
is better) 

309.4 

Risk score (lower is 
better) 

25 

 

4. Extension only to existing site to meet future demand 

Description Sale of existing Dorset History Centre, purchase of new site and 
new build facility to meet current and future requirements. No 
site currently identified 

Page 19



Net revenue impact 
over 40yrs 

£6,287,429 

Options score (lower 
is better) 

96.1 

 

Risk score (lower is 
better) 

0 

 

Options not taken forward for analysis:  

5. Repurposing of an existing Dorset Council site to meet future demand  

Description Repurpose an existing Dorset Council site to house projected 
increased demand over next 40 years, retain Dorset History Centre in 
current form for existing archive. Sections of County Hall are large 
enough to house the projected demand, and consolidation of office 
provision could create sufficient space for this use. 

Rationale for 
disregarding  

The County Hall space would require significant investment to meet 
requirements, and investigation by Dorset Council Capital Projects 
Team advise the additional over cost from the proposed extension 
scheme in its current location (option 2) would easily be more than 
the est. £1.8m from the sale of the land. No other appropriate DC 
owned space has been identified to date 

 

6. Sale of existing site, repurpose another Dorset Council site to meet existing and future need 

Description Sale of existing site, refurbishment of a Dorset Council asset to meet 
current and future requirements. Sections of County Hall are large 
enough to house current archive and projected demand, and 
consolidation of office provision could create sufficient space for this use. 

Rationale for 
disregarding  

The County Hall space would require significant investment to meet 
requirements, and investigation by Dorset Council Capital Projects Team 
advise the additional over cost from the proposed extension scheme in its 
current location (option 2) would easily be more than the est. £1.8m from 
the sale of the land. No other appropriate DC owned space has been 
identified to date 

 

7. Conversion of third floor of DHC into storage facility 

Description Stripping out of the majority of existing plant, strengthening of floor plate 

and conversion of the space into a ‘box within a box’ to hold c. 12,000 

archive boxes. 

Rationale for 

disregarding 

Expensive to convert space (floor loading, conditioning, lift etc) and space 

only accommodates half of what the extension over the car part area 

provides.  Overall project costs likely to be higher, structural risks greater 

and overall benefits less. 

 

8. Extension over car park as option 2 but with car parking maintained via elevated structure on stilts 

Page 20



Description As with Option 2 – excepting that structure would be over 3 storeys with 

the ground floor being car parking space. 

Rationale for 

disregarding  

Car parking gain would be limited due to pillars.  Risks of potential fire 

under the repository would be present.  This option would add significant 

additional cost due to the need to reinforce both floor plates instead of 

just one. 

 

Recommendation  

To take forward option 2 - Extension (plus refurbishment) to existing site to meet future demand, with 

Lottery bid for 60% of cost.  

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Joint Archives Board 

8 November 2023 

Joint Archives Service Development Plan 
(2021-26) Monitoring Report 
 

For Decision 

Portfolio Holder:  Cllr L Beddow, Culture and Communities    
Cllr Andy Martin, Customer, Communications and Culture, 
BCP Council 

 
Local Councillor(s): All 

Executive Director: J Sellgren, Executive Director of Place  
     
Report Author:  Sam Johnston 
Title:   Service Manager for Archives and Records 
Tel:   01305-228929 
Email:   sam.johnston@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  
 
Report Status:  Public 

 
Brief Summary:  

This report provides an update to the Joint Archives Board on the current and future 
work of the Joint Archives Service (JAS).  The Service Development Plan appended to 
this report carries detailed information on the service’s activities and the report will 
highlight work undertaken against the JAS’s key objectives.  Since the last report, the 
service has: 
 

• Continued to expand the range and type of digital preservation activities including 
leading the now 21-member local government consortium. 

• Raised £57k towards the cataloguing of the Thomas Hardy archive; 

• Taken a lead role in a national project to examine the status of the records of 
adopted and care-experienced people – due to complete in March 2024; 

• Enrolled two members of staff in the new Level 7 Apprenticeship in Archives and 
Records. 

• Pursued plans for a revised capital project to address its long-standing 
accommodation challenges (see accompanying report). 
 

The JAS priorities for 2021-26 are: 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 9

mailto:sam.johnston@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


• Actively acquire archives relating to Bournemouth, Christchurch, Dorset and 
Poole and to work through all available means to preserve, conserve and 
promote access to them to optimum effect 

• Design and deliver digital preservation services across both authority areas 

• Provide efficient, innovative and quality digital and place-based services which 
deliver rewarding experiences for all JAS customers and value for money for the 
two funding authorities 

• Engage a wide variety of audiences with digital and physical resources and 
events, recognising barriers to involvement and working actively to dismantle 
these 

• Encourage and sustain on-site and remote volunteering so adding value through 
delivering targeted programmes of work 

• Develop and maintain partnerships with a range of organisations both public and 
private and to pursue project opportunities which both enhance funding to the 
JAS and deliver positive outcomes and mutual benefits to all parties 

• Efficiently manage and enhance the DHC building including the provision of 
sufficient long-term archival storage space, so increasing value for money for 
customers, collections and staff 

 
Recommendations: 
It is recommended that the Board: 
  
1. Endorses the implementation of the 2021-2026 service plan appended to this 

report as demonstrating the quality, variety and value for money provided by the 
JAS; 

2. Supports the JAS's ongoing work to ensure the safe and effective transfer of 
appropriate physical and digital records from both BCP and Dorset Councils to 
ensure the preservation of the corporate memory and to deliver council 
efficiencies. 

3. Approves a two-week closure period for the JAS in January 2024 to allow for 
important collections-related work to take place. 

 
Reason for Recommendation: 
Effective oversight of the regular service delivery element of the service plan by the Joint 
Archives Board is required under the terms of the Inter-Authority Agreement on 
Archives, 2022 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Joint Archives Service (JAS) is Accredited by The National Archives and holds 

the corporate archives of its funding councils and their predecessor bodies as well 
as thousands of individual physical and digital collections dating from 965AD which 
collectively make up the written heritage and memory of Bournemouth, 
Christchurch, Dorset and Poole.  In addition, DHC holds Public Records on behalf 
of HM Government. 

 
The JAS provides services to the public in three principal ways: 

• On-site - public access at Dorset History Centre (DHC); 

• Off-site - learning and community engagement; 

Page 24

https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/default.htm


• Online – a large and growing market for web-based resources, particularly 
given the JAS’s relationship with Ancestry.co.uk, its online catalogue and 
digital engagement work. 

 
2. Context and challenges 
 
2.1 A full-service review was undertaken in 2020 and the subsequent consultancy 

report published in March 2021. The report was approved by the Joint Archives 
Advisory Board (JAAB) at its April 2021 meeting and a new five year (2021-26) 
service plan was written.  This draws upon some of the key findings of the 
consultants’ report, particularly in relation to the efficient acquisition of corporate 
records and the growth of digital services.  The service plan has also adopted and 
integrated the key messages of the national strategy for archives developed by 
The National Archives (TNA) Archives Unlocked (2020), namely Trust, Enrichment 
and Openness.1 

 
2.2 The two most important priorities for the service that emerged from the report are: 

• Accommodation: the continuing search for an affordable and long-term 
solution for the future additional collections storage required by the service.  
Opened in 1991, DHC is now approaching full capacity with 2,500 empty 
box spaces (of a total 56,000).  This has developed into a revised capital 
project plan (see accompanying report). 

• BCP Council records: the Joint Archives Service wishes to deliver on one 
of its key priorities which is to be the corporate memory of both funding 
councils.  There are significant challenges associated with the transfer of 
relevant archival material and the service is keen to find ways of ensuring 
that this happens in both physical and digital formats. 

 
2.3 In addition to the above, the JAS will be applying for re-Accreditation.  This 

process, overseen by The National Archives takes place every six years and is 
critical to the service’s status as a Place of Deposit for Public Records and as a 
standards-compliant public service facility.. 

 
3. Service Structure and Capacity  
 
3.1 The service’s core Archives capacity is currently 12.07 fte posts.  This will reduce 

by around at least 1.2 fte by May 2024 however. 
 
3.2 The service is facing change in the near future.  The long-standing Office Manager 

will be retiring in May.  This role deals with all premises-related matters, finance 
and administration.  Presently, we are considering how these functions may be 
delivered.  One scenario is a move towards the ‘Efficient Property Services’ model 
whereby most buildings-related functions are managed by the central Facilities 
team.  In addition, we need to fill the role of Archivist (Digital Preservation) on a 
fixed term basis when the current incumbent goes on maternity leave in February 
2023. 

 

                                                           
1 https://nationalarchives.gov.uk/archives-sector/projects-and-programmes/strategic-vision-for-
archives/strategic-priorities/  

Page 25

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5068/Public%20reports%20pack%2013th-Apr-2021%2014.00%20Joint%20Archives%20Advisory%20Board.pdf?T=10
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5068/Public%20reports%20pack%2013th-Apr-2021%2014.00%20Joint%20Archives%20Advisory%20Board.pdf?T=10
https://nationalarchives.gov.uk/archives-sector/projects-and-programmes/strategic-vision-for-archives/strategic-priorities/
https://nationalarchives.gov.uk/archives-sector/projects-and-programmes/strategic-vision-for-archives/strategic-priorities/


 Two members of the public service team (along with a member of the Records 
Management service) will commence Level 7 (Masters-equivalent) apprenticeships 
in Archives and Records from October 2023.  This is excellent news in terms of 
staff professional development and training.  It will however put occasional 
pressure on the public service team due to the weekly study day that each 
candidate will require. 

 
4. Public Services 
 
4.1 2023 has been a busy year for the Public Service team, building upon our new 

methods of working that had begun during 2022. The booking system for 
customers wishing to access original documents has become more embedded as 
part of our normal working practice, whilst drop-in visitors accessing the library, 
computers or microfilm facilities continue as well.  

 
4.2 Staff time has partially been utilised to work on cataloguing projects, preparing 

new website media, ongoing work listing probate records, and commencing a 
stock audit of the library.  
 

4.3 The absence of a Reprographics Assistant between June and October 2023 
following the retirement of the previous incumbent meant that two members of 
the public service team took responsibility for processing orders, to ensure that 
business continued as usual. This therefore restricted the opportunities to 
undertake other jobs during this period. 
 

4.4 The period October 2022- September 2023 saw a total of 1,527 visitors (an 
increase of 45% on the previous year). There were a total of 903 pre-booked 
visitors in this period, or just under 60% of our overall total of visitors, a figure 
slightly lower than the previous year, but indicative of the increase in drop-in 
visitors utilising all elements of the service. 
 

4.5 The recently catalogued collections continue to be popular, with D-BKL( Bankes) 
and NG-HH/CMR (Herrison Hospital) continuing to be amongst our most popular. 
Interest in the Thomas Hardy archive continues to be strong, and this is the most 
requested un-catalogued collection. In addition, demand for D-FRK (Dame 
Elisabeth Frink archive) has been ongoing through the year, as work ahead of an 
exhibition at Dorset Museum, coupled with both media and auctioneer interest 
have driven demand for the collection. 
 

4.6 Remote enquiries have remained strong, with a total of 2,245 written enquiries. 
 

4.7 During the 12 month period, we received slightly fewer reprographics orders than 
in the previous year, drawing in £6559.50 (down from £7,305.20 in 2021/2022). 
The average value of an order has therefore fallen to £28.27, down from £30.57.  
 

4.8 The research service has proven to be steady, but the overall numbers have 
dropped from the previous period, with a total of 30 orders received in the year, a 
reduction from the 50 of the previous year. 
 

Page 26



4.9 The figures reported for remote enquiries, reprographics orders, and the research 
service, when combined with the increase in overall visitor numbers to the 
building, suggests that following the uncertainty of the pandemic period, more 
people have now returned to DHC to do their own research rather than trying to 
do work remotely.  
 

4.10 Volunteers have averaged 135.7 hours on-site per month in the last year, 
contributing a total of 1,627.95 hours at DHC in this time. This is figure 
approximately double that of the hours recorded in 2021/2022. In addition, 
remote volunteers contributed over 300 hours of time, meaning that volunteers 
have contributed 1,934.27 hours of time in the year, over 650 extra hours 
compared to the previous period.  Volunteering is an essential component of 
DHC’s capacity.  It is something the service carefully nurtures.  Volunteer 
capacity will increase with the commencement of the Hardy archive project in 
early 2024. 
 

4.11 We have published a total of 69 blogs in the 12-month period, fewer than in the 
previous year. The number of tweets has increased from 286 last year to 362 this 
year, helped by regular tweets about the Thomas Hardy fundraiser through the 
course of the year. Subscribers to the newsletter remain at around 10,000. 
 

4.12 The service has contributed to two national television programmes aired this 
year.  The Channel Five series on the Black Death featured an expert member of 
DHC staff speaking with presenter, Dan Snow, about a significant collection of 
manor court rolls charting the progress of the epidemic from its port of entry in 
Weymouth. The BBC Fake or Fortune series recently featured an episode on an 
Elisabeth Frink sculpture.  The archive held at DHC was used extensively for the 
research facilitated by DHC staff with the final programme featuring items from 
the archive. 

 
5. Museums Advisor for BCP and Dorset Councils2 

5.1 In October, South-West Museum Development (SWMD), which is hosted by 
Bristol City Council, confirmed that they have been awarded a grant by Arts 
Council England for 2024-2026. This funding will be used to continue the 
regional museum development programme, which includes training and skills 
development, a programme of grant investment and a framework of local 
Museum Development Officers across the South-West Area. From 2024 the 
programme will be extended to include Hampshire Solent (Hampshire, 
Portsmouth, Southampton and the Isle of Wight) reflecting the Arts Council 
England’s South-West Area. This funding makes a vital contribution to the 
Dorset & BCP Museums Advisor post.  

 
5.2 The Museums Advisor has worked collaboratively to deliver SWMD initiatives 

and projects across the Dorset and BCP area during 2023. This has 
encompassed the lottery funded Travelling Together project, the 

                                                           
2 This role is not part of the JAS funding model, but similarly covers both council areas.  It is funded by BCP 
and Dorset Councils along with South-West Museum Development.  Museums development and archives 
are closely linked and mutually supportive. 

Page 27



Organisational Health Check Programme and the South-West Visitor Insights 
Programme. The latter has been particularly successful and is essentially a 
bespoke audience evaluation programme which helps museums to 
understand who their visitors are and what they think about their museum visit 
and experience. The data generated from the programme provides incredibly 
valuable insights to help museums become more audience focused and 
provide clear evidence of need and demand in grant funding applications. 
Russell Cotes Art Gallery & Museum, Blandford Town Museum, Nothe Fort, 
Bridport Museum and Weymouth Museum have all benefitted from this 
scheme over the last year.  

 
5.3 A number of targeted support projects have been progressed over the past 

year including: 
 

• Progression of a redevelopment plan for Weymouth Museum and 
creation of an associated National Lottery Heritage Fund bid for £1m+  

• Support for formulation and delivery of S106 projects at Shire Hall 
Museum and Sherborne Town Museum 

• Accreditation standard work with Langton Matravers Museum, 
Hengistbury Head Visitor Centre and Blandford Fashion Museum  

• Interpretation development work at Sherborne Steam and Waterwheel 
Centre  

• Completion of a complete redisplay of Corfe Castle Museum, now 
reopened to the public   

• Options development support for Swanage Museum to grow capacity for 
displays and facilities 

• Advice and support for governance and organisational change initiatives 
at Keep Military Museum, Russell Cotes Art Gallery & Museum, 
Wareham Museum & Gillingham Museum 

• Facilitation of Dorset Museums Association and North Dorset Museums 
networks, including delivery of an annual conference, skills sharing 
opportunities and group bargaining for mutual benefit schemes, such as 
Visit Dorset and Harwell Restoration. 

 
5.4 In recent months, the MDO role has supported the roll-out of Dorset Council’s 

Organisational Revenue Support Fund 2024-2027, which is a grant 
programme that provides core revenue support to constituted and ‘not for 
profit’ cultural organisations such as Accredited Museums, Arts & Heritage 
Organisations in Dorset. The fund is designed to support cultural 
organisations that are relevant to the communities within the Dorset Council 
area, inclusive of priority audiences, distinctive in their offering, and have a 
demonstrated impact. Grants of up to £50,000 per annum are available and 
funding is for a three-year period to foster sustainability. It is hoped that at 
least 12 Dorset museums will be supported. 

 
6. Community Engagement 
 
6.1 The JAS has continued its wide-ranging community engagement activity. 

Significant activities in 2023 include; 

Page 28



• Tailored support for three young volunteers with additional access requirements 
leading to improved prospects for education or employment. 

• A one-month work experience placement for two undergraduates from 
Bournemouth University  

• The collection and processing of oral history interviews from friends, relations 
and associates of Dame Elisabeth Frink 

• Support and advice to a wide range of community projects including DEED’s ‘A 
Place We Can Call Home’ which is recording the experiences of new arrivals in 
the BCP area; the Bournemouth Hebrew Congregation’s memorial project; a 
revised version of a 1934 play about the Tolpuddle Martyrs; a new project at 
Talbot Village; the Royal Arcade, Boscombe development project; an interactive 
map for the Gypsy, Roma and traveller communities; plans for an arts installation 
at Dorchester Prison and an innovative dance project at Pavilion Dance South 
West. 

• Thirty-three on site visits or off-site talks, training sessions or workshops  
• Research support to Poole’s first community play, ‘SALT’ 
• Two volunteers re-engaged and one new volunteer recruited 
• Contributing to Dorchester’s D-Day commemoration plans 
• Continued membership of the Cultural Hub for BCP 

 
7. Records of Dorset Council and BCP Council 

7.2 BCP Council has transferred very little physical material to DHC in the last 12 
months. There remain large gaps in the corporate memory (archive).  The JAS is 
keen to work with BCP departments to ensure that relevant material is transferred 
for preservation and public access. 

 
7.3 On a more positive note, there have been transfers of some digital records to 

DHC.  These include records of adopted children and material generated by 
Democratic Services within the Mod Gov system. 

 
8. Digital Preservation  

8.1 The consortium of local government archive services using Preservica digital 
preservation software, led by Dorset, has grown to 21 members. This means that 
we have achieved the maximum discount available on the annual fee for all 
members. 1 additional member, the Tank Museum is due to join in early 2024. 
 

8.2 Working in collaboration with Preservica many thousands of committee records 
have been transferred from the Mod.Gov system of both Dorset Council and 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council as well as the various predecessor 
councils. This is now a fully automated process requiring little human intervention 
and ensures these records are properly preserved and will be available for future 
generations.3 By assisting with the development of this tool, the JAS has gained 

access to it for free, saving the service a £1,000 licence annual fee. Committee 
records that are confidential and closed for a defined period have yet to be 
addressed.  

 

                                                           
3 Available to view here: Councils and Committees | Dorset History Centre Digital Archive 
(preservica.com)  

Page 29

https://dorset.access.preservica.com/uncategorized/SO_c18ce55d-e724-4692-b72e-774bfc5db1ed/
https://dorset.access.preservica.com/uncategorized/SO_c18ce55d-e724-4692-b72e-774bfc5db1ed/


8.3 The JAS continues to work with a multitude of individuals and organisations to 
advise and offer digital preservation for important cultural records. Recent 
accessions have included material related to quarrying on Portland; the history of 
the lerret (a boat native to Lyme Bay); church furnishings; and oral histories 
collected by several Dorset museums.  

 

8.4 The digitisation of multimedia formats is increasingly urgent as the people with the 
expertise and equipment to transfer original formats to digital is rapidly shrinking. 
In March 2023 over 120 items of at-risk video and film were digitised. These are 
currently being ingested into Preservica, and metadata added to the catalogue. 
Generous funding from Dorset Archives Trust will allow more of this vulnerable 
media to be digitised by the end of 2023.  

9. Conservation 
 
9.1 Key outcomes of the work of the JAS’s Conservation Officer were:  
 

• The post of Archive Conservation Officer was vacant between Aug and Nov 
2022, with the new conservator being appointed in November 2022. 

• Work is on-going on the Dorset Authors conservation project funded by the 
National Manuscript Conservation Trust, with an estimated completion date of 
Dec.23  

• Completion of phase 1 of the Railway Plans conservation and digitisation project, 
providing digital access to damaged and inaccessible documents.   

• A grant of £3.8K has been given for phase 2 of the Railway Plans conservation 
and digitisation project. Work will begin before the end of the year.  

• Provided conservation support to local museums such as Bridport Museum and 
Sherborne Museum.  

• Continuing work for external clients, including the Tank Museum and Nothe Fort.  

• Collaborating with Dorset Museum on the upcoming exhibition, Elisabeth Frink: A 
View from Within to loan material from the Frink archive, including photographs, 
maquettes, and original paintings.  

• Working in partnership with Wimborne Cathedral to display the Wimborne Manor 
Court Book in the Chained Library. The Manor court book has proved extremely 
popular, with over 7,000 visitor this season.   

 
10.  Collections Management  

10.1 The JAS continues to receive regular, significant accessions of hard copy archives.  
Since the last update to the Board, the most notable recent material to be 
deposited includes: 

 

• Bournemouth Transport Limited (Yellow Buses) archives 

• Wessex Water archives 

• Edward Thomas Percy Sherborne and environs map 

• Papers of John Llewellin – 1st Baron Llewellin of Upton Park 

• Dorset Railway Stations Improvement plans and terrier 
 
10.2 The archives of the former Bournemouth Transport Ltd. (Yellow Buses) were 

acquired in November 2022.  A legal agreement transferring ownership of the 

Page 30



archive was signed and a notional £1.00 payment made to secure the collection. 
An application to gain funding from The Business Archives Council to support the 
cataloguing of these archives was unsuccessful.  This was disappointing although 
on a more positive note, the service has been encouraged to re-apply in 2024. 

 
10.3 An application to gain £35,000 funding from The National Archives to support the 

cataloguing of the archives of Thomas Hardy was successful.  Competition for this 
funding was intense. A total of £68,000 is required to undertake the project.  A 
public fundraising campaign undertaken with support from Dorset Museum, the 
Thomas Hardy Society and Dorset Archives Trust has so far managed to raise a 
total of £55,000 leaving us £13,000 short of our total. The challenge to raise the 
remainder of funds therefore remains although it is important that this most 
significant of archives is made properly available to the wider world. 

 
10.4 This situation underlines the difficulty local authority services face in acquiring 

funding for cataloguing of archives, which is one of the core functions of the JAS. 
Very few opportunities exist to gain additional resourcing to catalogue archives and 
the environment is becoming increasingly competitive. 

 
11. Proposed closure period 
 
11.1 Many archive services (most in the South-West) operate a ‘closure period’ – that 

is, a period of time when the service is closed to the public specifically to allow 
staff to concentrate on addressing tasks which cannot be done any other time.  
These primarily relate to the collections – e.g. to backlogs of material that 
requires sorting, ordering and structuring in order to make it publicly accessible.  
The JAS has significant backlogs that have built up over a period of years.  It is 
proposed that the JAS conducts a two week closure period in January 2024.  
January is the quietest month for the service in terms of public visits so would 
provide the minimum inconvenience for users.  Staff leave would be minimised in 
order to ensure that the most effective use of the closure was made. 

 
11.2 The benefits of a closure period include: 
 

• The ability to identify additional space within repositories by sorting and 
consolidating material; 

• Better management of collections, so improving the accessibility of material 
by the public. 

• The removal of duplicate material (e.g. Ordnance Survey mapping) which can 
be disposed of. 

 
11.3 Public enquiries and any urgent official requests for information would still be 

responded to and should permission be given to undertake a closure period, it 
would be widely advertised so as to alert anyone planning to come to DHC of the 
situation. 

 
12. Conclusion 

12.1 The JAS has reviewed and refined its strategic priorities in its 2021-26 service 

plan.  The JAS continues to work hard to deliver the service plan priorities and to 

Page 31



balance its commitments and aspirations against the funding provided by the two 

councils as well as externally-generated income.  Once the position in relation to 

the future of archive storage is known, the service can dedicate time to either a 

capital scheme on-site or to pursuing other collections-related projects. 

 

Sam Johnston 

Service Manager for Archives and Records 

 

1. Financial Implications 

All activities described in this report are covered by either the JAS revenue budget, 
reserve or an externally-sourced grant. 

 

2. Natural Environment, Climate & Ecology Implications 

DHC has significantly improved its energy performance through a major project to 
reduce consumption whilst ensuring the maintenance of high-quality environmental 
controls.  This, combined with the generation of solar energy through PV panels on roof 
elevations has rendered the building highly energy-efficient. 

 

3. Well-being and Health Implications  

The JAS contributes to wellbeing outcomes for both councils and improving the quality of 
life for residents of BCP and Dorset Council areas and attracting visitors to the county lie 
at the heart of its work. 
 

4. Other Implications 

None 

5. Risk Assessment 

5.1 HAVING CONSIDERED: the risks associated with this decision; the level 

of risk has been identified as: 

Current Risk: Low 

Residual Risk: Low 

 

6. Equalities Impact Assessment 

 

The JAS has recently reviewed and updated a full EQIA.  Areas for further consideration 
include working with younger people and with black and ethnic minority groups and 

Page 32

https://dorsetcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/kate_critchel_dorsetcouncil_gov_uk/Documents/New%20folder%20(2)/There#Equalities


religious minorities.  Improved digital provision will also assist in providing greater 
access to collections for people living at some distance from Dorchester. 

 

 

7. Appendices 

Appendix 1: Joint Archives Service Plan 2021-26 
Appendix 2: Joint Archives Service Strategic Risk Register 

 

8. Background Papers 

 

• Public Service Quality Group statistics 2023 

• JAS accession records, service statistics and records. 

• Accreditation data, 2021 

• Archives Unlocked, The National Archives, 2020 

• JAS policies, revised 2023 

• Previous reports to the JAAB 
 
 

Page 33



0 
Reviewed September 2023 

 
 

 

Joint Archives Service 
 

Service 
Development 

Plan 
 

2021-2026 

 
 

 
 

Page 34



1 
Reviewed September 2023 

CONTENTS 
 
 

1 Service Description 2 

2 Vision, Mission and Goals 3 

3 Key Priorities 4 

4 Action Plan 5 

5 Service Structure 15 

6 Risk Management 16 

 

Page 35



2 
Reviewed September 2023 

 

 

 

 

1 
SERVICE DESCRIPTION 

 
The Joint Archives Service (JAS), based at Dorset History Centre (DHC), is 
operated on behalf of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council 
and Dorset Council. Partnership between the two authorities as delivered 
through the joint service sits at the heart of JAS activities and underwrites all 
aspects of its operation as detailed in the service plan.  
 
The JAS is the county’s only accredited archive service as designated by The 
National Archives. Records Management and Local Studies Library services 
are operated on behalf of Dorset Council via separate budgets.    
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Service Development Plan will: 
 

• Articulate the JAS’s ambition to excel in its role as custodian of the 
county’s physical and digital archives and records 

 

• Clarify the core functions or ‘business as usual’ activities of the JAS 
 

• Describe planned projects and/or workstreams over the period 2021-26 
 

• Demonstrate how the service contributes towards the corporate 
outcomes of the two funding authorities 

 

• Provide key information about the service to enable evaluation and 
analysis of its performance 

 

• Build on the analysis and recommendations of consultancy report A 
Review of the Dorset Joint Archives Service by Elizabeth Oxborrow-
Cowan and Associates (February 2021) 

 

• Be regularly updated to reflect the current status of particular activities. 

PURPOSE 

Page 36

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/g5068/Public%20reports%20pack%2013th-Apr-2021%2014.00%20Joint%20Archives%20Advisory%20Board.pdf?T=10


3 
Reviewed September 2023 

•  

 

 

 
 
 
 

2 
VISION, MISSION, & GOALS 

 
 
 
 
 
The archival heritage and authentic record of Bournemouth, 
Christchurch, Dorset and Poole will be preserved by the Joint 
Archives Service and used to inform, educate and inspire our 
communities through collaboration and innovation. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

To acquire, preserve and make accessible the archives of 

Bournemouth, Christchurch, Dorset and Poole and so promote 

cultural, economic, educational and social well-being; to act as 

the corporate memory for the two funding bodies. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
We will: 
 

• Be an open and innovative organisation, known and trusted by all 
 

• Lead in developing systems and services which enhance the 
management and care of archives, records and local studies materials 

 

• Increase the use of and access to archives and other heritage assets 
through a wide range of digital and public engagement activities 

 

• Constantly improve what we do through partnership and collaboration 
  

• Actively promote equality of access to services and the diversity of 
collections held by the JAS. 

 
 

OUR VISION 

OUR MISSION 

OUR GOALS 

Page 37



4 
Reviewed September 2023 

 

 
 
 
 

3 
KEY PRIORITIES 

 

The key priorities of the JAS are to: 
 

Actively acquire archives relating to Bournemouth, Christchurch, Dorset and 
Poole and to work through all available means to preserve, conserve and 
promote access to them to optimum effect 

 

Design and deliver digital preservation services across both authority areas 

 

Provide efficient, innovative and quality digital and place-based services which 
deliver rewarding experiences for all JAS customers and value for money for 
the two funding authorities 

 

Engage a wide variety of audiences with digital and physical resources and 
events, recognising barriers to involvement and working actively to dismantle 
these 

 

Encourage and sustain on-site and remote volunteering so adding value 
through delivering targeted programmes of work 

 
Develop and maintain partnerships with a range of organisations both public 
and private and to pursue project opportunities which both enhance funding to 
the JAS and deliver positive outcomes and mutual benefits to all parties 

 

Efficiently manage and enhance the DHC building including the provision of 
sufficient long-term archival storage space, so increasing value for money for 
customers, collections and staff 

 
Selected corporate priorities of the funding authorities to whose 
outcomes the JAS contributes: 
 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

BCP Council – Draft Vision, Priorities and 
Objectives (2023): 

• People and Communities  

• Place and Environment 
 

Dorset Council – Council Plan (2020-24): 

• Unique environment 

• Strong, healthy communities 

• Staying safe and well 
• Economic development 

Page 38



5 
Reviewed September 2023 

 
 
 
 

4 
ACTION PLAN 

 

Red Amber Green (RAG) Summary 

 
The total number of workstreams within the current review period of the 
Service Development Plan is: 
 

Red 1 

Amber  3 

Green 17 

Total 21 

 
For ease of comprehension the JAS’s business as usual activities are listed 
adjacent to the workstream with which they have the most affinity. 
 
 

 KEY 

   

Symbols used:  Officers involved in specific workstreams: 

✓ Completed  
SJ 

Sam Johnston, Service Manager for Archives 
and Records 

 On track  
JH Jacqui Halewood, Principal Archivist 

 
Some minor 

slippage 

 
OS Owen Simons, Archivist (Collections)  

 

Delays/ 

Serious Problems/ 

Not being 

Achieved 

 
CP 

Cassandra Pickavance, Archivist (Digital 
Preservation) 

 
JP Archive Conservation Officer – Jess Pollard 

DF Deferred  LD Luke Dady, Archivist (Public Services) 

 
 

MG Maria Gayton, Community Engagement Officer 

 
 

G

A

R

Page 39



6 
Reviewed September 2023 

 

Service Development Plan: workstreams and projects  
 

Priority 1: Actively acquire archives relating to Bournemouth, Christchurch, Dorset and Poole and to work through all 
available means to preserve and conserve them to optimum effect;  

Business as usual activities: 
 

• Acquisition, appraisal, accessioning, and limited cataloguing of Council, business and community-generated archival 
material, both hard copy and digital 

• Proactive acquisition of Public Records  

• Preservation management of collections within passively managed and environmentally controlled repositories 

• Repair and conservation of documents from DHC’s own collections as well as via private commissions 

•  

 Workstream/Project Lead Outcome/Target Timeframe Current progress 
Rag 

Status 

1.1 

Targeted acquisition of archives 
especially from a range of 
sources identified through gap 
analysis.  

SJ/ 
OS 

• Building up the collection in 
areas of identified weakness 
within the DHC holdings. 

• To better reflect the 
communities of Dorset and 
BCP council area. 

• Adding to the publicly 
accessible cultural heritage 
of the county for research on 
the heritage of the county. 

• Particular focus on business 
and artistic archives. 

Ongoing 

• Discussions regarding a gap analysis of 
the DHC current holdings.  Part of capital 
project build-up 

• Likely to require extra staff capacity or 
Community Engagement projects to 
successfully acquire collections from some 
communities. 

• Depositors strongly encouraged to help 
fund costs of archive storage. 

• Need to develop better systems to acquire 
BCP corporate archives in the absence of 
an RM service. 

 

1.2 

Selected purchase of documents 
(auction etc) using the DAT 
purchase fund 
 

SJ 
Acquiring for public ownership 
items that would otherwise be 
sold privately. 

Ongoing 
steady 
stream of 
material 
acquired. 

Steady stream of purchases assisted by 
Dorset Archives Trust 
https://www.dorsetarchivestrust.org/archives/
document-purchases  

 

 

G

G

P
age 40

https://www.lowcarbondorset.org.uk/dorset-history-centre-case-study/
https://www.dorsetarchivestrust.org/archives/document-purchases
https://www.dorsetarchivestrust.org/archives/document-purchases


 

7 
Reviewed September 2023 

 Workstream/Project Lead Outcome/Target Timeframe • Current progress Rag 
Status 

1.3 
Externally funded document 
preservation and conservation. 

JP 

Rendering damaged/unusable 
documents available for 
digitisation and public access via 
projects. 

Ongoing – as 
and when 
opportunities 
arise 
 

• New conservator has been with the 
service since Autumn 2022. 

• Successful application to NMCT 
(£15k grant to work on Dorset 
Authors).  Nearly complete 

• £21k grant to work on railway plans. 

 

1.4 

Transfer archival content on 
obsolete and at-risk audio-visual 
formats and removable digital 
media to digital preservation 
system 

CP 
At risk archives are preserved 
and remain accessible 

By 
December 
2023 

Work underway to transfer removable digital 
media to Preservica. Significant portion of 
audio-visual formats digitised in 2023..  
Likely to require resource to transfer 
remaining audio-visual formats.  
Potential regional sound digitisation project in 
development to which the JAS will contribute 
content. 

 

G

G

P
age 41



8 
Reviewed September 2023 

Priority 2: Design and deliver digital preservation services across both authority areas 
 
Business as usual activities: 
 

• Raising awareness of digital preservation and offering advice and support to stakeholders generating and transferring digital 
archives.  

• Proactive acquisition of council-generated hard copy and digital records in close collaboration with records management 
colleagues in both funding councils 
 

 Workstream/project Lead Outcome(s) Timeframe Current progress 
Rag 

Status 

2.1 

Fully resourced JAS digital 
preservation strategy resulting in 
robust digital continuity for JAS 
and its clients: 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.u
k/documents/information-
management/understanding-
digital-continuity.pdf 
 
See consultancy report chapter 3 

CP/SJ  

• Ensure the accessibility of digital 
content now and in the future. 

• Reduction in risk and guarantor of 
the councils’ corporate memories 

• Collaborative opportunities with 
other local authorities. 

• Work with IT and records 
management colleagues over 
electronic records management and 
systems integration. 

• Preservation of cultural heritage of 
the county. 

• Protect investment in digitisation by 
preserving digital surrogates. 

Ongoing 

• Longstanding use of Preservica 
software, now integrated with 
Epexio re: public access. 

• Significant ingest of both BCP 
and Dorset Council records 
include committee records from 
Modern.Gov system and 
adoption records from both 
councils.  

• Growing skills base within JAS 
team. 

• Resourcing challenges as 
workload in this area grows. 

• Much work to be done to align 
proprietary systems (e.g. 
Planning) with Preservica. 

 

2.2 

Local authority consortium using 
Preservica software. Led by 
DHC, now includes 21 members 
in a new 5-year contract (to May 
2027. 

SJ/CP 
To deliver cheapest possible price for 
access to digital preservation software 
and to share skills and knowledge. 

April 2019-
present. 
 

• Optimum number of members 
have joined to maximise financial 
benefits.   

• Professional network of 
Preservica users led by DHC is 
valued and engaged with 

 

 

 

G

G

P
age 42

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/documents/information-management/understanding-digital-continuity.pdf
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/documents/information-management/understanding-digital-continuity.pdf
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/documents/information-management/understanding-digital-continuity.pdf
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/documents/information-management/understanding-digital-continuity.pdf


9 
Reviewed September 2023 

Priority 3: Provide efficient, innovative and quality digital and place-based services which deliver rewarding experiences 
for all JAS customers and value for money for the two funding authorities; 
 
Business as usual activities: 
 

• High quality provision of access to original archives and local studies material on-site at DHC 

• Processing of enquiries from members of the public relating to a wide variety of subject matter  

• Selective digitisation of archival material to enhance access to DHC-held collections and by private commission 
 

 Workstream/Project Lead Outcome(s) Timeframe Current Progress 
RAG 

status 

3.1 

Participation in Public Services 
Quality surveys of archive 
services 
 

LD 

Score of at least 90% 
‘satisfied’ or ‘very satisfied’ 
 
 

2024 (biennial) 
 
 
 

There was a Survey of Visitors in 2022, DHC 
rated an average 9.4/10 by visitors.  
Between October and December 2023 DHC 
will be undertaking a Distance User Survey 
and results from this will be available in early 
2024. 

 

3.2 Archive Accreditation 
SJ/Al
l 

Meet the standard set by The 
National Archives covering 
wide range of service 
activities and functions 

Next full 
accreditation 
review in 2023 

Service successfully accredited in 2018. 
Service successfully re-accredited in Oct 
2021 following ‘light touch review’. 
Full re-accreditation submission in November 
2023. 

 

3.3 

Continue to develop Epexio 
archive catalogue and its links to 
Preservica together with public 
front end. 
 
See consultancy report chapter 4 

JH/ 
LD/C
P/OS 

To increase the quality and 
varied means of access to a 
greater quantity of DHC- 
collections online. 
 
More publicly available 
collections-related data, 
including access to digital 
material through Preservica. 
(See also Priority 2) 

Business as 
Usual 

Continue on-site volunteering to enhance 
catalogue.  
Remote volunteering via Epexio improves 
quality of customer access to collections and 
offers wider volunteering experience. 
Further functionality development: 

• Provide paid for access to digital archives 

• Document ordering 

• Geolocation of collections to facilitate map 
based searching 

•  

 

 

G

G

G

P
age 43



 

10 
Reviewed September 2023 

3.4 

Further investigate development 
of online mapping resource such 
as Know Your Place or similar 
working with Historic Environment 
Service (now integrated into the 
Archives and Records Service). 

See consultancy report chapter 4 

JH/ 
LD 

Enhanced access to 
collections. 
Potential to link to other SW 
resources 
 

We hope that 
this will form 
part of the 
capital project 
delivery. 

Potential to form part of NLHF-funded capital 
project public engagement programme or to 
be actioned as a standalone project for which 
external funding could be sought. 
Preliminary research has been undertaken 

 

3.5 

2 members of JAS staff will be 
developed via the Level 7 
Apprenticeship (3 years) funded 
through the Apprenticeship Levy. 

LD 

Staff development and 
professional progression via 
national scheme (led by The 
National Archives). 

2023-2026 

Will reduce capacity within the public service 
team due to 1 day per week study 
implications. 
SW cohort including a member of DC’s 
Records Management team. 
Starts October 2023 

 

A

G

P
age 44



11 
Reviewed September 2023 

Priority 4: Work with a wide variety of audiences and through public engagement and advocacy to raise the profile of 
DHC, to encourage access to and appreciation of the archival resource;  
 
Business as usual activities: 
 

• Delivery of outreach services including talks, project design, workshops, tours and engagement with stakeholders, 
educational institutions and community groups 

• Provision of digital services including the online catalogue, website, social media, blogs and material hosted by 
Ancestry.co.uk  
 

 Workstream/Project Lead Outcome(s) Timeframe Progress 
RAG 

status 

4.1 
Continue to work with the 
Cultural Hub and the Cultural 
Education Partnership 

JH/ 
MG 

To identify opportunities to work 
with BCP schools, other cultural 
providers and creatives to develop 
stimulating resources for 
engagement with archives in 
educational settings. 

Ongoing  

Innovative mixed media resource 
developed and delivered 
Contributions to schools’ ‘artist in residence 
‘projects’  

 

4.2 

Community engagement - 
support and facilitation for a 
range of externally-resourced 
groups and projects to 
enhance access to and 
enjoyment of archival 
heritage. 

MG 

Positive engagement with a range 
of groups and subject matter. 
Value of archives as source 
material for a wide span of uses. 

Ongoing – ad 
hoc Ongoing 
– ad hoc and 
subject to 
individual 
project 
schedules 

Groups include: 
 

• My Creative Life 

• Telephone Friendship Group 

• Valise Noire 

• Gypsy, Romany, Traveller (Kushti Bok) 

• Bridport Arts; Poole Lighthouse 

 

4.3 

Digital promotion, advocacy 
and outreach, through a range 
of social media platforms and 
DHC presence on DC & BCP 
corporate websites and 
intranets– Digital 
Development Group 
 
See consultancy report 
chapters 3 & 4 

LD/JH 

• Raise the profile of DHC to 
customers and stakeholders 

• Provide detailed information on 
DHC and first point of contact  

• Attract new audiences 

• Help to sell services and 
generate income. 

• A Digital Development Strategy 

Ongoing – 
Digital 
Development 
Strategy by 
the end of 
2022 

Work has been slowed due to the pressure 
of other demands.  It still remains an 
aspiration. 

 

A

G

A

P
age 45



12 
Reviewed September 2023 

Priority 5: Increase and sustain on-site and remote volunteering so adding value through delivering targeted programmes 
of work; 
 

 Workstream/Project Lead Outcome(s) Timeframe Progress 
RAG 

status 

5.1 

Developing a strong on-site 
and remote volunteer 
programme. 

See consultancy report 
chapter 3 

OS/JP/
MG/LD
/CP 
 

• Delivering critical ‘added value’ 
capacity, sorting, repackaging, 
listing collections and for 
Community Engagement 
projects 

• Involving the community in the 
life of DHC and its collections. 

• Includes work experience 
opportunities for young people. 

• Wider range of projects for 
volunteers to engage with 
(digitisation, research, oral 
history, conservation, 
cataloguing, collections 
indexing). 

Ongoing 
and review 
annually 

• Remote volunteering opportunities 
delivered via Epexio, e.g. geo-tagging. 

• Service is reorganising and re-focusing its 
volunteering offer and programme post-
Covid and in the light of technological 
change. 

• Maintain standards gained through 
Investors in Volunteers. 

• Volunteering numbers have recovered 
post-Covid. 

 

5.2 
Dorset Archives Trust (DAT) 

www.dorsetarchivestrust.org 
 

SJ/JH 

Mobilising the effective support of 
DAT for DHC projects through its 3 
key priorities: 

• Fundraising 

• Collections development 

• Advocacy 

Ongoing 
annual 
review 
Annual 
review prior 
to AGM 

Membership steadily increasing. 
Events programme based around archive 
collections. 
Crowdfunding for Hardy archive project. 
Successful funding bids on behalf of DHC 
priority projects will be important in terms of 
fundraising in the event of a capital project. 

 

 

G

G

P
age 46

http://www.dorsetarchivestrust.org/


13 
Reviewed September 2023 

Priority 6: Develop and sustain partnerships with a range of organisations both public and private and to pursue project 
opportunities which both enhance funding to the JAS and deliver mutual benefits; 
 

 Workstream/project Lead Outcome(s) Timeframe Current progress 
Rag 

Status 

6.1 

Seek external funding for 
collections related projects 
including cataloguing, 
conservation and selective 
digitisation  

SJ/JH 

• Make large quantities of new 
material available to the public. 

• Assist preservation through 
digital facsimiles; 

• Increase the JAS’s online 
presence via catalogue and 
other digital tools. 

• Complement scarce core 
resources. 

Ongoing, 
but subject 
to available 
funding 
opportunitie
s and 
programme
s 

Reliant upon opportunities to seek funding 
through either public or private sources. 
 
Collections requiring investment include: 

• Wessex Water 

• Quarter Sessions 

• ‘Dorset Authors’ (Hardy, Barnes, Townsend 
Warner) 

• Records of local government and 
predecessor councils 

 

6.2 

Archives South West – 
regional head of repository 
group working on strategic 
areas of mutual interest. 

SJ/CP 

• Share knowledge and skills 

• Promote archival best practice 

• Partnership fundraising 
opportunities  

Ongoing – 
project 
based 
activity 
subject to 
funding 

Several successful joint projects including 
analysis of newspaper digitisation and a planned 
major bid to NLHF entitled ‘Saving South West 
Sounds’.   

 

6.3 

Investigate partnerships with 
academic institutions to better 
exploit DHC-held collections 
and encourage student and 
academic interest in archives. 
 

SJ/OS/
JH 

• Strong links to regional HE 
institutions 

• Possible collaborative projects 

• Opens up new potential sources 
of funding through external 
grants. 

 
Ongoing; 
annual 
review of 
MoUs and 
project 
opportunitie
s via 
academic 
department
s. 

Positive activities: 
(i) Building relationship via MoU with 

Bournemouth University through the capital 
scheme and library services. 

(ii) Links with AUB re: Poole Pottery and Frink 
archives 

(iii) Opportunities emerging with BU and its BA 
in Public History – work experience and 
extended project placements. 

(iv) MoU signed in 2020 with University of 
Exeter. 

(v) Student travel fund (DAT).  

 

G

G

G

P
age 47



14 
Reviewed September 2023 

Priority 7: Efficiently manage and enhance the DHC building including the provision of sufficient long-term archival 
storage space, so increasing value for money for customers, collections and staff; 

 

 Workstream/project Lead Outcome(s) Timeframe Current progress 
Rag 

Status 

7.1 

Capital project; extension of DHC 
building to ensure adequate 
future space for collections. 
 
See consultancy report chapter 6 

All 

• Ensure appropriate storage is 
available for the next 25-30 years of 
hard copy archive acquisition. 

• Ensure that the best value ‘full life’ 
solution is agreed. 

• Wide programme of public and 
community engagement across the 
county (if NLHF-funded). 

• Improve public access to the 
building 

EoI approved 
by NLHF in 
May 2022.  
New EoI 
required due 
to expiry of 
submission 
window. 

• ‘Light touch’ review of options 
appraisal (2013) to confirm best 
solution for additional 
accommodation (May 2021). 
Further options appraisal in May 
2023 

• Currently awaiting a decision from 
the two funding councils. 

 

7.2 

Take part in Dorset Council 
energy efficiency initiatives and 
projects. 
Pursue the improvement of the 
fabric of the DHC building  

SJ/JH 

To improve fabric and energy 
consumption in DHC building – (heat 
pump and low energy lighting, roof and  
facias and soffits, lift) 

2022 

• DC has been awarded funding for 
improved energy efficiency 
projects. 

• New PV solar arrays added to 
DHC roof summer 2022. 

 

R

G

P
age 48



15 
Reviewed September 2023 

5. Service structure 
 

 

Senior Site Support Officer

 . 

Service Manager for

Archives and Records

 . 

Principal Archivist

 . 

Archivist

(Collections 

 . 

Collections

Assistant

(digital preservation 

 . 

Archivist

(Digital

Preservation 

 . 

Collections Assistant

 . 

Archive

Conservation

Officer

 . 

Community

Engagement

Officer (Archives 

 . 

Archivist

(Public services 

 . 

History Centre Assistants

  x  .    
  x    hours per week part 

time

Museums Advisor

For BCP and Dorset

Councils

 .  

                            
                       

  x reception staff

(funded via DC

Customer Services  

Data and

Information
Manager  . 

Records

Management
Officer (Level   
 . 

Corporate Director for Customerand Cultural

Finds Liaison Officer

(hosted by DC
managed by SWHT 

Senior

Archaeologist
 . 

Records

Management
Officer
(Level   

 . 

 N.B. Post of Museums Advisor is funded

jointly by BCP and Dorset Councils and

Arts Council England and is not part of the
Joint Archives Service.

Records management and HER are

delivered on behalf of Dorset Council only.
      hours of HCA capacity is funded via

DCC Local Studies budget (a non JAS

function .

Archivist

(Hardy Project 

 .  F T   months

(externally funded P
age 49



 

16 
Reviewed September 2023 

5. Risk Register 
September 2023 

Archives Service Strategic Funding 
(Risks have been listed in order of severity) 

 

Risk Scoring 

    Im
p

a
c
t 

H 6 8 9 

L = Low M 3 5 7 

M = Medium L 1 2 4 

H - High   L M H 

   Probability 

 
 

 
Risk 
No. 

 
Risk 

Description 

 
Likely Impact 

if Risk 
Occurs 

Im
p

a
c
t 

H
/M

/L
 

P
ro

b
a

b
ility

 

H
/M

/L
 

S
c

o
re

 

 
Counter 

Measures 

 
Comment 

1 Core Funding: 
continued risk 
to local 
government 
funding from 
2024/25. This 
will need to be 
factored into 
the JAS’s 
ability to 
maintain 
current levels 
of service 
delivery. 

Further 
reductions in 
standards, 
levels and 
capacity of 
services 
offered by JAS 
- potentially 
taking it below 
the minimal 
effective level 
through the 
loss of distinct 
functions 

 
 
 
 

H 
 

 
 
 
 

H 

 
 
 
 
9 

 

Consultants’ 
report 
indicates few 
obvious 
additional 
sources of 
revenue not 
already 
accessed. 
Ensure 
understanding 
of value for 
money 
through 
benchmarking 
and TNA 
Accreditation. 
Importance of 
digital 
preservation 
in supporting 
business 
continuity and 
will require 
increased 
resourcing in 
the future. 

Standstill 
budgets in 7 of 
9 years. 
Inflationary 
pressure 
specifically 
from national 
pay agreement 
and business 
rates rise. 
Important to 
gauge the 
views of the 
two unitary 
councils on the 
role and 
priorities  

 

2 Failure to 
develop 
preferred option 

Finite and 
diminishing space 
within 

 
 

H 

 
 

H 

 
 
9 

Discussions 
between BCP and 
DC to establish 

Project will be 
pursued once 

Page 50



 

17 
Reviewed September 2023 

to provide extra 
space for JAS 
collections 

repositories. DHC 
would, in time, 
have to start 
refusing material. 
Failure to 
preserve 
corporate 
memory or 
Dorset’s heritage. 
Potential revenue 
cost implication if 
space has to be 
rented. 

the terms on 
which a capital 
project might be 
undertaken. 
 
Full life cost of 
DHC extension is 
the cheapest 
solution. External 
storage would be 
much more 
expensive in the 
long term. 
 

clear trajectory is 
established. 

3 Funding for 
digital 
preservation is 
not continued 
and work 
concludes 
without long-
term sustainable 
solution. 

Failure to provide 
digital 
preservation 
services for 
funding 
authorities and 
wider community. 
Information loss 
and/or data 
corruption. 
Potential legal 
implications. 

 
 

H 

 
 

M 

 
 
7 

Prove the long-
term benefits of 
digital 
preservation and 
the risks and 
consequences of 
not having such a 
system. DC 
finance in place 
until 2021. 
Consortium model 
has halved costs 
to each member. 
Need BCP 
Council to adopt 
digital 
preservation via 
Preservica. 

• The JAS is 
leading the 
local authority 
sector in 
working on 
digital 
preservation. 

• Information 
loss/corruption 
is a major risk 
to the 
corporate 
memory of 
both 
authorities. 

• Evidence of 
growing 
understanding 
of digital 
preservation 
and its 
benefits. 

 
 
4 

Dorset Archives 
Trust: failure to 
sustain Dorset 
Archives Trust 
due to lack of 
external interest 
and low capacity 
to support from 
within DHC. 

No revenue 
impact; loss of 
support in 
communities, 
harm to 
reputation and 
loss of potential 
for special 
projects and 
funding to benefit 
Dorset’s archives. 

 
 
 
M 

 
 
 
L 

 
 
 
3 

• Cultivate 
new 
trustees to 
strengthen 
body. 

• Ensure 
alignment 
of DHC 
activities 
and those 
of DAT. 

Body increasing 
in confidence and 
understanding. 
Very positive 
results in terms 
of fundraising. 

 

 
 
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Joint Archives Board 

8 November 2023 

Joint Archives Service: Review of Fees and 
Charges 
 

For Recommendation to Cabinet 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr L Beddow, Culture and Communities    
Cllr Andy Martin, Customer, Communications and Culture, 
BCP Council 

 
Local Councillor(s): All 

Executive Director: J Sellgren, Executive Director of Place  
     
Report Author: Sam Johnston  
Title: Service Manager for Archives and Records; 
Tel: 01305-228929;  
Email: sam.johnston@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk;  
 
Report Status:  Public 

 
Brief Summary: The report provides a review of fees and charges with 

recommendations for changes in the Joint Archives Service’s fees and charges 

to take effect 1 April 2024. 

 
Recommendation: It is recommended that the revised fees and charges (set out 
in Appendices 1) be recommended to the executive bodies of the two funding 
councils for implementation from 1 April 2024. 
 
Reason for Recommendation: To sustain the Joint Archives Service’s budget 
and income levels and meet the inflationary income target set as part of the 
budget building process.     
 

 

 

 

Page 53

Agenda Item 10

mailto:sam.johnston@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
https://apps.geowessex.com/stats/


1. Background 
 

1.1 The Joint Archives Service’s fees and charges were last reviewed at the 

Joint Archives Advisory Board meeting on 14 November 2022 and came 

into force on 1 April 2023 

1.2 It is proposed that the revised fees and charges set out in the Appendix be 

implemented with effect from 1 April 2024. 

1.3 At its meeting in May 2006, the Board agreed to give the County Archivist 

(now Service Manager for Archives and Records) the discretion to set and 

vary initial prices and to negotiate discounts as appropriate for new 

products or services between reviews and that these should be reported 

and recommended to the Board in the following review of fees and 

charges. Recent additional or revised charges are included in Appendix 1. 

2. Review  

2.1 As is usually the case, it is not proposed to raise all charges where the 

Service is still in line with the market and comparable organisations.  The 

charges have been compared with some services in the longstanding 

Benchmarking Group; Surrey History Centre and Hampshire Archives 

Service as well as comparison with other archive services in the South-

West. 

2.2 Evidence of occasional customer resistance encountered by the service to 

some of the charges and the above market comparisons suggest that 

these service charges are at the upper end of what the customer base will 

tolerate. 

2.3 Therefore, all charges have been reviewed in an attempt to broadly meet 

the income target increase of 5% in line with Dorset Council guidelines.  

2.4 As previously reported the significant changes to the method of delivery of 

some services in recent years has enabled the service to deliver digital 

copying through electronic transfer or email in preference to printing or 

copying to CD and posting.   

2.5 The commercial reproduction rates revised last year, following review 

against other museum and archive services are now embedded in the fee 

charging structure. 

2.6 Car parking charges at Dorset History Centre are regulated through a 

Traffic Regulation Order in force since 2018 and are changed in line with 

the charges levied by Dorset Council  

Page 54



3. Conclusion 

3.1 This report has set out proposals for various amendments to the JAS’s 
schedule of fees and charges.  Increases have been proposed only where it 
is felt that they are realistic, are linked to inflationary pressures and where 
there have been improvements or changes to the method of delivery and 
standard of provision. 

 

John Sellgren 
Executive Director for Place 

 

4. Financial Implications 

Any increase in income through the proposed adjustments to fees and 

charges will assist in supporting the work of the JAS. 

5. Natural Environment, Climate & Ecology Implications 

None 

6. Well-being and Health Implications  

None 

7. Other Implications 

None 

8. Risk Assessment 

8.1 HAVING CONSIDERED: the risks associated with this decision; the level 

of risk has been identified as: 

Current Risk: Low 

Residual Risk: Low 

 

9. Equalities Impact Assessment 

The JAS has completed a full EQIA.  Areas for further consideration 
include working with younger people and with black and ethnic minority 
groups and religious minorities.  Improved digital provision will also assist 
in providing greater access to collections for people living at some 
distance from Dorchester. 
 

10. Appendices 

Page 55

https://dorsetcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/kate_critchel_dorsetcouncil_gov_uk/Documents/New%20folder%20(2)/There#Equalities


Appendix 1:  Proposed Fees and Charges 2024/2025 

11. Background Papers 

None 
 
  

Page 56



Appendix 1 
 

Dorset History Centre Fees and Charges from 1st April 2024/2025 
 

 
2023/24 

2024/25 
new price 

(changes in bold) 

Photocopies/ Microform print out ordered and supplied during visit 

Photocopies/MF printout (B&W) (A4 or A3) £1.00 £1.20  

Photocopies/MF printout (colour) (A4 or A3) £2.00 £2.50 

Minimum charge for photocopies/MF ordered and supplied 
by post, includes up to 4 A4 or A3 sheets 

£8.50 £9.00 

Postage and packaging From £2.20 From £2.50  
  

Digital copying services - supplied by email/electronic transfer 

TIFF images £9.50 £9.50 

JPEG images £6.50 £6.50 

Additional consecutive pages in bound volumes £2.00 £2.00 

Handling charge £3.00 £3.00 

Sound/film files (dependent on file size) £9.50 From £9.50  

Tithe maps and apportionments £20.00 £20.00 

Resupply by WeTransfer admin fee  £5.00 £5.25 

Supply of files on CD £6.00 £6.30  
  

Public self-service copying  

Photocopying (B&W) (A4) £0.25 £0.50 

MF printout £0.70 £1.00 

Printout from computers £0.70 £1.00 

Photography permits (half day) £7.00 half day £8.00 half day 

Photography permits (whole day) £12.00 whole 
day 

£14.00 whole day 

Photography permits (week) £32.00 £35.00  
  

Certification services  

Certification of copies (including searching for specific 
entries, copies and certification) 

£18.00 £19.00 

Baptism or burial certificate from a parish register entry – 
Adjusted annually (1st January) in line with the fee charged 
by the Church of England 

£36.00 £36.00 

   

   

   

Page 57



Research/consultation and advice services 

Enquiries (30 minute look-up) £15.00 £16.00 

Research service (per hour) £38.00 £38.00 

One-to-one surgery - research topic consultation (per hour) £32.00 £33.00 

Commercial Research (inc. consultation/advice) £65.00 £70.00 

Magistrates (per hour) £38.00 £40.00  
  

Conservation services  

Treatment proposal (where items assessed at DHC) (per 
hour) (If the treatment proposal is accepted this fee is 
deducted from the final fee) 

£38.00 £38.00 

Conservation - collection condition survey and written report 
(at customers site) (per hour) Travel costs are charged in 
addition 

£38.00 £38.00 

Conservation treatment fee (per hour) £68.00 £68.00  
  

Community engagement, outreach and education services  

Offsite talk, lecture (standard talks) £75.00 £78.00 

Online talks by DHC staff for other organisation (standard 
talks) 

£65.00 £65.00 

Onsite talk/lecture; introductory tours and visits £65.00 (for up to 
12 people) 

£68.00 (for groups 
up to 12 people) 

Bespoke/specialist talks requiring substantial research £85.00 £85.00 

Online events (talks/workshops) organised by DHC £6.00 per 
person 

£6.00 per person 

Onsite workshop/training session (oral history or family 
history) 

£125.00 (for 
groups up to 10 
people) 

£130.00 (for 
groups up to 10 
people) 

Offsite workshop/training session (oral history or family 
history) 

£135.00 (for 
groups up to 10 
people) 

£140.00 (for 
groups up to 10 
people) 

Full day workshop  £16.00 per 
person 

£16.00 per person 

Downloadable education packs £21.00 (variable 
depending on 
pack) 

£21.00 (variable 
depending on 
pack) 

Outreach taught session at school (incl. copies of 
documents, transcripts, and session plans) (2 hours) 

£85.00 (plus 
travel expenses) 

£90.00 (plus travel 
expenses) 

Outreach taught session at DHC (incl. copies of documents, 
transcripts and session plans, lecture room hire and original 
records (2 hours) 

£85.00 £90.00 

Miscellaneous 

Coffee/tea in common room £2.00 £2.50  
  

Page 58



Hire of lecture room 

Mon-Fri, 9am-5pm (2 hour booking minimum) (full rate) £16.00ph £17.00 ph 

Mon-Fri, 9am-5pm (2 hour booking minimum) (charity rate) £13.00ph £13.50 ph 

Saturday, 1st Saturday of the month, per hour (2 hour 
booking minimum) (full rate) 

£16.00ph (plus 
admin fee) 

£17.00 (plus 
admin fee) 

Saturday, 1st Saturday of the month, per hour (2 hour 
booking minimum) (charity rate) 

£13.00ph (plus 
admin fee) 

£13.50 (plus 
admin fee) 

Saturday - when DHC is closed On request  

Evenings  On request  

Cancellation fee (less than 3 days notice) £20.00 £25.00  
  

Car parking - tied to DC charges (Fees subject to Dorset Council prices and may change) 

Monday-Sunday 8am-6pm   

Up to 30 mins  £0.50 

Up to 1 hour £1.00 £1.00 

Up to 2 hours £1.50 £1.50 

Up to 3 hours £2.20 £2.20 

Up to 4 hours (no return) £3.50 £3.50 

Disabled badge holders maximum stay of 3 hours Free  

 

Commercial fees and charges 

Books, periodicals, journals, exhibition catalogues 

One country, single language publication (print run <1000) £20.00 £25.00 

One country, single language publication (print run >1000) £30.00 £35.00 

Worldwide publication £40.00 £50.00   
 

Local publications   

Local society/author (Dorset only) £15.00 £15.00 

Local society/author (national) £18.00 £18.00 

Dissertation £15.00 £15.00   
 

Newspapers, magazines 

Local (Dorset) £30.00 £32.00 

National £50.00 £55.00 

Worldwide £100.00 £105.00   
 

Film, TV 

Single image in television programme, national or 
worldwide 

£50.00 £55.00 

Page 59



Broadcast and film rights, national or worldwide £200.00 £210.00 

TV film or radio company filming/recording on site (to incl. 
venue hire, staff time) 

£120.00 ph £126.00 ph 

Set up time for filming (For furniture moving etc) £40.00 ph £45.00 ph   
 

Lectures, talks, exhibitions (non-DHC) 

Educational/ temporary £10.00 per image £10.00 per image 

Commercial/ permanent £50.00 per image £55.00 per image 

Local, Dorset based society (Proposed new charge) 
 

£10.00 

   

Internet 

Personal blog, including YouTube/other video websites £10.00 per image £12.00 per image 

Commercial website £50.00 per image £55.00 per image 

 
 

Page 60



Joint Archives Board 

8 November 2023 

Joint Archives Service: Review of policies 
 

For Review and Consultation  

Portfolio Holder: Cllr L Beddow, Culture and Communities    
Cllr Andy Martin, Customer, Communications and Culture, 
BCP Council 

 
Local Councillor(s): All 

Executive Director: J Sellgren, Executive Director of Place  
     
Report Authors:   Sam Johnston  
Title:    Service Manager for Archives and Records; 
Tel:    01305-228929 
Email:    sam.johnston@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk;  
 
Report Status:  Public 

Brief Summary: 

The Joint Archives Service (JAS) maintains a policy library which underwrites its 
commitment to high quality, standards-based best practice.  It is particularly important 
that the service reviews and updates its policies to ensure compliance with any changes 
in the legal or professional landscape.  The review is undertaken every three years.  It is 
also critical that policies have undergone scrutiny by the JAB as the JAS’s oversight and 
governance body.  In late November, the JAS will be submitting its application to The 
National Archives for re-Accreditation so the Board’s endorsement of the service’s suite 
of policies is a key part of this process. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
It is recommended that the Board endorses the policies detailed within this report. 
 
Reason for Recommendation:  

 
Effective oversight of the Joint Archives Service and its activities by the Joint Archives 
Board is required under the terms of the Inter-Authority Agreement on Archives, 2022  
 
1. Background 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 11

mailto:sam.johnston@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


1.1 The Joint Archives Service (JAS) maintains a policy library which underwrites its 

commitment to high quality, standards-based best practice.  It is particularly 

important that the service reviews and updates its policies to ensure compliance 

with any changes in the legal or professional landscape.  The policies are made 

available via the JAS’s website. 

 

1.2 The review is undertaken every three years.  In most cases, amendments to 

policies are not substantial but reflect changes in national standards or best 

practice which the service is keen to incorporate into its operating model.  They 

also reflect the new administrative make-up of the county following Local 

Government Reorganisation. 

 

1.3 In late November 2023, the JAS will be submitting its application to The National 

Archives for re-Accreditation so the Board’s endorsement of the service’s suite of 

policies is a key part of this process as it demonstrates to potential funders and 

to the wider public that the JAS is conversant with the political, economic, social 

and environmental context in which it is operating. 

2.  Policies 

2.1 Access Policy.  This policy provides a framework for the Joint Archive Service 
based at Dorset History Centre in providing access to collections onsite, off-site 
and online. The policy also links to the service’s undertakings in respect of being 
as open and accessible to all audiences as possible.  The full policy can be found 
in Appendix one. 

2.2 Acquisition Policy.  The aim of this policy is to define and publish the basis on 

which the Joint Archives Service acquires or disposes of archives, records and 

local studies material, the geographical basis on which it approaches this and its 

interaction with other collecting bodies.  The full policy can be found in Appendix 

two. 

2.3 Collections Care and Conservation Policy.  This policy provides a framework 

for the Joint Archives Service in caring for and managing the records held at the 

Dorset History Centre for future generations and in providing appropriate access 

to the archives and the information contained within them.  The full policy can be 

found in Appendix three. 

2.4 Collections Development Policy.  The aim of this policy is to indicate the type 

of records that are underrepresented within the Joint Archives Service’s holdings 

and to describe the methods and strategies by which this situation is being 

addressed.  The full policy can be found in Appendix four. 

2.5 Collections Information Policy.  This policy explains the information the Joint 

Archives Service collects on the material it receives and how it describes, 

processes, and controls its collections.  DHC recognises that correct and proper 

Page 62



documentation of its collections, through both accessioning, cataloguing, 

disposal, and location management is essential for proper collections 

management and enabling public access.  The full policy can be found in 

Appendix five. 

2.6 Digital Preservation Policy.  The purpose of this policy is to affirm the Joint 

Archives Service’s formal commitment to address the challenges surrounding the 

indefinite preservation and accessibility of the unique digital archives of 

Bournemouth, Christchurch, Dorset and Poole.  The full policy can be found in 

Appendix six. 

2.7 Digitisation Policy.  The purpose of this policy is to explain how the Joint 

Archives Service will approach the digitisation of original archives and local 

studies publications held at DHC, and how the resulting digital resources are 

managed and made accessible.  The full policy can be found in Appendix 

seven. 

2.8 Learning and Public Engagement Policy.  The purpose of this policy is to 

detail the types and range of learning and outreach offered by the Joint Archives 

Service.  The full policy can be found in Appendix eight. 

2.9 Preservation Policy.  The purpose of this policy is to provide a framework for 

preserving collections within the custody of the Joint Archives Service for future 

generations.  The full policy can be found in Appendix nine. 

2.10.1 Volunteer Policy.  This policy outlines the nature of the partnership relationship 

that we have with our volunteers, the mutual benefits and obligations that 

underwrite this and the approach taken by the Service in order to ensure fairness 

and transparency in its dealings with volunteers including those working 

remotely.  The full policy can be found in Appendix ten. 

3 Financial Implications 

The JAS’s policies underwrite the service’s commitment to operate in as efficient 

and financially-prudent fashion as possible. 

4 Natural Environment, Climate & Ecology Implications 

The JAS’s policies clarify the service’s commitment to working to support both 

councils’ efforts to reduce energy consumption through the efficient management of 

the DHC building and the increase in digital provision. 

5 Well-being and Health Implications  

None 

6 Other Implications 

Page 63



None  

7 Risk Assessment  

7.1 HAVING CONSIDERED: the risks associated with this decision; the level of risk 

has been identified as: 

Current Risk: Low 

Residual Risk: Low 

 

8. Equalities Impact Assessment 

The JAS has completed a full EQIA.  Areas for further consideration include 
working with younger people and with black and ethnic minority groups and 
religious minorities.  Improved digital provision will also assist in providing greater 
access to collections for people living at some distance from Dorchester. 

 

9. Appendices 

• Appendix one: Access Policy 

• Appendix two: Acquisition Policy 

• Appendix three: Collections Care and Conservation Policy 

• Appendix four: Collections Development Policy 

• Appendix five: Collections Information Policy 

• Appendix six: Digital Preservation Policy 

• Appendix seven: Digitisation Policy 

• Appendix eight: Learning and Public Engagement Policy 

• Appendix nine: Preservation Policy 

• Appendix ten: Volunteer Policy 
 

10. Background Papers 

None 
 
John Sellgren 
Executive Director for Place 

 
  

Page 64

https://dorsetcc-my.sharepoint.com/personal/kate_critchel_dorsetcouncil_gov_uk/Documents/New%20folder%20(2)/There#Equalities


Appendix One 
 
 

Dorset History Centre 
Bridport Road  

Dorchester  
DT1 1RP 

 
 
 
 
 
Service Description 
The Joint Archives Service (JAS), based at Dorset History Centre (DHC) is 
operated on behalf of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council, and 
Dorset Council.  Partnership between the two authorities as delivered through the 
joint service sits at the heart of JAS activities and underwrites the protocols and 
processes by which DHC acquires material.  This is enshrined in the 2022 Inter-
Authority on Archives which was approved by the Cabinets of both councils. 
 
Local history services (primarily local studies library material) are provided locally 
at Poole History Centre and Bournemouth Library’s Heritage Zone 
respectively. 
 
DHC is the sole local authority archive within the county with Accredited status as 
conferred by The National Archives.  Local studies library services and the Historic 
Environment Record are operated on behalf of Dorset Council. 
 
Our Vision 
That Dorset History Centre is the physical and virtual hub for the archival and 
recorded heritage of the county of Dorset in both hard copy and digital formats. 
 
Our Mission 
To acquire, preserve and make accessible the archives of the county of Dorset 
and so promote cultural, economic, educational and social well-being. 
 
1. Introduction and Background 
1.1 The JAS is a publicly funded archive service. It was established as Dorset 

Record Office in 1955 with three key purposes: the acquisition of important 
archival material relating to the wider county of Dorset, including 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole, its preservation and the provision 
of access to that material by the public. These three core functions remain. 

 
1.2 Dorset History Centre (DHC) makes this material accessible to visitors 

onsite as well as providing worldwide access online; through a range of 
off-site activities; and via an enquiry service and the provision of digitised 

Access Policy 
 

September 2023 

September 2023 

Page 65



material as appropriate. DHC offers on- and off-site learning and 
participation opportunities. 

 
1.3 The service holds over 10,000 separate collections with well over 100 new 

collections added every year. Archive material held at DHC dates to 965; 
material consists of documents, maps, plans, photographs, film and sound. 

 
1.4 These records are used by a wide variety of people and for a variety of 

reasons. This includes not only leisure pursuits such as family history but 
also educational, official and legal purposes. 

 
1.5 The JAS provides access in accordance with the Freedom of Information 

Act, 2000 and the General Data Protection Regulation, 2018. As a result, 
in a small minority of cases, there will be restrictions on access to records 
which contain sensitive personal information e.g., coroner’s courts or 
hospital records. 

 
1.6 Some materials may be unsuitable for public viewing due to their fragile 

condition. Wherever possible it would be the intention of the JAS to make 
these items available in digital surrogate form instead. 

 
1.7 Some records may have a ‘closure’ period which was negotiated with the 

depositor when they were at the point of transferred to DHC. It would 
always be the preference of the service to try and reach an accommodation 
between the need for confidentiality where it exists and a genuine request 
for information from a member of the public. 

 
2. Aim and Purpose 
2.1 This policy provides a framework for the JAS in providing access to 

collections onsite, off-site and online. It is intended to support the service’s 
commitment to opening up the archive collections to as many people as 
possible, both current users and new audiences. 

 
3. Scope 
3.1 Access applies equally and inclusively to archives and local studies library 

material. 
 
3.2 All staff at DHC work to promote access to the collections held by the 

service. This includes providing a warm welcome and help with enquiries, 
listing material so it can be found through the online catalogue and 
providing material in digital format. 

 
3.3 The service undertakes cataloguing, conservation, and digital preservation 

to underpin its work in preserving and making accessible hard copy 
archives. For more information please see the Collections Care and 
Conservation Policy (2023) and the Digital Preservation Policy (2023). 

Page 66



 
3.4 Access to the collections is also provided through the community outreach 

and learning activities of the service in accordance with the Learning and 
Public Engagement Policy (2023). 

 
4. Equality and Diversity 
4.1 The JAS completed an Equalities Impact Assessment in 2022 which has 

been published online. In essence this delivered a positive review of the 
JAS’s attempts to provide access for all, but it also highlighted some areas 
where further work was required. 

 
4.2 The JAS is aware that some people may find it harder to access our 

collections due to their location, income, level of education, personal needs 
or cultural experience. The service is working towards improved 
representation of excluded groups in our collections, and fosters 
partnerships with community groups who have connections with new 
audiences. 

 
5. Access on-site 
5.1 The DHC building is broadly compliant with the Equalities Act, 2010. It has 

wide level access doorways including through automatic doors at the main 
entrance, and audio loop systems at reception desks and in the Lecture 
Room, an accessible toilet and a lift to the first floor. 

 
5.2 A team of fully trained and welcoming staff are available to assist the public 

in identifying the most suitable potential sources for their research. Support 
is provided for using the onsite computers and advice on handling the 
documents and carrying out research is also available. We have a large 
key keyboard computer and an electronic magnification device for people 
with visual impairment or low vision; and height adjustable work desks to 
aid customers with movement limitations. Staff receive training in 
supporting people with less visible disabilities and active outreach aims to 
provide opportunities for a wide range of abilities and backgrounds. 

 
5.3 In addition to personal visits, staff deal with enquiries by telephone, post 

and email. 
 
5.4 The JAS welcomes feedback on its performance and any suggestions as 

to how we might improve the service for customers. We provide customer 
feedback forms and participate in the Archives and Records Association 
surveys of archive users run by CIPFA, as well as welcoming comments 
in person or via email. 

 
5.5 Access to archives at DHC is free. DHC is a member of the Archives and 

Records Association’s Archives Card scheme and those users wishing to 
view original documents need to register. Access to the local studies library 

Page 67



and the family history sources (microform, transcripts and Public Access 
computers) does not require any form of registration. 

 
5.6 Access to collections information is presented in both hard-copy 

catalogues available in the searchroom and online, along with guides to 
particular types of record or areas of research. 

 
6. Access off-site 
6.1 In accordance with the Learning and Outreach Policy (2023) the JAS 

provides talks, workshops, and training within our capacity, to encourage 
the understanding and enjoyment of archives.  

 
6.2 The JAS supports a range of organisations in project work and grant 

applications. The service values collaborative activities and welcomes 
opportunities for partnership working across Bournemouth, Christchurch, 
Dorset and Poole. 

 
6.3 Off-site activities include talks, exhibitions, workshops, work with 

community groups as well as schools and colleges and project activities 
such as oral history training and research support. 

 
7. Access online 
7.1 The JAS provides worldwide access to a large quantity of its family history 

resources via Ancestry.co.uk. Access to this resource is free on-site at 
DHC and Dorset’s other public libraries. 

 
7.2 The JAS provides free online access to the catalogues of its collections. 

The online catalogue is hosted on the Dorset Council website. As 
cataloguing of the material is undertaken these are regularly updated. 

 
7.3 DHC will continue to increase digital resources and aim over time to make 

more collections-related material (both catalogues and content) available 
online. Material from collections will be digitised in accordance with the 
Digitisation Policy (2023). 

 
7.4 The JAS features on Dorset Council’s website with pages that provide 

information on how to access and use the service along with guides to 
particular types of record or areas of research. The web pages and social 
media are used to showcase interesting aspects of the collection and to 
raise the profile of the service. 

 
8. Volunteers 
8.1 The JAS recruits volunteers who are a vital form of additional capacity and 

expertise within the JAS’s range of activities. Volunteers at DHC learn skills 
and work within a sociable context and the JAS benefits from their input. 

Page 68



The service provides support for a limited number of volunteers with 
additional needs. 

 
8.2 The JAS is also supported by the Dorset Archives Trust (DAT). This 

charitable body carries out fundraising to support projects, assist with 
collections management and provides financial support to volunteers.  

 
8.3 Dorset Archives Trust also holds events which relate to the collections held 

at DHC to raise awareness of the service. 
 
9. Review of the Policy 
9.1 The policy will be reviewed in consultation with interested organisations, 

stakeholders and individuals every 3 years to take into account any new 
legislation, regulations, guidance, or business practices. The date for the 
next review of the policy will be September 2026. 

 
10. Further information or comment 
10.1 Copies of this policy are available in large print. 

 
10.2 To comment on this policy or for further information about it, contact the 

Service Manager for Archives and Records at: 
Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP Tel: 01305 
250550 
E-mail:  archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Website:  www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorsethistorycentre 
  

Page 69

mailto:archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorsethistorycentre


Appendix two 
 

              
 

Service Description 
The Joint Archives Service (JAS), based at Dorset History Centre (DHC) is 
operated on behalf of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council, 
and Dorset Council.  Partnership between the two authorities as delivered 
through the joint service sits at the heart of JAS activities and underwrites the 
protocols and processes by which DHC acquires material.  This is enshrined in 
the 2022 Inter-Authority on Archives which was approved by the Cabinets of 
both councils. 
 
Local history services (primarily local studies library material) are provided 
locally at Poole History Centre and Bournemouth Library’s Heritage Zone 
respectively. 
 
DHC is the sole local authority archive within the county with Accredited status 
as conferred by The National Archives.  Local studies library services and the 
Historic Environment Record are operated on behalf of Dorset Council. 

 
Our Vision 
That Dorset History Centre is the physical and virtual hub for the archival and 
recorded heritage of the county of Dorset in both hard copy and digital formats. 
 
Our Mission 
To acquire, preserve and make accessible the archives of the county of Dorset and 
so promote cultural, economic, educational and social well-being. 
 

1. Aim and Purpose 
 
1.1 Definition: Archives are documents (hand-written, printed items, maps, 

plans, slides, postcards, photographs, audio-visual material, digital 
records and comparable items in diverse physical formats) from all dates. 
The specific areas of interest for the JAS in terms of acquisition are 
detailed in Section 5 of this document. 

 
1.2 The aim of this policy is to define and publish the basis on which the Joint 

Archives Service acquires or disposes of archives, records and local 
studies material. 

Dorset History Centre 
Bridport Road 

Dorchester  
DT1 1RP 

 

 

 

Acquisition  
Policy 
 

September 2023 

 

September 2023 

 

Page 70



 
1.3 DHC is the principal archive repository for the post-1974 geographical 

county of Dorset.  It seeks to acquire and hold archive and local studies 
collections which represent the history, lives and activities of the people, 
communities and organisations within the geographical county of Dorset 
through the ages, aiming to cover all parts of the area and as wide a 
range of institutions and subjects as possible. 

 
1.4 The development of the collections will be planned, as far as possible, to 

support the strategies and objectives of both councils, the policies, 
strategies and interests of relevant national and regional agencies and 
local stakeholders, including users.  The JAS will endeavour, wherever 
possible to locate and acquire material relating to under-represented 
groups and reflective of social, political, economic and environmental 
change. 

 
1.5 This policy operates in conjunction with the Local Studies Collecting Policy 

(March 2011) of Bournemouth Libraries, the Acquisition and Disposal 
Policy 2016-21 of Poole Museum Service and Russell-Cotes Arts Galley & 
Museum’s Collections Development Policy 2021. 

 
1.6 Through consultation with colleagues in BCP Council agreement has been 

reached relating to the acquisition, management and accessibility of 
archives:  

 
(i) Where archives are offered to either authority by external agencies, 

they will be forwarded to the JAS as the agreed proper place for the 
storage of archival material by the two councils.   

 
(ii) In the case of archives already held by BCP Council, the JAS will work 

with colleagues in each place to secure their transfer to DHC primarily 
by working to digitise content which can then be accessed locally. 

 
(iii) Appropriate officers of both authorities will work to secure the transfer 

of important council records from service units in compliance with 
agreed retention schedules to form part of the respective corporate 
archives held on their behalf at DHC. 

 
1.7 Regular discussion and consultation with officers in BCP Council and 

Dorset Council will always underwrite attempts to secure the transfer of 
archives to DHC. 

 
2.  Background 
 
2.1 The JAS acquires, preserves and makes accessible archives, records, 

local studies and literary material for use by present and future 
generations.  DHC makes these collections accessible to visitors as well 
as providing worldwide access online and through a range of off-site 
activities. 

 

Page 71



2.2 The JAS is provided on behalf of BCP Council, and Dorset Council. The 
JAS ensures that the archives relating to the area, communities, people 
and families of the county of Dorset are preserved now and for the future 
and made widely available in the present. 

 
2.3 Local Studies Collections are held by the library services of BCP Council, 

and Dorset Council.  
 
2.4 The principal collection for the Dorset Council area has, by agreement 

with Dorset Library Service, been situated at DHC since December 2005. 
This collection comprises reference material only.  The Dorset Authors 
Collection was transferred to DHC in December 2010.   

 
2.5 Local studies reference collections are maintained at Bridport, 

Christchurch, Ferndown and Weymouth Libraries and smaller community 
libraries, and all Dorset Libraries hold Local Studies lending stock.   

 
2.6 The Poole Local Studies collection is held at the Poole Local History 

Centre, part of Poole Museum Service. 
 

2.8 Bournemouth Local Studies collection is located within the ‘Heritage Zone’ 
at The Bournemouth Library. 

 
3. Statutory Position/Legal Framework 
 
3.1 The JAS acquires material in accordance with a statutory framework 

which includes the following: 
 
3.1.1 Local Government (Records) Act 1962: enables all local authorities to 

promote the use of their records and empowers county and county 
borough councils to acquire records by purchase, donation or deposit. 

 
3.1.2 The Public Libraries and Museums Act, 1964: compels local authorities to 

provide a comprehensive library service including both lending and 
reference material.  

 
3.1.3 Local government Act 1972 (section 224): places an obligation on 

‘principal authorities’ to make proper arrangements for documents that 
belong to them or are in their custody.  

 
3.1.4 Public Records Acts 1958 and 1967: DHC is recognised as a Place of 

Deposit under the Public Records Acts and acquires Public Records 
under the authority of the Acts. 

 
3.1.5 Archive Service Accreditation – the programme administered by The 

National Archives.  It consists of a standards framework which includes 
the acquisition and disposal of archives.  DHC was first accredited in 
2018. 

 

Page 72



3.1.6 Manorial Document Rules 1959 and Tithe (Copies of Apportionment) 
Rules 1960: DHC is a designated place of deposit for manorial and tithe 
records and is a Historical Manuscripts Commission Approved Repository.  

 
3.1.7 Parochial Registers and Records Measure 1978 (amended 1993): DHC is 

designated by the Bishop of Salisbury as the official place of deposit for 
records of Dorset parishes located in the Diocese of Salisbury. 

 
3.2 Items held at DHC are made available within the parameters of the Data 

Protection Act (2018), The Freedom of Information Act (2000) and The 
Environmental Information Regulations (2004).  

 
3.3 The JAS will abide by future legislation relating to archives, local studies 

and records management. 
 
4. Standards 
 
4.1 DHC has adopted the policies set out by The National Archives in A 

Standard for Record Repositories (2004), the Museums and Galleries 
Commission’s Code of Practice on Archives for Museums in the United 
Kingdom (1996) and Centres for Social Change: Museums, Galleries and 
Archives for all and the Government Policy on Archives. 

 
4.2 At DHC archives and local studies special collections are stored in high 

quality accommodation which meets fully the British Standard for the 
storage and exhibition of archival documents (BS 4971:2017). 

 
5.  Scope of the Collections 
 
5.1 Record Types:  The JAS acquires collections of archives and records 

that relate entirely or principally to the administrative areas of BCP 
Council, and Dorset Council.  Within this remit, it acquires: 

 
5.1.1 The records of BCP Council, Dorset Council and their predecessor 

bodies; 
 

5.1.2 Records of other local authorities and statutory bodies relevant to the 
county of Dorset; 

 
5.1.3 Local public records offered to the service under the terms of the Public 

Records Acts; 
 
5.1.4 Records of Church of England parishes, rural deaneries and 

archdeaconries in the Diocese of Salisbury within the geographical county 
of Dorset; 

 
5.1.5 Records of organisations, businesses, estates, churches, societies, other 

public and private institutions, families and individuals wholly or 
substantially relating to the county of Dorset. 

 
5.2 Exclusions 

Page 73

https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/documents/government_policy.pdf


 
5.2.1 DHC will not acquire artefacts or objects except in exceptional 

circumstances and where such items complement and are integral to the 
archival collection of which they form part. 

 
5.2.2 The acquisition of archives and records outside the current stated policy 

will only be made in exceptional circumstances and then only after proper 
consideration and consultation, having regard to the interests of other 
repositories. 

 
5.3 Local Studies and Dorset Authors Collections 
 
5.3.1 The Local Studies Collections include: 
 
5.3.2 Monographs, maps, serials, yearbooks, pamphlets and newspapers which 

have substantial Bournemouth, Christchurch, Dorset or Poole content: a 
guideline minimum of 25%.  In the case of Dorset Authors, material of 
interest relates to writers whose work is principally based in the county 
and offers a literary perspective on Dorset and its people;  

 
5.3.3 Published video and audio recordings should also contain at least 25% 

Dorset content;  
 
5.3.4 Supplementary reference material to support local and family history 

research. 
 
5.4 The Local Studies Collection will not duplicate items also located in the 

archival collections. 
 
6. Methods of Acquisition  
 
6.1 Archive Collections 
 
6.1.1 The methods of acquisition for archival material are: 

• Transfer from Council Departments 

• Transfer from Records Management Unit 

• Donation 

• Deposit on indefinite loan 

• Purchase 
 
6.1.2 Acquisitions are accepted in accordance with current terms and 

conditions.  Please see Terms of Agreement for the Deposit of Archives at 
Dorset History Centre (2020).  DHC will endeavour to ensure valid title to 
material offered to it and reserves the right to refuse legally questionable 
material. 

 
6.1.3 Loans of archives for specific purposes or periods may also be accepted. 
 

Page 74



6.1.4 Potential acquisitions will be assessed by professional staff from the 
History Centre at the time of their accession to assess their suitability for 
long term preservation.   

 
6.1.5 Items will only be purchased if they are deemed to be of cultural or 

informational importance to  the history of Dorset. 
 
6.1.6 Donations or deposits will be acknowledged in writing. 
 
6.1.7 DHC is indebted to all those who have placed records in its care for use 

by the public. At the same time depositors of collections on indefinite loan 
receive substantial benefits. There is a formal deposit agreement between 
the owner and the Service. This sets out the obligations of each. Under 
this agreement the Service undertakes to store the archives appropriately, 
to carry out necessary cataloguing, conservation or reprographic works 
within its resources and priorities and to make them available to the 
public. To justify the expenditure in preserving, conserving and 
cataloguing deposited archives, the agreement stipulates that collections 
should normally remain at DHC for at least twenty years or a charge may 
be made to cover part of the costs incurred. 

 
6.1.8 There is no mandatory charge for the deposit of archives at Dorset History 

Centre.  However, the financial implications associated with long-term 
storage are significant.  In order to off-set the costs to the JAS’s funding 
authorities, depositors of records are encouraged to make a voluntary 
contribution towards the costs of storage on a per box basis.  They are 
also asked to consider associated costs of cataloguing, conservation and 
digitisation. 
 

6.1.9 DHC, in consultation with a collection’s owner or donor, may transfer 
groups of documents to a more suitable repository, if it is found that they 
belong more properly with records in another repository. 
 

6.1.10 DHC, in accordance with the wishes and requirements of donors and 
depositors, evaluates and selects for destruction or return to the owners, 
documents not deemed to be worthy of permanent preservation. The final 
appraisal of collections will take place when they are catalogued. 
 

6.1.11 Transfer and appraisal will comply with all legislative requirements, 
notably the Public Records Acts. 

 
6.2 Local Studies Collections 
 
6.2.1 The methods of acquisition for Local Studies material are: 
 

• Transfer from stock from Dorset libraries;  

• Donation/gift, not loan; 

• Purchase 
 

7.  Selection Policy 
 

Page 75



7.1 Archive Collections 
 
7.1.1 Collections of archival material: archival material should be worthy of 

permanent preservation. Appraisal criteria for selection are informed by 
national guidelines and a desire to select samples of records that illustrate 
different aspects of the history of Dorset.  Material selected must be able 
to demonstrate significant informational or cultural value in order to be 
retained.   

 
7.2 Dorset Local Studies Collection: DHC 
 

7.2.1 Monographs: Single reference copy of all books (including booklets and 
pamphlets) about Dorset (or with significant Dorset content). 

 
7.2.2 Serials representative of Dorset life and history; 

 
7.2.3 Ordnance Survey maps of Bournemouth, Christchurch, Dorset and Poole. 

Goad Shopping Plans which cover the principal towns in Dorset area; 
 

7.2.4 Published audio-visual recordings.  
 

7.3 Dorset Local Authors  
 

7.3.1 Monographs: Single reference copy of works (including booklets and 
pamphlets) of fiction, poetry, drama and other imaginative literature, with 
significant Dorset content; also books on the literary heritage of Dorset. 
Books of local authorship, with no local content, would not normally be 
held in this collection.  
  

7.3.2 Theses, articles and audio-visual material about local authors and the 
literary heritage of Dorset.  

 
8.  Disposal procedures 
 
8.1 Archives 
 
8.1.1 DHC presumes against the withdrawal of any documents selected for 

permanent preservation, unless the owner requests the return of 
deposited documents.  

 
8.1.2 Where deposited material is subsequently deemed not to be worthy of 

permanent preservation the depositor will be contacted to ascertain 
whether they wish to reclaim the material. If the depositor does not wish to 
reclaim the material or cannot be contacted after reasonable efforts have 
been made to do so, it will be destroyed as confidential waste. 

 
8.1.2 DHC holds cultural and informational assets in trust for future generations.  

It operates with a strong presumption against the sale of any owned 
collections.  DHC abides by the precepts of both the Archive Service 
Accreditation standard and the ARA’s Code of Conduct, both of which 
explicitly oppose the sale of archives. 

  

Page 76



8.2 Local Studies 
 
8.2.1 All Local Studies stock at the DHC will be periodically reviewed by the 

Archivist (Public Services).  
 
8.3 Copy material 
 
 

8.3.1 Copies of archives relating to the geographical county of Dorset and held 
in other repositories are acquired to support and enrich the collections 
held and for the benefit of local research 

 
9.  Liaison and consultation 

 
9.1 DHC consults and/or liaises with other bodies across Bournemouth, 

Christchurch, Dorset and Poole regarding the acquisition of documents 
and Local Studies material in which there may be a common interest. It 
will also consult whenever this policy is revised. 

 
10.  Public Access 
 

10.1 Archives 
 

10.1.1 Archive collections will be catalogued or listed in order to provide public 
access, subject to the requirements of confidentiality and where resources 
exist to undertake such work.  

 

10.1.2 Archive collections are accepted only on the basis that they will become 
accessible to the public in due course, allowing for statutory and/or agreed 
closure periods. 

 

10.2 Local Studies 
 

10.2.1 All Local Studies material is available for public consultation. A small 
section of rare and valuable material is held in the DHC strongroom and 
produced as archival material in the supervised searchroom. 

 

11.  Publication of information 

 
11.1 Information relating to new accessions is made available via a public 

report to the Joint Archives Board, published in paper and electronic 
format on DHC’s web pages.  Additionally, an annual return of accessions 
is made to The National Archives. 

 
12.  Review of the Policy 
 

12.1 The policy will be reviewed in consultation with interested organisations, 
stakeholders and individuals every 3 years.  It will next be reviewed in 
September 2026 

 

13.  Further information or comment 
 

13.1 Copies of this policy are available in large print. 
 

Page 77



13.2 To comment on this policy or for further information about it, contact the 
Service Manager for Archives and Records at: 

 

Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP 
Tel:   01305 250550 
E-mail: archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Website: www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorsethistorycentre  

  

Page 78

mailto:archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorsethistorycentre


Appendix three 
 
 

              
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Description 
The Joint Archives Service (JAS), based at Dorset History Centre (DHC) is 
operated on behalf of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council, 
and Dorset Council.  Partnership between the two authorities as delivered 
through the joint service sits at the heart of JAS activities and underwrites the 
protocols and processes by which DHC acquires material.  This is enshrined in 
the 2022 Inter-Authority on Archives which was approved by the Cabinets of 
both councils. 
 
Local history services (primarily local studies library material) are provided 
locally at Poole History Centre and Bournemouth Library’s Heritage Zone 
respectively. 
 
DHC is the sole local authority archive within the county with Accredited status 
as conferred by The National Archives.  Local studies library services and the 
Historic Environment Record are operated on behalf of Dorset Council. 

 
Our Vision 
That Dorset History Centre is the physical and virtual hub for the archival and 
recorded heritage of the county of Dorset in both hard copy and digital formats. 
 
Our Mission 
To acquire, preserve and make accessible the archives of the county of Dorset and 
so promote cultural, economic, educational and social well-being. 

 
1 Introduction/Background 
1.5 The JAS operates an integrated Collections Care and Conservation policy to 

deliver the long-term preservation of all the collections in its care. 
 
1.6 The staff directly involved in this are the Archivist (Collections), the Archives 

Conservation Officer and the Collections Assistant (Reprographics), 
supported and assisted by volunteers. 

 

Dorset History Centre 

Bridport Road 

Dorchester  

DT1 1RP 

 

 

 

Collections Care 
& Conservation 
Policy 
 

September 2023 

September 2023 

 

Page 79



1.7 This team provides technical advice, expertise and support to other staff in 
the service in preserving all the collections whether deposited, gifted or 
owned by the JAS for future generations. 

 
2 Aim and Purpose 
2.5 This policy provides a framework for the JAS in caring for and managing the 

records held at Dorset History Centre for future generations and in 
providing appropriate access to the archives and the information 
contained within them. 

 
3 Scope 
3.5 Preservation is the retention and maintenance of material over time whilst 

Collections Care is the management of all risks to the collections, 
including physical risks inherent in the item or risks from other items with 
which it is stored, theft, vandalism and poor handling, fire, water, pests, 
pollutants, light, incorrect temperature and/or humidity as well as those 
risks associated with its management in storage, use or display. 
 

3.6 Conservation is the direct application of interventive remedial treatment and 
non-interventive preventive measures to arrest material deterioration and 
promote the physical preservation and accessibility of an item or 
collection. 
 

3.7 This policy applies to the management of the physical risks to the collections 
at the Dorset History Centre and describes the type and extent of 
interventive conservation that will be undertaken and in what 
circumstances.  This policy should be read in conjunction with the 
Preservation Policy (2023) and Digital Preservation Policy (2023). 

 
4 Collections Care and Conservation Principles 

 
4.5 All risks to collections will be assessed, and measures put in place to control 

them. The aim is to stabilise and preserve the original physical object 
where it is damaged and/or at high risk of damage during storage and/or 
use.  Conservation practise is designed to arrest deterioration through 
understanding its mechanisms and applying scientifically investigated 
treatments and preventive measures.  This is undertaken within an ethical 
framework to ensure that the intrinsic nature of a document is not altered, 
and that recognised professional standards are maintained.   

  
4.6 Conservation includes examination, documentation, preventive measures, 

remedial treatment, and sympathetic repair where it is necessary to 
achieve stabilisation. No attempt is made at restoration and any 
supplementary materials introduced as part of this process must be 
distinguishable from the original in order to avoid the possibility of 
compromising or falsifying the original material evidence.  

 
4.7 Any approved treatment will be carried out in accordance with the following 

general principles of archive conservation: 

• Preventive measures will be taken to minimise the risk of damage. Handling 
training will be given to all staff and volunteers. Documents will be packaged, 

Page 80



stored and handled in a manner designed to reduce both chemical and 
mechanical damage as far as possible.  

• Documents/collections at risk of damage due to high demand and/or poor 
condition will be made accessible, where possible, by providing a surrogate 
copy such as a digital image. 

• Wherever possible, items shall be preserved in the original form and condition 
that exist when referred for conservation, except where these significantly 
jeopardise their life expectancy or prevent access, in any suitable format, to 
the information they hold. 

• Framed archival documents and photographs will be de-framed by 
conservation staff before being stored in the repository. This may be reviewed 
if the frame is deemed to be integral to the interpretation of the object. If an 
item is de-framed information pertaining to the object or its provenance that is 
attached to the backboard will be removed (as possible) by conservation and 
retained. 

• Conservation treatment shall usually be restricted to consolidation and, if 
necessary, stabilisation to the extent that items can be digitised for access and 
last for a significant time into the future when stored in appropriate conditions 
and handled infrequently.  

• Detailed conservation work will only be carried out on significant objects i.e. 
material with historic, symbolic or physical interest or value. Archive staff will 
be consulted regarding the importance of specific records. 

• Information held within items selected for treatment shall not be lost as a result 
of this process or be placed at risk of future loss as a consequence of 
treatment. 

• All conservation treatment will be detectable and reversible. 

• A full conservation record will be kept of all interventive treatment. It will record 
the structure of the object prior to treatment, an assessment of its condition 
including the results of any diagnostic tests, a consideration of the options for 
treatment as appropriate, and a report of all treatments carried out and all 
chemicals, materials, and processes used. These records will be maintained 
indefinitely. 

• All materials and procedures used for preventive or remedial treatment will 
meet British/International Standards and/or current conservation requirements 
for suitability of purpose, in order to avoid introducing harmful components to 
documents, users, or the environment, and to maximise performance over the 
long term. 

• The range of items treated shall be determined by the facilities and resources 
available and the skills of the conservation staff; where appropriate, suitable 
training and development shall be acquired to maintain or supplement this 
range. 

• A reporting system, linked to the archive management program, is in operation 
for any member of the JAS staff to refer individual items or collections that 
they consider require assessment for conservation treatment. 

• Conservation treatments will be approved after consultation between 
conservators and archivists. This will ensure that all available historical, 
scientific and technological information concerning the effects of treatment on 
the object have been considered. 

 

Page 81



4.8 Conservation staff are expected to continually review their conservation 
practice in the light of on-going research and development in the field, and 
to interpret the conservation policy according to professional standards 
and best practice. 

 
5 Standards and legislation 

 
5.5 The JAS aims to adhere to standards and best practice for conservation. 

Standards and guidance which inform conservation strategies and 
processes developed by the JAS include the following: 

• BS 4971.2017 Conservation and care of archive and library collections 

• BS EN 16893:2018 Conservation of Cultural Heritage 

• Recommendations of BS 4971:2002 Repair and allied processes for 
the conservation of documents.  

• Icon Professional Standards and Judgement & Ethics 2020 

• The Icon Ethical Guidance 2020 

• European Confederation of Conservators Organisations (ECCO) 
Professional Guidelines and ECCO Code of Ethics  

• Best Practice Guideline 4: Preservation and Conservation: A guide to 
policy and practices in the preservation of archives, Chris Pickford, 
Jonathan Rhys-Lewis and Jerry Weber, 1997 Society of Archivists  

• European Confederation of Conservators Organisations (ECCO) 
Professional Guidelines and ECCO Code of Ethics  

• IFLA Principles for Care and Handling of Library Material, Ed. E P 
Adcock, 1998  

• National Preservation Office recommendations 
 

5.6 While every attempt is made to ensure that the standards above inform the 
implementation of the Collections Care and Conservation Policy the 
availability of resources may at times affect compliance.  

 
6 Roles and responsibilities 

 
6.5 The staff directly involved in this are the Archivist (Collections), the Archives 

Conservation Officer and the Collections Assistant (Reprographics), 
supported and assisted by a team of volunteers. 
 

6.6 All JAS staff are responsible for their own handling of the collections and for 
supervising the handling of collections by customers at DHC.  In addition, 
all staff should raise any concerns regarding the condition of individual 
items or collections with the Collections Care team and input information 
into the archive management system, as required.  
 

6.7 Conservation treatments are undertaken by appropriately qualified 
conservators, or by those trained by and under the supervision of 
appropriately qualified conservators.  
 

7 Review of the Policy 
 

Page 82



7.5 The policy will be reviewed in consultation with interested organisations, 
stakeholders and individuals every 3 years to take into account any new 
legislation, regulations, guidance, or business practices.  The next date for 
review of this policy will be September 2026. 

 
8 Further information or comment 

 
8.5 Copies of this policy are available in large print. 
 
8.6 To comment on this policy or for further information about it, contact the 

Service Manager for Archives and Records at: 
 

Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP 
Tel:   01305 250550 
E-mail:  mailto:archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 

Website: www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorsethistorycentre  

  

Page 83

mailto:
mailto:archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorsethistorycentre


Appendix four 
 

              
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Service Description  
The Joint Archives Service (JAS), based at Dorset History Centre (DHC) is 
operated on behalf of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council, and 
Dorset Council.  Partnership between the two authorities as delivered through the joint 
service sits at the heart of JAS activities and underwrites the protocols and processes 
by which DHC acquires material.  This is enshrined in the 2022 Inter-Authority on 
Archives which was approved by the Cabinets of both councils.  
  
Local history services (primarily local studies library material) are provided locally at 
Poole History Centre and Bournemouth Library’s Heritage Zone respectively.  
  
DHC is the sole local authority archive within the county with Accredited status as 
conferred by The National Archives.  Local studies library services and the Historic 
Environment Record are operated on behalf of Dorset Council.  
  
Our Vision  
That Dorset History Centre is the physical and virtual hub for the archival and recorded 
heritage of the county of Dorset in both hard copy and digital formats.  
  
Our Mission  
To acquire, preserve and make accessible the archives of the county of Dorset and so 
promote cultural, economic, educational and social well-being.  
 
1 Introduction 

 
1.5 “Imagine a world without archives. Without records, we could not prove where and 

when we were born, or who owns the property we live in. We could not trace our 
ancestry, explore our collective and individual identities, or challenge established 
views of the past. Without this collective memory, the evidence store for our 
histories, we could not hold governments and organisations to account. The 
impact of archives is felt across society: inspiring art and literature; influencing 
product design and branding; enabling insightful and pioneering research; and 
informing decision-making in organisations of all types.” (Archives Unlocked, 
Releasing the Potential, 2017).1 

                                                           
1 http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/documents/archives/archives21centuryrefreshed-final.pdf 

Dorset History Centre 

Bridport Road 

Dorchester 

DT1 1RP 

 

 

 

Collections 
Development 
Policy 
 

September 2023 

 

 

September 2023 

Page 84



 
1.6 The JAS acquires, preserves, and makes accessible archives, records, local studies, 

and literary material for use by present and future generations. DHC makes these 
collections accessible to visitors as well as providing worldwide access online 
and through a range of off-site activities. 

 
1.7 The development of the collections will be planned, as far as possible, to support the 

strategies and objectives of the two partner councils, the policies, strategies and 
interests of relevant national and regional agencies and local stakeholders, 
including users. JAS will endeavour, wherever possible to locate and acquire 
material relating to under-represented groups and be reflective of social change. 
 

2 Aim and Purpose 
 

2.5 The aim of this policy is to indicate the type of records that are underrepresented 
within the JAS’s holdings and to describe the methods and strategies by which 
this situation is being addressed. 

 
3 Scope 
 
3.5 This policy relates to all material (archives and local studies) relevant to the county of 

Dorset incorporating the areas administered by BCP Council and Dorset Council. 
It references material that is currently within the custody of the JAS and 
collections that lie elsewhere but which may at some future date be transferred to 
DHC for permanent preservation. 

 
4 Current collection strategy 

 
4.5 The JAS collects all records which the funding councils have a legal obligation to 

permanently preserve. JAS staff meet regularly with officers from different 
councils, hospitals, the police, magistrates, and other organisations to discuss 
archive policy, agree retention schedules and inform user groups of their 
activities. 
 

4.6 The JAS also offers advice to museums and libraries as to appropriate archival 
collection policies to ensure that functions are not duplicated, and that historic 
material resides in the most appropriate conditions. 
 

4.7 The JAS selectively acquires archives which represent all aspects of life in the 
geographical county of Dorset, sampling those areas where there is no statutory 
obligation to acquire, but without which future generations may not be able to 
form a clear understanding of events and decisions that were taken in the past. 
Records are appraised for their informational and/or cultural significance before 
being accepted for preservation. It is this cultural heritage, along with the natural 
and built environment and museum collections, which defines Dorset’s particular 
identity. 

 
4.8 The following types of archives have an established route of deposit at the JAS, 

though the JAS has to maintain these contacts and does need the support of the 
relevant bodies to ensure that deposits of these records continue: 

Page 85



• Records of local government: county, borough, district, town and parish 
councils, and their predecessor bodies. Transferred according to nationally 
and locally produced retention schedules.2 

• Records of national government, mostly the records of coroners, magistrates 
and county courts, hospitals, prisons and Customs and Excise.3 

• Records of religious bodies: DHC is the designated diocesan repository for 
the archdeaconry of Dorset and also receives records of other 
denominations.4 

• A wide range of archives generated by community groups, businesses, the 
arts, charities, families, estates, individuals, and other organisations.5  These 
collections form a cross-section of aspects of work, education, and leisure 
within the county. 

 
4.9 The JAS maintains a local studies library for Dorset and material is transferred from 

the Dorset Library Service to maintain this. In addition, items are donated to the 
service by individuals and groups. The following local studies material is collected 
by the JAS: 

• Local studies library material for Dorset and is solely funded in this area by 
Dorset Council. 

• Local studies stock including books, maps and audio-visual material relating 
to the county of Dorset.  

• Local studies collections including works on the history of the county and 
other areas including geology, demography, architecture and a substantial 
local authors section. 

 
4.10 The JAS acquires this material by the following methods: 

• Deposit: collections may be held on deposit for organisations which retain 
ownership such as the Church of England or Citizens Advice Bureau.  

• Donation: where ownership is passed to the JAS. Donation, rather than 
deposit, is strongly encouraged. 

• Transfer: from local and national government bodies. 

• Terms and conditions of deposit may be found on the DHC website.6  
 

                                                           
2 The latest retention schedules for schools and parish councils can be downloaded from the DHC website.  
Archivists will liaise with departments within the district, borough and county councils to establish which 
records are suitable for transfer based upon the guidance for local authorities provided by The National 
Archives: 
http://www.esd.org.uk/foi/records%20management%20retention%20guidlines%20for%20LG.pdf 
3 The new 20-Year Rule for Public Records has affected the quantity of material received at DHC. Current 
collection policy is based upon advice from The National Archives and from, the ACPO police retention 
schedule. 
4 Tithe Act, Parochial Records Measure; The JAS has also produced a reference guide to church records 
suitable for deposit. 
5 The JAS has produced a retention schedule for charities and other not for profit organisations. Examples 
of collections for which DHC has recently received cataloguing grants since 2015 include the Bankes 
estate, Poole Borough archive, Herrison Hospital, and the archive of Dame Elisabeth Frink. 
6 https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-centre/terms-of-agreement-

deposit-of-archives-at-dorset-history-centre.aspx 

 

Page 86

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-centre/get-involved/depositing-documents.aspx
http://www.esd.org.uk/foi/records%20management%20retention%20guidlines%20for%20LG.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-centre/terms-of-agreement-deposit-of-archives-at-dorset-history-centre.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-centre/terms-of-agreement-deposit-of-archives-at-dorset-history-centre.aspx


4.11 Archival material is selected according to the various retention schedules for 
different organisations however there are common appraisal principles of not 
accepting duplicates, ephemera or documents that are unlikely to be of long-term 
historic interest. Almost all physical formats and born-digital records are accepted 
unless they cannot be safely stored.7 
 

4.12 Items of historic interest that do not relate to the geographical county of Dorset 
are not accepted, except where they form an integral part of a wider Dorset 
related collection. DHC will suggest an appropriate alternative repository and 
may act as an intermediary. 

 
4.13 Periodic reviews are undertaken of the collections held at DHC to ensure that 

they contain material that is worthy of permanent preservation. Reviews are 
informed by changes to retention schedules and by national guidelines.8 In the 
rare instance that previously accessioned documents are found to be unsuitable 
for permanent retention they will be de-accessioned following a careful and 
considered process. De-accessioned documents are offered back to the 
depositor before being destroyed as confidential waste. 

 
5 Collections Development 

 
5.1 Whilst the JAS holds a range of collections that represent the life and history of 

Dorset and its people, as the culture of life in Dorset changes it is necessary to 
ensure that the collections continue to represent all aspects of life in the county. 
Therefore, the JAS has identified some areas where there is less or minimal 
representation of some types of records or records of some specific organisations in 
Dorset. 

 
5.2 As modern life is constantly changing this will be a continuing and on-going process. 

However certain areas have already been identified as requiring collections 
development: 

• Business archives, particularly those of the new industries in the geographical 
county of Dorset  

• Records of the wider religious, sexual, and ethnic minority communities  

• Records of the arts and creative life including those of artists, makers and of 
the cultural industries. 

• Records of political parties and of the parliamentary representatives (MPs) of 
the county. 

 
5.3 Since these records are not deposited at the JAS by traditional means the JAS 

requires a proactive approach to acquiring these collections.  The JAS currently 
uses a number of methods to reach the creators and owners of these records: 

• The JAS works with a range of communities in the county and supports 
community groups in project work. This raises awareness of the work of the 
JAS and enables contacts to be made with communities who may have 
records which are underrepresented in the collections. 

                                                           
7 A small number of document types cannot be safely stored at DHC. These include combustible nitrate 
negatives. DHC will advise as to the most suitable place of deposit or alternative methods of preservation.  
8 The National Archives: De-accession and disposal: Guidance for archive services OGL, 2015. 

Page 87



• The JAS also works in partnership with other services in Bournemouth, 
Dorset, and Poole who themselves have a network of contacts in their area. 
In working with these partners, the JAS aims to identify collections that may 
be worthy of long-term preservation. 

• The Learning and Outreach programme brings staff of the JAS into contact 
with a range of organisations and groups. 

• The marketing activities of the service raise awareness of the JAS and 
signposts potential depositors to useful information on the collections. 

• The JAS works with voluntary and professional organisations such as the 
Dorset Museums and the Dorset Archives Trust to create networks through 
the county as ‘the eyes and ears’ alerting the service to possible collections 

 
6 Standards and legislation 

 
6.1 There is no overarching legislation relating to the collection and preservation of 

archives. Several pieces of legislation deal with different sections of material 
preserved at DHC. 
i. For records of local government: Local Government Act 1972 and Local 

Government (Records) Act 1962. 
ii. For the records of churches and other religious bodies: the Parochial 

Registers and Records Measure 1978, amended 1992; the Tithe Act, 1936. 
iii. For the records of courts, coroners, prisons, hospitals, and other government 

bodies: the Public Records Acts 1958 and 1967; and the Constitutional 
Reform and Governance Act 2010.  

iv. For historic estate records the Manorial Documents Rules 1959 (amended 
1963 and 1967) 
 

6.2 Access to all collections complies with the Freedom of Information Act 2000, the 
Data Protection Act 2018 and Environmental Information Regulations 2004.  
 

6.3 For the Local Studies collection, the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 requires 
local authorities to maintain a “comprehensive and efficient” public library service. 
 

7 Review of the Policy 

 
7.1 The policy will be reviewed in consultation with interested organisations, 

stakeholders, and individuals every 3 years to consider any new legislation, 
regulations, guidance, or business practices.  The next review of this policy will 
take place in September 2026. 

 
8 Further information or comment 

 
8.1 Copies of this policy are available in large print. 

 
8.2 To comment on this policy or for further information about it, contact the Service 

Manager for Archives and Records at: 
 
Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP 
Tel:   01305 250550 
E-mail: mailto:archives@dorset-cc.gov.uk archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  

Page 88

mailto:archives@dorset-cc.gov.uk
mailto:archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk


Website:  www.dorsetcouncil.gov/dorsethistorycentre  
  

Page 89

http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov/dorsethistorycentre


 
Appendix five 
 

 

Service Description  
The Joint Archives Service (JAS), based at Dorset History Centre (DHC) is 
operated on behalf of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council, and 
Dorset Council.  Partnership between the two authorities as delivered through the joint 
service sits at the heart of JAS activities and underwrites the protocols and processes 
by which DHC acquires material.  This is enshrined in the 2022 Inter-Authority on 
Archives which was approved by the Cabinets of both councils.  
  
Local history services (primarily local studies library material) are provided locally at 
Poole History Centre and Bournemouth Library’s Heritage Zone respectively.  
  
DHC is the sole local authority archive within the county with Accredited status as 
conferred by The National Archives.  Local studies library services and the Historic 
Environment Record are operated on behalf of Dorset Council.  
  
Our Vision  
That Dorset History Centre is the physical and virtual hub for the archival and recorded 
heritage of the county of Dorset in both hard copy and digital formats.  
  
Our Mission  
To acquire, preserve and make accessible the archives of the county of Dorset and so 
promote cultural, economic, educational and social well-being.  

1. Aim and purpose  

Archives are documents (hand-written, printed items, maps, plans, slides, postcards, 

photographs, audio-visual material, digital records, and comparable items in diverse 

physical formats) from all dates. They are authentic and reliable records that have been 

selected through a process of appraisal as being worthy of permanent preservation 

because of their evidential, legal, and historical value. 

DHC is dedicated to preserving, sharing, and celebrating the rich heritage of Dorset. The 

service gathers archive collections and local and family history resources to ensure they 

are kept secure and made accessible 

Collections 
Information 
Policy 
September 2023 

 

 

June 2020 

 

Dorset History Centre 
Bridport Road 

Dorchester  
DT1 1RP 

 

 

 

Page 90



This policy explains the information DHC collects on the material it receives and how it 

describes, processes, and controls its collections. DHC recognises that correct and 

proper documentation of its collections, through both accessioning, cataloguing, 

disposal, and location management is essential for proper collections management and 

enabling public access. 

2. Scope  

This policy applies to archive collections relating to Bournemouth, Christchurch, Poole, 

and Dorset; local and family history resources relating to Dorset held at DHC. 

3. Point of Deposit and Accessioning  

DHC maintains an accession register for all purchases, donations, deposits, and 

transfers both in a physical volume and within our archive management system. This 

includes recording any information needed to authenticate the ownership and legal 

status of material. Every individual deposit at DHC is allocated a unique accession 

number which is subsequently linked to catalogue reference numbers. 

Information recorded includes the following:  

• Date of deposit  

• Accession number, 

• Accession category (Donation, Deposit, Transfer, Purchase etc.) 

• Any access restrictions (due to depositors’ conditions, sensitivity of information, 

etc.) 

• Name and contact details of depositor(s) 

• Any known copyright restrictions  

• Title, covering dates, and summary description of deposit  

• Extent of deposit  

• Any known administrative and custodial history 

Information concerning the physical condition of collections is also recorded at the point 

of deposit and during accessioning. Any urgent conservation interventions required are 

undertaken at this point, and the information recorded is then accessible to inform 

whether documents are unfit for production, planning for conservation elements of 

funding projects, or projects for volunteers or student placements.  

Temporary and final receipts are produced for every deposit or donation of archives. 

Related information, (including copies of receipts, correspondence, information about 

temporary/permanent withdrawals etc.) is permanently retained outside the archive 

management system in a series of donor or depositor files stored within our repositories.  

A summary of information about our accessions is submitted by DHC to The National 

Archives as part of its annual ‘Accessions to Repositories’ survey. 

4. Restrictions and Closure Periods 

DHC’s collections contain records that have access restrictions or closure periods either 

because of Data Protection legislation, advice and guidance from The National Archives 

and the Information Commissioner's Office, or they may have been imposed by the 

depositor. Dorset Council's Records Management Service and Information Compliance 

team also offer guidance and advice to the Service in this respect. Existing catalogued 

Page 91

https://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/accessions/


collections are also reviewed by DHC to ensure that sensitive or personal information is 

not released.  

DHC encourages depositors not to impose unnecessary restrictions on access to 

collections when deposited.  

Users are made aware of any restrictions on records and their rationale. Staff follow 

documented procedures to advise users of actions required to enable access to 

particular classes of restricted records. 

5. Cataloguing  

DHC catalogues its records in order to protect the integrity of its collections, enable staff 

to effectively manage the information retained for permanent preservation, and make the 

records discoverable and accessible by the public as appropriate. Qualified archivists 

plan and carry out the cataloguing following the archival principles of provenance, and 

original order. They may also allocate tasks to support staff and volunteers according to 

the complexity of the tasks required and the skills and experience of the individual, all 

whilst ensuring adherence to professional standards. Volunteers only ever work with 

non-sensitive collections. 

6. Standards  

Any new cataloguing undertaken by DHC conforms to current professional standards, 

using the principles and mandatory elements of the International Council on Archives’ 

General Standard of Archival Description (ISAD(G)). When old paper finding aids and 

catalogues are converted and added to our archive management system, all reasonable 

efforts are made to ensure conformity with the mandatory elements of ISAD(G).  

The following standards are in use at DHC for creating controlled access terms:  

• UK Archival Thesaurus 

• International Standard Archival Authority Record for Corporate Bodies, Persons, 

and Families (ISAAR, CPF)  

• National Council on Archives, Rules for the Construction of Personal, Place and 

Corporate Names  

Additionally, DHC’s cataloguing manual describes the processes and procedures 

involved in cataloguing archives and documents the in-house style.  

7. Locations and movement control  

DHC aims to keep full intellectual and physical control over the records in its custody. 

During accessioning, the location of the new accession is recorded in the Accessions 

Database and on a separate Excel locations spreadsheet. It is envisaged that these two 

systems of recording locations, along with old paper location lists that are currently being 

converted to Excel will be reduced/merged to solely being recorded in DHC’s archive 

management system. When accessions are catalogued, boxes are relabelled, and new 

locations are updated. 

The Document Production database captures the following information each time a 

document is removed from the repositories: 

• References and/or description of records being produced 

Page 92



• Date of production 

• Location 

• Initials of staff producing,  

• Surname of the researcher  

• Date of return and the initials of staff returning the documents.  

Triplicate production tickets are used when documents are produced, with one copy 

remaining at the document’s original location in the repository, one at the production 

desk, and one with the document at all times. These are then all reconciled when 

documents are returned, and the Document Production database updated. Production 

tickets are retained for five years before being destroyed. 

A Temporary Withdrawal form is completed if a depositor wishes to temporarily withdraw 

documents. This provides contact information, details of the records being withdrawn, 

the reason for withdrawal, and an estimated date of return. These details are also 

recorded in the Temporary Withdrawal database, and the completed Temporary 

Withdrawal form is filed. On the records’ return the form is signed and moved to a return 

file and the database is updated. The database highlights any outstanding loans, and 

any outstanding loans for the previous year are followed up. Items withdrawn are noted 

as such in the archive management system, and production tickets and the Document 

Production database also record this information. 

Should a record be identified as missing, a procedure is followed, with the document 

recorded on a missing documents database if still not found. This information is also 

recorded in the archive management system and is updated when the record is located. 

8. Archive Software  

DHC uses Metadatis’ Epexio Describe to maintain intellectual control over its archive 

holdings. This includes accession records, depositor details, archive descriptions 

(catalogue) and related authority files. DHC is working towards managing locations, 

conservation information, document production, and loans through the archive 

management software.  

Public access is provided to catalogue descriptions online via Metadatis’ Epexio 

Discover platform, available at https://archive-catalogue.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/. 

9. Digital Archives  

The intellectual management of digital collections is closely aligned to the process for 

physical archives. The same accessioning process is followed regardless of format. 

Digital archives are stored in DHC’s digital repository, Preservica. Technical and 

preservation metadata is stored in Preservica alongside the digital assets. 

Descriptive metadata is generated using existing file or folder names where possible. 

Archivists ensure this metadata facilitates searching and will amend if necessary. The 

digital assets in Preservica are linked to their corresponding catalogue records in Epexio 

via metadata shared between the two systems. The archive management system 

(Epexio) is the master system for descriptive metadata.  

Page 93

https://archive-catalogue.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/


10.  Backlogs and improving access  

Staffing resources for cataloguing are extremely limited. This, along with the fact that 

many of DHC’s collections were received before the development of modern standards 

for cataloguing, mean that there are significant backlogs of material that require 

cataloguing, and catalogues/indexes that require conversion into digital format from 

paper. DHC’s aim is to produce collection/fonds-level descriptions (with box-lists if 

appropriate) for all new accessions and to list small collections in full detail as soon as is 

reasonably possible. Full catalogues for collections will give detailed descriptions of the 

contents, generally down to item level with this being a document or bundle that can be 

ordered in the search room.  

DHC also carries out the following activities to improve descriptions of, and access to, its 

holdings: 

• prioritisation activities to ensure staffing resources are targeted appropriately  

• proactively exploring possibilities for external funding to catalogue significant 

collections and reduce cataloguing backlog 

• recruiting and training volunteers to create item level descriptions for box-lists, to 

enhance poorly detailed older catalogues or to contribute to externally funded 

cataloguing projects 

• encouraging owners to list their collections on a supplied template following 

guidance before donating or depositing their records with us; and importing this 

data to our online catalogue  

• converting old paper box-lists to create usable online catalogue descriptions 

(accepting that the levels of detail will be quite brief and will lack the structure 

and contextual information found in a full catalogue) 

• where necessary deaccessioning collections following appraisal, and either 

offering material back to the depositor or another suitable institution, or if 

permission has been granted, disposing of confidentially 

11. Permanent Withdrawals and Deaccessioning 

Depositors retain the right to withdraw their records from DHC. Any records that are 

permanently withdrawn from DHC have their entry in the archive management system 

updated to reflect this. Written confirmation of the records’ withdrawal is kept in the 

deposit file. Depositors are made aware at the time of deposit that DHC reserves the 

right to make a charge to cover part of the cost of any cataloguing and/or conservation 

work carried out on items within the collection should it be withdrawn. 

DHC records on deposit all permissions given by the depositor for records to be either 

returned, destroyed, or transferred to another appropriate archive if the records fall 

outside our Acquisition Policy. For deaccessioning a record of any disposal is 

permanently kept in the deposit file 

12. Equality and diversity  

DHC and Dorset Council are committed to the principles of equality and diversity in the 

workforce and in the service we provide to our customers. We recognise, respect and 

value difference and diversity.  

Page 94



DHC recognises that some of its catalogues may contain some terms which are 

offensive, and some whose meaning has changed over time. Such anachronistic and/or 

pejorative terms exist within some original records and have been retained to inform 

users of the nature and content of the sources concerned. They do not reflect the views 

of the Service or its parent councils. When creating new catalogue entries for items 

which include offensive terms, we try to include a modern explanation where possible.  

13. Roles and responsibilities  

Day-to-day collections management activities are conducted by, or under the direction 

of, qualified archivists.  

The Archivist (Collections) is responsible for policy revisions, and for ensuring the policy 

and related procedures are followed.  

14. References  

14.1. Relevant standards  

International Council on Archives, General International Standard Archival Description 

[ISAD (G)], 2nd edition, 1999  

International Council on Archives, International Standard Archival Authority Record for 

Corporate Bodies, Persons and Families (ISAAR (CPF), 2004)  

National Council on Archives, Rules for the Construction of Personal, Place and 

Corporate Names, 1997 

14.2. Other references  

This policy should be read in conjunction with our other policies, especially our access 

policy, acquisition policy, and collections development policy, to be found at 

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-centre/about-

dorset-history-centre.aspx   

Our Terms of Agreement for the deposit of archives can also be found at 

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-centre/terms-of-

agreement-deposit-of-archives-at-dorset-history-centre.aspx 

15. Review of the policy  

This policy will be reviewed in consultation with interested organisations, stakeholders, 

and individuals every 3 years. It will next be reviewed in September 2026. 

16. Further information or comment 

Copies of this policy are available in large print. 

To comment on this policy or for further information about it, contact the Service 

Manager for Archives and Records at: 

Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP 

Tel:   01305 250550 

E-mail: mailto:archives@dorset-cc.gov.uk archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  

Website:  www.dorsetcouncil.gov/dorsethistorycentre  

  

Page 95

https://www.ica.org/sites/default/files/CBPS_2000_Guidelines_ISAD%28G%29_Second-edition_EN.pdf
https://www.ica.org/sites/default/files/CBPS_2000_Guidelines_ISAD%28G%29_Second-edition_EN.pdf
https://www.ica.org/sites/default/files/CBPS_Guidelines_ISAAR_Second-edition_EN.pdf
https://www.ica.org/sites/default/files/CBPS_Guidelines_ISAAR_Second-edition_EN.pdf
https://www.archives.org.uk/images/documents/namingrules.pdf
https://www.archives.org.uk/images/documents/namingrules.pdf
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-centre/about-dorset-history-centre.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-centre/about-dorset-history-centre.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-centre/terms-of-agreement-deposit-of-archives-at-dorset-history-centre.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-centre/terms-of-agreement-deposit-of-archives-at-dorset-history-centre.aspx
mailto:archives@dorset-cc.gov.uk
mailto:archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov/dorsethistorycentre


Appendix six 

              
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Service Description 
The Joint Archives Service (JAS), based at Dorset History Centre (DHC) is 
operated on behalf of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council, 
and Dorset Council.  Partnership between the two authorities as delivered 
through the joint service sits at the heart of JAS activities and underwrites the 
protocols and processes by which DHC acquires material.  This is enshrined in 
the 2022 Inter-Authority on Archives which was approved by the Cabinets of 
both councils. 
 
Local history services (primarily local studies library material) are provided 
locally at Poole History Centre and Bournemouth Library’s Heritage Zone 
respectively. 
 
DHC is the sole local authority archive within the county with Accredited status 
as conferred by The National Archives.  Local studies library services and the 
Historic Environment Record are operated on behalf of Dorset Council. 

 
Our Vision 
That Dorset History Centre is the physical and virtual hub for the archival and 
recorded heritage of the county of Dorset in both hard copy and digital formats. 
 
Our Mission 
To acquire, preserve and make accessible the archives of the county of Dorset and 
so promote cultural, economic, educational and social well-being. 

 
1 Introduction 
1.5 The Code of Practice on Records Management issued by the Lord Chancellor under 

the Freedom of Information Act 2000 recommends that public bodies across the 
country introduce a strategy for the preservation of digital records to ensure that 
they can continue to be accessed and used and are resilient to future changes in 
technology. 

 
1.6 The JAS acquires, preserves and makes accessible archives, records, local studies 

and literary material in any format for use by present and future generations. DHC 

Dorset History Centre 
Bridport Road 

Dorchester  
DT1 1RP 

 

 

 

Digital 
Preservation 
Policy 
September 2023 

 

Page 96



makes these collections accessible to visitors as well as providing world-wide 
access online and through a range of off-site activities. 

 
1.7 Digital preservation refers to the actions required to ensure the continued and 

reliable access to authentic digital records. Unlike paper and parchment records, 
active management is required throughout the record lifecycle to ensure the 
maintenance of the integrity, authenticity and accessibility of digital materials.  
 

1.8 For legal compliance some corporate records need to be kept for up to 100 years but 
are not necessarily suitable for permanent preservation. Where these records are 
created digitally, earlier intervention is required to ensure they remain accessible 
and authentic for as long as they are needed. In this way, digital preservation 
activity can contribute to ensuring digital continuity.  
 

1.9 At present, the JAS continues to accession significant quantities of paper records, of 
which it holds over a thousand cubic metres. However, an increasing quantity is 
now being received in electronic format and DHC is itself creating digital copies of 
hard copy originals for preservation or access reasons.  
 

1.10 This digital heritage is at risk of being lost to posterity. Contributing factors include 
the rapid obsolescence of hardware, software and storage media, uncertainties 
about resources, responsibility and methods for maintenance and preservation, 
and legal barriers to digital preservation activity. 

 
2 Aim and Purpose 
2.5 The purpose of this policy is to affirm the JAS’s formal commitment to address the 

challenges surrounding the indefinite preservation and accessibility of the unique 
digital archives of Bournemouth, Christchurch, Dorset and Poole.  
 

2.6 Raise awareness of the need to address the long-term needs of digital materials 
amongst staff at BCP Council; Dorset Council and members of the public. 
 

2.7 Encourage the transfer of digital archives to DHC by individuals, organisations and 
businesses. 
 

2.8 Further procedures, standards, and guidance will be developed in future to address 
specific aspects of digital preservation. 

 
3 Scope 
3.1We exist in an increasingly digital environment with many born digital items never 

appearing in hard copy form. The corporate strategies of the two funding councils 
include the assumption that business activities will be ‘digital by default.’  There is 
also increasing awareness of the fragility of digital data and the need to be able 
to preserve it correctly. The National Archives reflected this view in its strategy for 
increasing digital preservation capacity Plugged in, Powered up9. 

3.5 This Policy applies equally to digital material received from Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole Council; Dorset Council; external depositors such as other 
local authorities, official organisations, groups and individuals; and material 
created in-house as accessible surrogates for use in and beyond DHC.  

                                                           
9 https://nationalarchives.gov.uk/archives-sector/projects-and-programmes/plugged-in-powered-up/ 

Page 97

https://nationalarchives.gov.uk/archives-sector/projects-and-programmes/plugged-in-powered-up/


 
3.6 Digital material includes born-digital material, information which has been created 

and managed electronically; and digitised material, information which has been 
created in a non-digital form, but which has been subsequently converted to a 
digital form, e.g., through digitisation projects.  

 
3.7 Digital material is selected for preservation by the JAS in accordance with the 

Acquisitions Policy (2020), and corporate retention schedules (for records created 
by local government agencies). This will include material requiring long-term, 
rather than permanent, preservation which is equally at risk from loss, corruption 
and obsolescence during its lifecycle.  

 
3.8 This policy operates in conjunction with other relevant JAS policies. 
 
4 Preservation strategy 
4.1 Digital material selected for permanent preservation will be stored in a managed 

digital preservation environment (digital repository). The management software will 
be provided by a third party, with suitable measures in place to mitigate supplier 
failure and allow full data transfer. 

 
4.2 Electronic material stored on removable media such as CDs, floppy disk and USB 

sticks will be transferred to the digital repository as soon as possible to mitigate the 
risk of permanent loss of content through hardware corruption, degradation and 
damage.  

 
4.3 Creators of digital records will require guidance on the creation and management of 

sustainable digital resources, including the need to use open and standard file 
formats wherever possible. DHC will encourage good records management 
practice and provide advice to the owners of digital records to assist potential 
depositors of digital archives to create and curate records in a form which meets 
requirements for long-term preservation and digital continuity.  
 

4.4 Where long-term, rather than permanent, preservation is required DHC will act as 
custodians of corporate records (BCP Council; Dorset Council) to ensure they 
remain accessible and authentic, with ownership of the records remaining with the 
originator.  
 

4.5 DHC will endeavour to capture and preserve all appropriate metadata required for 
on-going preservation, discovery, access and rights management of digital assets 
from all sources. 
 

4.6 When appropriate, the JAS will use migration to more recent file formats as the 
preferred method of preservation. Migrating to another format involves, in most 
cases, minimal or no loss of content and simplifies access by ensuring that format 
technologies are current at the time of copying. 
 

4.7 Copies of digital files made for preservation purposes shall be authentic and 
traceable to the original via metadata stored with the digital copy. 
 

4.8 Provision for public access to non-restricted digital archives will be delivered online 
and on-site at DHC.  

Page 98

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-centre/dorset-history-centre-pdfs/dorset-history-centre-acquisition-policy.pdf


 
5 Sustainability 
5.1 Long-term preservation of Dorset’s digital archives requires continuing assessment 

of all the relevant resource commitments, including: 

• Technical infrastructure (equipment, software, maintenance and 
development) 

• Staffing  

• Financial (on-going budget commitments). Financial sustainability will be 
monitored by the JAS to track the digital preservation costs and overall 
sustainability of the repository. 

• Administrative oversight (policy reviews and strategies pertaining to digital 
archives held by DHC)  
 

5.2 The JAS will continue to monitor the growth of the digital archive and use this 
information to inform sustainability planning. The potential for income generation 
from digital resources will be investigated.  

 
6 Standards and legislation 
6.1 The JAS intends to adhere to emerging standards and best practice for digital 

preservation. Standards and guidance which inform digital preservation strategies 
and processes developed by DHC include the following:  

• ISO 14721:2012 The OAIS (Open Archival Information System);  

• The Dublin Core Metadata Element Set (ISO Standard 15836);  

• BS 4783 Storage, Transportation and Maintenance of Media for Use in 
Data Processing and Information Storage;  

• Code of Practice for Legal Admissibility and Evidential Weight of 
Information Stored Electronically  
 

6.2 At DHC archives and local studies are stored in high quality accommodation which 
meets fully the British Standard for the storage and exhibition of archival 
documents (BS 4971:2017) 

 
6.3 All data will be managed in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act, Data 

Protection Act and Environmental Information Regulations. 
 
7 Roles and responsibilities 
7.1 Dorset History Centre responsible for ensuring that: 

• Appropriate advice and guidance is given to depositing bodies, including 
staff and councillors within BCP Council, and Dorset Council.  

• Professional standards for digital preservation are met and that compliance 
is regularly reviewed. 

• Records identified for permanent preservation are transferred as 
appropriate to DHC. 

 
7.2 Allied professionals (including information governance, records management and IT) 

within BCP Council, and Dorset Council 
Responsibility for ensuring that: 

• Digital preservation issues are considered and included in relevant 
strategies and projects, including procuring new software or hardware. 

Page 99



• Digital information is managed in such a way that facilitates adherence to 
this policy now and in the future.  

• Where appropriate, strategies are put in place to ensure the regular 
migration of records held solely in digital format. 

• A collaborative approach is adopted to facilitate good management of 
information throughout its life-cycle.  

 
7.3 Senior officers and Cabinet member leads BCP Council, and Dorset Council 

Responsibility for ensuring that: 

• Digital preservation is recognised as a corporate concern within the 
councils and receives the necessary levels of organisational support and 
resources required to ensure effectiveness. 

• Staff are supported in terms of training and development to enable them to 
address digital preservation issues. 

• The corporate digital preservation policy and its associated guidelines are 
implemented within their department/service/section. 

 
7.4 Depositors (including staff within BCP Council, and Dorset Council) 

Responsibility for ensuring that:  

• Digital records are submitted in a suitable condition for acceptance by the 
archive, including all appropriate metadata  

• Advice is sought from DHC at the earliest opportunity regarding digital 
material created for the archive 

 
8 Communication 
8.1 DHC consults and/or liaises with other bodies across Bournemouth, Christchurch, 

Dorset and Poole regarding the acquisition of digital materials in which there may 
be a common interest. It will also consult whenever this policy is revised. 
 

8.2 An annual report of accessions of archives is made to The National Archives. This is 
published online. 

 
9 Review of the Policy 
 
9.1 The policy will be reviewed in consultation with interested organisations, 

stakeholders, and individuals every 3 years to consider any new legislation, 
regulations, guidance, or business practices. The policy will be next reviewed in 
September 2026. 

 
10 Further information or comment 

 
10.1 Copies of this policy are available in large print. 

 
10.2 To comment on this policy or for further information about it, contact the Service 

Manager for Archives and Records at: 
 

Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP 
Tel:   01305 250550 
E-mail:  archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Website:  www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorsethistorycentre 

Page 100

mailto:archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorsethistorycentre


 

  

Page 101



Appendix seven 

 

              
 
 
Service Description 
The Joint Archives Service (JAS), based at Dorset History Centre (DHC) is 
operated on behalf of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council, and 
Dorset Council.  Partnership between the two authorities as delivered through the joint 
service sits at the heart of JAS activities and underwrites the protocols and processes 
by which DHC acquires material.  This is enshrined in the 2022 Inter-Authority on 
Archives which was approved by the Cabinets of both councils. 
 
Local history services (primarily local studies library material) are provided locally at 
Poole History Centre and Bournemouth Library’s Heritage Zone respectively. 
 
DHC is the sole local authority archive within the county with Accredited status as 
conferred by The National Archives.  Local studies library services and the Historic 
Environment Record are operated on behalf of Dorset Council. 
 
Our Vision 
That Dorset History Centre is the physical and virtual hub for the archival and recorded 
heritage of the county of Dorset in both hard copy and digital formats. 
 
Our Mission 
To acquire, preserve and make accessible the archives of the county of Dorset and so 
promote cultural, economic, educational and social well-being. 

 
1 Introduction and Definitions 
1.2 The JAS acquires, preserves and makes accessible archives, records, local 

studies and literary material in any format for use by present and future 
generations.  It makes these collections accessible to visitors as well as providing 
worldwide access online and through a range of off-site activities. 

 
1.3 The JAS has undertaken significant quantities of digitisation activity.  This has 

involved both staff and volunteers.  Over 500,000 digital images of DHC-held 
content appear on ancestry.co.uk providing worldwide access to some of the 
service’s most popular sources. 

Dorset History Centre 

Bridport Road 

Dorchester  

DT1 1RP 

 

 

 

Digitisation 
Policy 
 

September 2023 

Page 102



 
1.4 Digitisation is the creation of digital copies of existing analogue archival or other 

materials, for example by using a scanner or taking a digital photograph of hard 
copy documents, maps etc. or converting cassette tape recordings, audio or 
film to digital versions. The term can also include other activities to ensure the 
quality and utility of the digital files, such as adding metadata and post-
processing. 
 

1.5 Digital preservation refers to the actions required to ensure the continued and 
reliable access to authentic digital records.  Digital records are at risk of being 
lost due to the rapid obsolescence of hardware, software and storage media; 
uncertainties about resources, responsibility and methods for maintenance and 
preservation; and legal barriers to digital preservation activity. Digital 
preservation is integral and fundamental to the Digitisation Policy as it allows us 
to manage digitised content for future use.  

 
2 Aim and Purpose 
2.2 The purpose of this policy is to explain how the JAS will approach the 

digitisation of original archives and local studies publications held at DHC, and 
how the resulting digital resources are managed and made accessible.   The 
policy also provides a mechanism for the JAS to manage its available capacity 
for digitisation and to direct resources to best effect. 

 
2.3 Further procedures, standards, and guidance have been developed to address 

specific aspects of reprographics. 
 

2.4 This policy promotes the JAS as a point of reference for anyone wishing to 
undertake digitisation activity and as a source of advice, guidance and 
expertise across Bournemouth, Christchurch, Dorset and Poole. 

 
3 Scope 
3.2 This policy applies to digitisation of material in the custody of JAS, including 

digitisation conducted both in-house and by a third party.  
 

3.3 This policy is closely connected to and operates alongside the JAS’s service 
planning documentation which is regularly updated. 
 

3.4 This policy operates in conjunction with other relevant JAS policies, including 
the Digital Preservation Policy (2023), Copying Policy (2023), Collections Care 
and Conservation Policy (2023). 

 
4 Principles for digitisation 
Preservation and sustainability 
4.2 The JAS will adopt a pragmatic approach to developing projects in order to 

maximise the use of limited resources. The method and format of digitisation 
will be selected after due consideration of the future sustainability of resources 
generated. 
 

4.3 In developing proposals for new digitisation projects, the full costs of the project 
(including those associated with the long-term preservation of and access to 
digital resources) will be determined and considered on a prioritised basis.  

Page 103



 
4.4 Only the essential amount of conservation/repair will be carried out prior to 

digitisation to enable the items to be safely handled rather than a full repair. 
The original archives will be stored in the environmentally controlled strong 
rooms with conditions optimised for their preservation.  

 
4.5 Digitised material will be subject to retention criteria. Only content meeting 

required quality standards will be selected for permanent preservation. Material 
digitised for public reprographic orders will normally be kept for 3 years.  
 

4.6 The JAS is committed to ensuring the digital resources in its care are managed 
according to digital preservation best practice (see Digital Preservation Policy). 
This includes transferring master copy files to the digital repository 
(Preservica).  
 

4.7 The JAS is committed to addressing the issue of the audio-visual materials 
within its custody that face certain obsolescence in the next 7 years by 
migrating or capturing content in a more sustainable format.  

 
4.8 Where possible, the JAS will develop digitisation projects in partnership with 

other organisations to enable each party to achieve more than they could on 
their own, avoid duplication of effort and share good practice. 
 

4.9 Digitisation activity forms an integral and important element of every 
collections-related project undertaken by the JAS whether or not they are 
externally funded. 
 

Access and users 
4.10 DHC’s on-going digitisation activities will consider community and staff 

suggestions, evaluation and feedback about the digitising programme and the 
means of resource discovery (i.e. catalogues and other finding aids) that we 
provide subject to available resources and capacity. 
 

4.11 Digitisation will capture, preserve and provide contextual information about the 
digitised records to ensure their future discoverability and re-use. 
 

4.12 The JAS aims to provide a seamless search experience across physical, born 
digital and digitised items via the public catalogue. Access to catalogues and 
archives on-site at Dorset History Centre will be provided free of charge. 
 

4.13 In certain situations, access to records may only be provided via a digital 
surrogate, either because of the fragile nature of the document currently, or as 
a preventative measure to ensure repeated handling does not cause any new 
damage to records. 
 

4.14 The JAS will continue to provide copies of archive material to customers for a 
charge, in accordance with copyright legislation. This applies equally to paper 
copies, digital copies and downloaded material online.  
 

Page 104



4.15 The JAS aims to raise awareness and encourage the use of digital resources 
among all stakeholders, current and potential, to maximise the return on 
investment in digitisation.   
 

Standards and good practice 
4.16 Effective business processes, technical standards and guidelines for 

digitisation projects will be developed and integrated into all aspects of service 
operations and plans. 
 

4.17 Copyright will be cleared for works we intend to digitise that fall within 
copyright. Where rights holders cannot be identified our activities will be 
informed by the specific circumstances, and current thinking on Orphan Works. 

 
4.18 Each digitisation project will be managed by DHC service staff who understand 

the project's content and users, with IT suppliers and partners being 
responsible for relevant deliverables. 

 
5 Digitisation Priorities 
5.1 The JAS will select material for digitisation on a priority basis. Priority will be given 

to collections where: 

 They are unique and/or of significance for local, national and 
international history and will help promote Dorset and its heritage 
services 

 There is a significant preservation need or content is at high risk of 
being inaccessible in the future  

 Access to the content will be significantly improved through digitisation 

 The material is eligible for public access (i.e. no sensitive information 
subject to data protection) 

 Material is council owned or out of copyright if it meets other priorities. 

 
5.2 Where multiple collections meet all of the criteria simultaneously those with a 

significant preservation need will be prioritised.  
 
6 Permission to copy 
6.1 Before we can make copies of archive material we are required to ascertain its 

copyright status. Material may only be reproduced in a publication, website or 
exhibition with the written permission of the copyright owner. The investment 
necessary to digitise a collection cannot be justified if the material is not cleared 
for these uses by DHC.  
 

6.2 Previously, deposited private collections have come into the service without 
copyright assignments or licenses. In such circumstances we will act in 
accordance with the current thinking on Orphan Works.  

 
7 Standards and legislation 
7.1 Copyright: Copyright protects literary, dramatic, musical and artistic works as 

well as films, sound recordings, book layouts and broadcasts. Archives are 

Page 105



permitted to make and supply copies to facilitate preservation, and for non-
commercial research and private study.  
 

7.2 Data Protection Act: we are unable to produce copies of sensitive information 
about people that are considered to be potentially still alive; or information that 
has the potential to cause harm to a third party under the Data Protection Act. 
This includes some photographs where individuals may be identified.  The 
investment necessary to digitise a collection cannot be justified if the material is 
not able to be shared by DHC with its users.  

 
7.3 At DHC archives and local studies are stored in high quality accommodation 

which meets fully the British Standard for the storage and exhibition of archival 
documents (BS EN 16893:2018 Conservation of Cultural Heritage).   

 
8 Roles and responsibilities 
8.1 Joint Archives Service: 

 All staff and volunteers have a responsibility to protect and preserve the 
records in their care. After appropriate training all staff are responsible 
for applying the Policy and Digitisation Strategy consistently.  

 The JAS will share advice and knowledge with partners and community 
groups to ensure good practice.  

 
8.2 Depositors/owners 

 Responsible for providing accurate information regarding the copyright 
status of material transferred to the custody of JAS.   

 
9 Review of the Policy 
9.1 The policy will be reviewed in consultation with interested organisations, 

stakeholders and individuals every 3 years to consider any new legislation, 
regulations, guidance, or business practices.  The next review of this policy will 
take place in September 2026. 

 
10 Further information or comment 
10.1 Copies of this policy are available in large print. 

 
10.2 To comment on this policy or for further information about it, contact the 

Service Manager for Archives and Records at: 
 

Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP 
Tel:   01305 250550 
E-mail:  archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Website: https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorset-history-centre  

 

  

Page 106

mailto:archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorset-history-centre


Appendix eight 

              
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Service Description 
The Joint Archives Service (JAS), based at Dorset History Centre (DHC) is operated 
on behalf of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council, and Dorset Council.  
Partnership between the two authorities as delivered through the joint service sits at the 
heart of JAS activities and underwrites the protocols and processes by which DHC 
acquires material.  This is enshrined in the 2022 Inter-Authority on Archives which was 
approved by the Cabinets of both councils. 
 
Local history services (primarily local studies library material) are provided locally at 
Poole History Centre and Bournemouth Library’s Heritage Zone respectively. 
 
DHC is the sole local authority archive within the county with Accredited status as 
conferred by The National Archives.  Local studies library services and the Historic 
Environment Record are operated on behalf of Dorset Council. 
 
Our Vision 
That Dorset History Centre is the physical and virtual hub for the archival and recorded 
heritage of the county of Dorset in both hard copy and digital formats. 
 
Our Mission 
To acquire, preserve and make accessible the archives of the county of Dorset and so 
promote cultural, economic, educational and social well-being. 
 
1. Introduction 
1.1. Learning and public engagement are the processes by which the JAS encourages 

the wider public to understand, use and value the raw materials of history, along 
with access to online resources and the Dorset Local Studies Library. A 
fundamental purpose in collecting archives is to see them widely consulted for 
leisure and official research, finding stories of Dorset’s people and places to help 
interpret the past. 

 
2. Scope 
2.1. This policy should be read in conjunction with other JAS policies, particularly the 

service’s Access Policy and Volunteer Policy. 
 
3. Aim and Purpose 
3.1. The purpose of this policy is to detail the types and range of learning and outreach 

offered by the JAS. 

Dorset History Centre 

Bridport Road 

Dorchester  

DT1 1RP 

 

 

 

Learning and 

Public Engagement 

Policy 
September 2023 

 

Page 107



 
3.2. Through its Learning and Public Engagement Policy the JAS aims to: 

• Encourage new and non-traditional audiences to engage with archives. 

• Encourage the appreciation and use of archives and local studies by groups 
and individuals (outside formal education) as aids to learning, leisure, 
community cohesion and wellbeing. 

• Liaise with community-based heritage projects and initiatives, facilitating 
positive collaboration and learning and ensuring that archive and local 
studies content and heritage sector skills are understood and built in to 
plans.  

• To provide high quality learning opportunities based on the JAS collections 
to learners of all ages and a wide range of abilities via educational and 
social care providers.  

• To liaise with colleagues in related sectors (museums, libraries, arts, adult 
learning, higher education, and social care) building partnerships and joint 
commissioning opportunities. 

• To promote the JAS and its collections through outreach and attendance at 
events for local groups and organisations. 

• Develop and maintain offers to volunteers, volunteers with additional 
support requirements and students on work experience placements which 
enable and encourage learning, new skills, and experience. 

 
4. Equality and Diversity 
4.1. The JAS completed an Equalities Impact Assessment in 2023 which has been 

published online. 
 
4.2. The DHC building is broadly compliant with the Equalities Act, 2010.  It has level 

access for the public from the car park at the rear with disabled parking spaces, 
wide level access doorways including bi-fold automatic doors at the main entrance. 
Audio loop systems at the reception desks and in the Lecture Room. An accessible 
toilet.  For members of staff there is ramped access to the staff entrance and a lift 
to the first floor.  DHC staff work individually with customers, visual enhancement 
tools are available and an accessible computer station. Alternative formats can be 
supplied where possible. DHC staff receive training to help them work with 
customers affected by less visible disabilities such as Dementia and Autism. 

 
4.3. The JAS is firmly committed to the principles of equality and diversity for learning 

and public engagement opportunities. We actively seek engagement with 
marginalised and minority communities.  

 
5. Principles of Learning and Public Engagement 
5.1. The JAS will: 

• We will work in partnerships, within the heritage, education and social care 
sectors, to increase the reach, capacity and skills of all organisations 
involved.   

• Identify sustainable opportunities to enable marginalised communities to 
engage with their Dorset cultural heritage and to enhance and diversify the 
JAS collections at DHC. 

• Ensure that all staff who come into contact with the public are well-informed 
and confident in working with a range of audiences.  

Page 108



• Promote the use of Dorset’s cultural heritage and rich JAS collections both 
digitally and in physical format.  

• Facilitate access for all and deliver outcomes in line with the corporate 
priorities of our funders. 

• Provide opportunities for self-directed learning for all visitors and enquirers 
to DHC creating an informative and welcoming environment that 
encourages learning and research on-site at DHC. 

• Ensure that we actively promote Equality and Diversity best practice and 
regularly review the Joint Archives Service’s Equality Impact Assessment. 

• Work with colleagues and partners, both across the three authorities and 
externally, to share good practice and offer learning and outreach in new 
venues and to new audiences. 

• Evaluate our work and that of partnership projects to ensure that we meet 
targets and deliver quality outcomes. 

• Make effective use of staff and customer feedback to improve our service 
delivery. 

 
6. Delivery 
6.1. To support the delivery of learning, and public engagement, the JAS will: 

• Support and train JAS staff to ensure that learning and outreach in their 
many forms are at the centre of what we do.  

• Ensure that all JAS based projects incorporate significant elements of 
learning and engagement. 

• Improve the virtual learning environment by increasing the quantity of digital 
data, both catalogue descriptions and curated content as appropriate, with 
awareness of climate-related consequences and within the JAS’s capacity.  

• Develop educational, training and activity opportunities in response to 
requests to support and advise projects of partner organisations. 

• Work collaboratively within the heritage sector, and with Dorset Council and 
BCP to contribute to the Corporate Priorities for well-being and social 
connection.  

• Encourage and support community groups to engage with collections and 
bid for grant aid to deliver projects with positive outcomes, including 
enhancing the JAS collections with diverse accessions.  

• Within the capacity of the JAS, engage with schools, colleges, adult learning 
services, community learning groups and universities to encourage access 
to the collections held at DHC. 

• Provide a variety of well-supported and meaningful volunteer roles both 
onsite at DHC and remotely.  

• Communicate our learning and public engagement services and 
opportunities as widely as possible, including through social and traditional 
media. 

• Deliver high quality training in heritage skills. 
 
6.2. Since public engagement and learning are central to the purpose of the JAS, all staff 

participate in promotional and learning activities.  This takes various forms as 
follows: 

• Formal Learning- short programmes of study with clearly defined 
learning objectives and outcomes for adults or children. 

Page 109



• Informal learning when learning happens because of some other task or 
activity where learning is not a primary element of the activity. For 
example, through volunteering or accessing information at the Dorset 
History Centre. 

• Outreach the process by which the JAS promotes its services and 
activities to both new and existing audiences through exhibitions, talks, 
workshops and attendance at community events. 

• Community engagement involves supporting and advising groups who 
are delivering projects as well as developing innovative and inspiring 
approaches enabling a wide range of people to interact with and 
contribute to Dorset’s archives. 

• Social media through the use of Twitter (@DorsetArchives) and other 
Web 2.0 tools (such as blogs, file-sharing websites or other Dorset 
Council Social media accounts) used in accordance with Dorset Council’s 
Social Media Acceptable Use Policy. 

• Onsite and online public access to the online catalogue of DHC’s 
archive collections.   Onsite access to documents, online resources, 
Dorset Local Studies Reference Library and individual assistance with 
enquiries, in person, by telephone and by email. See also DHC Access 
Policy.  

 
7. Review of the Policy 
7.1. The policy will be reviewed in consultation with interested organisations, 

stakeholders and individuals every 3 years to take into account any new legislation, 
regulations, guidance, or business practices.  The next review of this policy will take 
place in September 2026. 

 
8. Further information or comment 
8.1. Copies of this policy are available in large print. 
 
8.2. To comment on this policy or for further information about it, contact the Service 

Manager for Archives and Records at: 
Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP 

 
Tel:  01305 250550 
E-mail: archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Website: https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-
centre 
 

  

Page 110

https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/footer/dorset-councils-social-media-acceptable-use-policy.aspx
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/footer/dorset-councils-social-media-acceptable-use-policy.aspx
mailto:archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-centre
https://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/libraries-history-culture/dorset-history-centre


Appendix nine 
 
              
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Service Description 
The Joint Archives Service (JAS), based at Dorset History Centre (DHC) is 
operated on behalf of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council, and 
Dorset Council.  Partnership between the two authorities as delivered through the 
joint service sits at the heart of JAS activities and underwrites the protocols and 
processes by which DHC acquires material.  This is enshrined in the 2022 Inter-
Authority on Archives which was approved by the Cabinets of both councils. 
 
Local history services (primarily local studies library material) are provided locally 
at Poole History Centre and Bournemouth Library’s Heritage Zone 
respectively. 
 
DHC is the sole local authority archive within the county with Accredited status as 
conferred by The National Archives.  Local studies library services and the Historic 
Environment Record are operated on behalf of Dorset Council. 
 
Our Vision 
That Dorset History Centre is the physical and virtual hub for the archival and 
recorded heritage of the county of Dorset in both hard copy and digital formats. 
 
Our Mission 
To acquire, preserve and make accessible the archives of the county of Dorset 
and so promote cultural, economic, educational and social well-being. 
 
Vision and Mission 
DHC is the physical and virtual hub for the archival heritage of Bournemouth, 
Dorset and Poole in both hard copy and digital formats.  The JAS acquires, 
preserves and makes accessible the archives of Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole 
and so promote cultural, economic, educational and social well-being. 
 

1. Introduction 

Dorset History Centre 

Bridport Road 

Dorchester  

DT1 1RP 

 

 

 

Preservation 

Policy 
 

 

 

September 2023 

 

Page 111



1.1Archives are the records created by people and organisations over the 
centuries in the course of their life and work that form the raw material of the 
history. These documents are unique and irreplaceable and as original record 
provide valuable primary historical evidence and often have a legal evidential 
standing.   
 
1.2Several million documents dating from the 10th century to the present day are 
stored at DHC in secure environmentally controlled strongrooms for their long-term 
preservation.  
 
2 Aim and Purpose 
2.1The purpose of this policy is to provide a framework for preserving collections 
within the custody of the JAS for future generations.  It gives direction to staff 
carrying out their responsibilities regarding the preservation function and provides 
public information on the principles which guide preservation in the Dorset History 
Centre. 
 
3 Scope 
3.1Preservation is the retention and maintenance of material over time through 
appropriate, packaging and storage in environmentally monitored and controlled 
conditions. 
 
3.2Conservation is the use of interventive remedial treatment and non-interventive 
preventive measures to arrest the deterioration of an item and facilitate the 
physical preservation and accessibility of an item or collection. 
 
3.3 The preservation of digital materials is addressed in the Digital Preservation 

Policy. 
 
3.4 This policy operates in conjunction with other relevant JAS policies, including 

the Acquisitions Policy and Collections Care and Conservation Policy and the 
Terms of Deposit.  

 
4 Preservation Strategy 
4.1 The Dorset History Centre: 

• Aims to ensure the long-term preservation and availability of the records in 
its care for present and future generations.  This will be undertaken in as 
environmentally-efficient way with the least mechanical intervention, and 
energy possible. 

• Recognises that preservation is integral to all archive activities from 
acquisition through to access and that every staff member has a part to 
play. 

• Values all types of records according to their long term historical worth 
rather than as a result of the nature of their media. 

Page 112



• Undertakes conservation treatment with the intention of protecting and 
preserving the item to ensure the maximum evidential value but with the 
minimum impact on the authenticity of the record 

• Will make original material accessible where possible.  Where there is high 
demand for an item, it is badly degraded or extremely fragile the JAS will 
endeavour to make a digital surrogate of the item to protect the original item 
from further damage. 

 
5 Condition of newly acquired archives 
5.1 The condition of archives when deposited at the DHC is determined by three 

factors: 

• The materials from which the records are made e.g. composition of paper, 
inks, photographs etc. 

• How they have been handled by previous users including repair with self-
adhesive tapes. 

• How they have been stored before they came into the custody of DHC e.g. 
somewhere damp or in direct sunlight. 

 
6 Processing of newly deposited archives 
6.1 Items arriving in the DHC are examined for damp, mould and insect infestation 

in a specially designated reception area where appropriate action is taken. 
DHC has cleaning and drying facilities for this treatment to be carried out.  The 
items are then boxed in acid free archival standard boxes and, if required 
appropriate archival packaging is used to protect the items inside the boxes or 
where there is outsize material.  

 
6.2 A high proportion of the records held by DHC are boxed for storage and, in 

addition, many records have individual packaging, using archival standard 
materials. Volunteers are assisting in stocktaking and repackaging collections 
and externally funded projects enable repackaging to be carried out on a 
project basis and during cataloguing.  

 
7 Storage and Security 
7.1 The DHC repositories are specially designed to maintain relative humidity and 

temperature levels consistent with the long-term preservation of archival 
materials and are secured through an electronic access system. The storage 
environment is regularly monitored to ensure it continues to meet the required 
standards as specified in BS EN 16893:2018 Conservation of Cultural Heritage, 
and BS 4971:2017 Conservation and care of archive and library collections.  

 
7.2 The repositories are regularly cleaned and a pest management programme is 

in operation to minimise the risk of damage to the collection from pests. 
 
7.3 The staff entrance and access to office areas (not open to the public) are 

controlled by the electronic access system.   
 

Page 113



8 Document handling and access 
8.1 Staff and volunteers are trained as required on the correct handling of archival 

collections. Training of staff includes guidance on retrieving and replacing 
documents in the repositories, moving them through the building, and handling 
them during use. Volunteers receive training on document handling and the 
principals of archival repackaging.  

 
8.2 Customers access documents only under supervision in the search room. 

Invigilating staff are trained to ensure collections care procedures are followed 
and are available to give specific advice on handling when required. 
Appropriate book support, pillows, snakes, and weights are available to ensure 
safe handling of archives. Customers may be required to consult surrogates to 
avoid damage to original documents.  

 
8.3 Documents may be withdrawn from public access if it is judged handling will 

have a serious effect on their condition or pose a risk to their long-term 
preservation. 

 
9 Surrogate access 
9.1 Photocopying of secondary sources and original documents is permitted only 

by the staff for the public within specific guidelines. Public self-service copying 
is permitted only by camera.  

 
9.2 A digital overhead camera is used for the majority of internal and external 

reprographic requests, and to carry out digitisation programmes in line with the 
JAS’s digitisation strategy. The digital camera permits safe digitisation of 
volumes and flat formats and can only be operated by trained JAS staff. 
Scanning projects to digitise photographic collections may be carried out by 
trained volunteers.  

 
9.3 Suitability for reprography is dependent upon a document’s physical and legal 

status. A document will not be copied if there is a risk to its long-term 
preservation. 

 
9.4 Digital imaging standards are being developed; including systematic archiving 

and retrieval systems to prevent duplication of work and avoid loss of data. It 
is our policy to preserve digital copies of documents with individual references, 
and all maps, plans, photographs and whole books; but not individual pages of 
books, single sheets from large bundles without individual sub-numbers or 
items imaged in black and white. 

 
10 Exhibition and loans 
10.1 Exhibition and loan of original documents must be approved by the Service 

Manager and the Archive Conservation Officer and will only be permitted if the 
borrower can meet the JAS’s conditions for loans, which include commitments 
to environmental and security conditions. The JAS reserves the tight to 

Page 114



undertake a site visit. The use of facsimiles for in-house and external displays 
is encouraged.  

 
10.2 Temporary removal of documents is recorded on withdrawal and return, 

and, where applicable, loaned only with the permission of the depositor. 
 
10.3 Prior to external loans, condition assessments are undertaken which are 

used to compare and re- assess when documents return from loan. Borrowers 
are required to fund any conservation required.  

 
10.4 Depositors occasionally request temporary withdrawal of documents held 

on their behalf. We will provide professional advice regarding the risk of doing 
so and will assist in taking any measures to mitigate these risk.  

 
11 Emergency Planning 
11.1 The JAS mitigates the risk of damage and loss to its collections as far as 

possible. Disaster recovery and salvage plans are in place and will continue to 
be reviewed to ensure any damage is limited in the event of a disaster or 
emergency. Salvage equipment and materials are regularly checked and 
reviewed.  

  
11.2 Additional support for emergency salvage is available from Harwell 

Restoration.  
 
12 Standards and legislation 
12.1 The JAS adheres to standards and best practice for preservation. 

Standards and guidance which inform preservation strategies and processes 
developed by DHC include PD 5454: 2012 Guide for the storage and exhibition 
of archival materials, BS 4971:2017 Conservation and care of archive and 
library collections, and EN 16893 2018 - Archive Buildings Preservation 
Standard.  

 
12.2 All information will be managed in accordance with the Freedom of 

Information Act, Data Protection Act and Environmental Information 
Regulations. 

 
13 Roles and responsibilities 
13.1 All members of JAS staff and volunteers have a responsibility to protect and 

preserve the records in their care.  All JAS staff are responsible for their 
handling of the collections and for supervising the handling of collections by 
customers at DHC.  In addition, all staff should raise any concerns regarding 
the condition of individual items or collections with the Collections Care team 
and input information into the archive management system, as required. 

 
13.2 Guidance is provided for the public by members of staff, and the staff 

monitor use of documents in the search rooms, providing assistance when 

Page 115



necessary. Basic rules are in place enforced by JAS staff regarding use of 
pencils only and a restriction on eating and drinking in areas where original 
records are accessed.  

 
14 Communication 
14.1 All staff members actively promote preservation at all times by making 

customers aware of the need to care for documents in talks and other outreach 
activities. 

 
14.2 Staff communicate the importance of appropriate document handling in the 

search rooms and maintain supervision of the use of the documents and 
demonstrate this by example in their own work. 

 
15 Review of the Policy 
15.1 The policy will be reviewed in consultation with interested organisations, 

stakeholders and individuals every 3 years to take into account any new 
legislation, regulations, guidance, or business practices.  The policy will be 
reviewed in September 2026. 

 
16 Further information or comment 
16.1 Copies of this policy are available in large print. 
 
16.2 To comment on this policy or for further information about it, contact the 

Service Manager for Archives and Records at: 
 
Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP 
Tel:   01305 250550 
E-mail: archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Website: www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorsethistorycentre   
  

Page 116

mailto:archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorsethistorycentre


Appendix ten 
 

    
 
Service Description 
The Joint Archives Service (JAS), based at Dorset History Centre (DHC) is 
operated on behalf of Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP) Council, and 
Dorset Council.  Partnership between the two authorities as delivered through the 
joint service sits at the heart of JAS activities and underwrites the protocols and 
processes by which DHC acquires material.  This is enshrined in the 2022 Inter-
Authority on Archives which was approved by the Cabinets of both councils. 
 
Local history services (primarily local studies library material) are provided locally 
at Poole History Centre and Bournemouth Library’s Heritage Zone 
respectively. 
 
DHC is the sole local authority archive within the county with Accredited status as 
conferred by The National Archives.  Local studies library services and the Historic 
Environment Record are operated on behalf of Dorset Council. 
 
Our Vision 
That Dorset History Centre is the physical and virtual hub for the archival and 
recorded heritage of the county of Dorset in both hard copy and digital formats. 
 
Our Mission 
To acquire, preserve and make accessible the archives of the county of Dorset 
and so promote cultural, economic, educational and social well-being. 
 
1. Introduction  
 
1.1. A volunteer is anyone who, without compensation, or expectation of 

compensation beyond reimbursement of expenses incurred in the course of 
volunteer duties, performs a task at the direction of and on behalf of the JAS. 
This includes H.E. students undertaking work experience placements. 

Dorset History Centre 
Bridport Road 

Dorchester  
DT1 1RP  

 

Volunteer  
Policy 
 

September 2023 

Page 117



1.2. The JAS has hosted volunteers for many years in a number of different roles. 
They have added huge value to the service and contributed to the success of 
the outcomes it seeks to achieve. They enable us to do work that would not 
otherwise be possible, and often contribute specialist skills and knowledge.  

 
1.3. The JAS recognises the value of volunteering and aspires to widen the range 

of activities undertaken by volunteers. Supervision of volunteers, along with 
capitalising on their outputs, requires significant staff time and capacity and is 
not a ‘free’ resource. The JAS recognises its responsibility to increase diversity 
in the volunteering cohort and works to widen participation and to monitor 
progress. 

 
1.4. Volunteer opportunities are offered to support JAS’s core work or to work on 

specific time-limited externally funded projects.  
 

 
1.5. In so far as the JAS benefits from the time, skills, experience and enthusiasm 

of volunteers, we believe that volunteers should gain personal or employment 
related benefits from the experience. We are committed to managing 
volunteers in a way that ensures that the needs of both parties are met.  

 
1.6. Volunteering encourages social interaction, reduces isolation and promotes 

community cohesion. It also supports the learning of new skills and provides a 
real ‘hands on’ opportunity for people to interact with their heritage. In order to 
support the related corporate priorities of the two funding councils, the JAS will 
ensure that potential volunteers with additional needs receive appropriate 
assistance in order to take up opportunities with the JAS.  

 
1.7. The Service Manager for Archives and Records is responsible for the overall 

management of volunteer involvement, including overseeing the 
implementation of this policy and dealing with any complaint or dispute relating 
to volunteer activity not resolved by the relevant volunteer supervisor. The 
volunteers’ designated supervisors provide project briefs, support and 
supervision; maintain records; identify training requirements and countersign 
expense claims. All staff required to undertake such duties are provided with 
training in the management, supervision, support and training of volunteers. 

 

 
2. Aim and Purpose of Volunteer Policy  

 
2.1 The Service is committed to managing volunteers according to current best 

practice and aims to provide a satisfying and supportive environment for our 
volunteers. This policy outlines the nature of the partnership relationship that 
we have with our volunteers.  

 
3. Scope  

Page 118



3.1. This policy applies to all volunteers who work for the JAS, recruited and 
supervised by JAS staff whether volunteering onsite, remotely or in the 
community.  

 
3.2. This policy operates in conjunction with the Dorset History Centre Access 

Policy (2023) and in line with the Equalities Impact Assessment and other 
relevant JAS policies.  

 
4. The relationship between the Joint Archives Service and volunteers  
4.1 The relationship of a volunteer to the JAS is one of trust, mutual understanding 
and benefit; it is a ‘gift’ relationship, with time given freely and willingly without 
expectation of financial reward by the volunteer. Neither we nor the volunteer 
regard the relationship as a contract of employment.  
 
4.2 No enforceable obligation, contractual or otherwise, can be imposed on the 
volunteer to attend, give or be set a minimum amount of time or to carry out the 
tasks provided. Likewise, the JAS cannot be compelled to provide regular tasks or 
opportunities.  
 
4.3 The relationship is based on the principle that volunteers add value to our work 

by performing a wide range of roles.  
 
4.4 Although volunteers offer time freely and without binding obligation, there is a 

presumption of mutual support and reliability.   
 

 
4.5 The JAS recognises volunteers as a core part of our team, with a distinctive but 

complementary role alongside paid staff. The maintenance of professional 
standards for work undertaken remains the responsibility of paid staff.  
 

5.Principles for volunteer management  
5.1 This policy sets out the broad principles of volunteering with JAS and forms the 
foundation for good-practice volunteer management across the organisation. 
Fundamentally:  
 
• We will always aim for fair and equal treatment for all volunteers. 
• We aim to match volunteers with suitable projects so that we gain from the 
activities of the volunteers and the volunteers gain from volunteering with us. 
• Each volunteer (or volunteer group) will be appointed a volunteer supervisor to 
guide and advise them in their tasks. 
• The volunteer supervisor will be responsible for providing the necessary 
induction, training, and ongoing development, so that volunteers can be effective 
in their role. In return, we expect that volunteers will provide their time and help us 
to keep our projects on track. 
 

Page 119



5.2 Volunteers will not be used in times of industrial action to do the work of paid 
staff. They may continue with their regular tasks subject to any staff being available 
for supervision but will not be asked to undertake additional duties.  
 
5.3 This policy is relevant for all current and potential volunteers, as well as every 
member of staff concerned with selecting, supporting, developing volunteers, 
managing volunteer projects or promoting voluntary activity within the JAS.  
 
6. Selection of volunteers  
6.1 The JAS will pursue a fair and consistent process for selecting volunteers.  
 
6.2 DHC’s communications about volunteering will use language that is easily 
understood, using various methods to attract a diverse range of applicants.  
 
6.3 The JAS will select volunteers according to project needs and aim to match 
volunteers’ skills, knowledge, experience, motivation and availability to suitable 
projects. Supervising staff will also discuss individual volunteer requirements to 
ensure that volunteers feel adequately supported in their role.  
 
6.4 Anyone being considered for a volunteer role will be invited for an informal 
interview with the project supervisor, with the aim of setting up teams that are best 
suited for the project.  
 
6.5 We will ensure that all potential volunteers have a clear understanding of any 
available roles to support them in selecting an appropriate placement. For 
individual volunteers, this will be in the form of a concise role description prepared 
by the volunteer supervisor within a recommended format and placed on our 
website and social media as well as with the local Volunteer Centre.  
 
6.6 The DHC building is broadly compliant with the Equalities Act, 2010.  It has 
wide level access doorways including through automatic doors at the main 
entrance, and audio loop systems at reception desks and in the Lecture Room, an 
accessible toilet and a lift to the first floor.    
 
6.7 Reasonable adjustments may be made to the selection methods to suit the 
access requirements of applicants with disabilities.   
 
7. Equality and Diversity  
7.1 The JAS recognises the importance of encouraging diversity and achieving 
equality among volunteers, as well as employees and users. Volunteers are 
actively encouraged from a wide cross-section of backgrounds and experiences to 
help ensure that volunteering projects are accessible to an increasingly diverse 
range of people.  
 

Page 120



7.2 The JAS values and respects individuals by adapting projects and levels of 
support to provide equality of opportunity for active involvement within the scope 
of the organisation’s needs and resources.  
 
7.3 All staff, volunteers, contractors and partner organisations are expected to 
actively support the JAS’s commitment to diversity and equality.  
 
7.4 Acceptance of volunteer assistance for a particular role will be made on merit, 
the sole consideration being an individual’s suitability to carry out the specified 
task(s) subject to the needs and restrictions of the location, along with their 
availability in line with the needs of the project. Adjustments will be considered for 
a volunteer with a disability or who faces additional challenges in contributing to 
our work.  
 
7.5 The JAS welcomes volunteers aged 18 and over.   
 
7.6 The JAS has no upper age limit for volunteers, recognising the contribution 
made by older volunteers in terms of valuable knowledge and experience.  
 
7.7 Volunteers cannot continue in a role where volunteering is detrimental to their 
own or other people’s health and safety.  
 
7.8 The JAS will collect data to monitor progress towards a more diverse volunteer 
cohort. 
 
8. Recruitment  
8.1 The JAS will recruit volunteers for specific roles when it has vacancies for those 
roles. Volunteers may be required to support the ‘core’ functions of the JAS – i.e., 
on-going tasks such as cataloguing and preservation activities, or they may be 
recruited for a specific project (often externally funded) which will have a 
completion date.  
 
8.2 Volunteering tasks will be regularly reviewed and may cease or be altered.  
 
8.3 Role descriptions, role skill requirements and task outlines will be created and 
vacancies for each role will be advertised.  
 
8.4 Potential volunteers will be asked to apply for the vacant roles and suitable 
candidates will be invited for an informal visit to the building to discuss the role, or 
may meet with the project’s supervisor online. 
 
8.5 Where there are several applicants for a role it will be necessary to assess the 
skills of the applicants against the criteria to provide the role to the most suitable 
applicant. The other applicants will be informed, and their names will be retained 
for 6 months (with their permission) in the event that other suitable roles become 
available. 

Page 121



 
8.6 In appropriate circumstances, volunteers will be asked to complete a 

Disclosure and Barring Service check. The outcome of the check will be shared 
with the potential volunteer’s supervisor, and any risks associated with their 
service will be evaluated.  
 

9. Induction, training and development  
9.1 New volunteers will be made to feel welcome and will be provided with an 
informal induction. As part of their induction to the Dorset History Centre, 
volunteers will receive a copy of the volunteer handbook, containing essential 
information for all volunteers, together with adequate and appropriate facilities, 
equipment and resources relevant to the specific role, location or group.  
 
9.2 Volunteers will be required to sign a volunteer agreement which defines the 
expectations on both parties; this is not a contract of employment.  
 
9.3 Volunteers will be supported in their activities. Appropriate training and 
equipment will be provided to enable them to complete a particular task. The JAS 
will communicate clearly with volunteers in relation to both scheduled and flexible 
activities. Volunteers are expected to inform their supervisor if they are unable to 
attend a session.  
 
9.4 New volunteers will be given time to settle in. This will allow them to learn about 
the organisation, their project and their role, as well as giving their volunteer 
supervisor the opportunity to assess how their involvement is contributing to our 
goals. At the end of a mutually suitable settling-in period, an informal discussion 
will be held between the volunteer and volunteer supervisor to record positive 
experiences, as well as discuss any areas of concern.  
 
9.5 Volunteers will be asked to attend training as and when appropriate.  
 
9.6 A volunteer may act as a team leader under the supervision of the project 
supervisor providing this is properly specified and it has been established that the 
volunteer has the necessary skills or potential.  
 
10. Support and supervision  
10.1 JAS respects volunteers by both listening to and learning from what they have 
to say, supporting a two-way dialogue between staff and volunteers.  
 
10.2 Volunteer supervisors are encouraged to discuss progress with their 
volunteers on a regular basis. This provides an opportunity to:  

• monitor their contribution 
• establish whether the volunteer would like to change their current 
contribution 
• ensure that they feel valued and satisfied with their volunteering. 

Page 122



We may also ask volunteers to complete an anonymous survey from time 
to time.  

 
10.3 Volunteers will have a written role description relevant to their task.  
 

10.4 The JAS recognises the role that volunteers fulfil at every level of the 
organisation. It endeavours to communicate with volunteers in appropriate 
ways, including email, telephone calls and online meetings.  

 

 
10.5 The JAS will listen positively to ideas and suggestions from volunteers about 

how their tasks may be better accomplished, and all such feedback will be 
given consideration.  

 
10.6 Volunteers are free to end their involvement at any time. Wherever possible, 

an end date should be agreed between volunteer and volunteer supervisor. 
Supervisors are encouraged to hold an exit interview to find out why a 
volunteer is leaving, share any learning points and establish whether the 
volunteer may want to be involved again in the future. Volunteers can request 
a written reference concerning their performance.  

 
10.7 Volunteers will be consulted regarding any decisions that would substantially 

affect the performance of their duties.  
 

11 Health and Safety  
11.1 The wellbeing of volunteers is of paramount importance. We are committed 
to ensuring the health, safety and welfare of our volunteers. We want to make sure 
that volunteers are aware of and understand the health and safety risks associated 
with their role. We aim to provide volunteers with the appropriate information, 
instruction, supervision and training required to provide a safe environment while 
volunteering with JAS.  
 
11.2 The policy of the JAS is to provide and maintain a safe and healthy 
environment for its volunteers and to supply appropriate, equipment and systems 
to assist with tasks. The JAS undertakes risk assessments as appropriate.  
11.3 All personnel at DHC, including volunteers, wear identity badges. Volunteers 
will not undertake activities in the strongroom areas of DHC due to the confidential 
nature of some of the information kept there. Archives will always be produced 
from the repositories for the use of volunteers.  
 
11.4 Any volunteers who undertake tasks alone and offsite will be expected to 
comply with DC’s Lone Worker Policy.  
 
12 Expenses  

Page 123



12.1 The JAS has a limited budget to fund expenses for volunteers coming to DHC. 
We recognise that this widens the pool of potential volunteers and removes 
barriers for those on low incomes. 
 
12.2 Free parking is available on-site within DHC’s pay and display car park and 
refreshments are offered to volunteers whilst volunteering when this can be done 
safely.  
 
12.3 If volunteers are asked and are willing to undertake work for the JAS away 
from DHC, then travel expenses will be reimbursed (ticket or mileage) upon the 
presentation of appropriate receipts.  
 
12.4 We will reimburse travel costs to DHC for a volunteering session up to a cap 
of £15 per visit and whilst DHC’s expenses budget is adequate. 
 
12.5 Expenses claims are submitted on a standard DC Non-Employee’s Expenses 
Claim Form and accompanied by proof of expenditure. Volunteer supervisors are 
responsible for arranging expenses payments. 
 
13 Insurance  
13.1 All volunteers engaged in JAS activities are indemnified under Dorset History 
Centre public liability insurance. However, drivers using their cars in connection 
with their voluntary work must inform their own insurance company to ensure 
adequate and continued cover.  
 
13.2 We will ensure that volunteers are covered for insurance purposes in respect 
of personal injury. The insurance will not cover unauthorised actions or actions 
outside the volunteering agreement.  
 
14. Confidentiality, copyright and data protection   
14.1 Volunteers must maintain the confidentiality of all proprietary or privileged 
information pertaining to the JAS, whether this pertains to a member of staff, 
another volunteer, a person named in restricted records or any other person 
involved in the business activities of the JAS. They are expected to maintain this 
confidentiality after ceasing to act as a volunteer. Volunteers will be asked to sign 
a data handling agreement.  
 
14.2 Volunteers will assign any original copyright works they may produce while 
volunteering to The Dorset History Centre and will be asked to sign a copyright 
agreement where necessary.  
 
14.3 Personal information recorded about volunteers will be stored and maintained 
with appropriate safeguards for confidentiality and in accordance with the Data 
Protection Act will not be disclosed to any unauthorised person.  
 
15 Resolving problems  

Page 124



15.1 The JAS aims to treat all volunteers fairly, objectively and consistently. 
Volunteer supervisors are responsible for handling any problems regarding 
volunteer conduct or complaints and the JAS actively supports volunteer 
supervisors by providing relevant training. They will seek to ensure that volunteers’ 
views are heard, noted and acted upon when appropriate, and will aim for positive 
and amicable solutions. The volunteer’s supervisor will deal with minor complaints 
about or by volunteers or their contribution through the usual support and 
supervision procedures. However, we recognise our duty to protect the wellbeing 
and interests of all our stakeholders and therefore operate a formal complaints 
procedure in the case of more serious issues. In the case of particularly serious 
complaints, this process may be bypassed and /or the subject of the complaint 
asked to leave. Where a criminal offence is suspected, the matter will be handed 
over to the police.  
 
15.2 If a problem cannot be resolved by the volunteer supervisor, the County 
Archivist will make any decisions as appropriate.  
 
16. Review of the Policy  
16.1 The policy will be reviewed in consultation with interested organisations, 
stakeholders and individuals every 3 years.  It will next be reviewed in September 
2026 
 
17.  Further information or comment 
 
17.1 Copies of this policy are available in large print. 
 
17.2 To comment on this policy or for further information about it, contact the 
Service Manager for Archives and records at: 
 
Dorset History Centre, Bridport Road, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1RP 
Tel:   01305 250550 
E-mail: archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk 
Website: www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorsethistorycentre  
 
 
 

Page 125

mailto:archives@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk
http://www.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/dorsethistorycentre


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	7 Joint Archives Service: Budget Monitoring and Budget 2024/25 Report
	8 Capital Project Update
	9 Joint Archives Service Development Plan (2021-26) Monitoring Report
	10 Joint Archives Service: Review of Fees and Charges
	11 Joint Archives Service: Review of Policies

